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UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

[X] ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2003

or
[ ] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number 000-28275

PFSWEB, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its cbgrt

Delaware 75-283705¢
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)
500 North Central Expressway, Plano, Texas 75074
(Address of principal executive office (Zip code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code:
972-881-2900

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dfie Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢e Act:
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share

Indicate by a check mark whether the registfanhas filed all reports required to be filed ®gction 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 mofah$or such shorter period that the registrans wemjuired to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to such filing requirementshe past 90 days. Yes [X] No []

Indicate by a check mark whether the registisian accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12if-the Act). Yes [] No [X]

Indicate by a check mark if disclosure of delient filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulatio &-not contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgaléfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. Yes [X] No

The aggregate market value of the voting stall by non-affiliates of the registrant as of d@@, 2003 (based on the closing price as
reported by the National Association of Securifbeslers Automated Quotation System) was $11,794,477

As of February 28, 2004, there were 21,1883fdres of the registrant's Common Stock, $.00vakre, outstanding, excluding 86,300
shares of common stock in treasury.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The information required by Part Ill of this:wAual Report, to the extent not set forth hereiimcorporated herein by reference from the
registrant’s definitive proxy statement relatinghie annual meeting of stockholders to be heldiire 2004, which definitive proxy statement
shall be filed with the Securities and Exchange @wssion within 120 days after the end of the figer to which this Annual Report rela
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PART |
Item 1. Business
General

PFSweb is a leading provider of outsourcingises. These services include web-site developraeathosting, order management, calll
center, product kitting and assembly, order fulféint, warehousing, credit and collections, techyykmnlutions and more. Collectively we
define this group of services as Business ProcessoOrcing because we offer our clients infrastiweeand technology capabilities that can
address an entire business transaction cycle, demmand generation to product delivery.

PFSweb serves as the “brand behind the brfandtbmpanies seeking to increase their supplyrcaticiencies. As a business process
outsourcer, we offer scalable and cost-effectivaetmms for manufacturers, distributors, retailarsl direct marketing organizations. We
provide our clients with seamless and transparmatisns to support their business strategieswatig them to focus on their core
competencies while we provide cost effective cdjias for areas of their business that are not @mmpetencies. Leveraging PFSweb’s
technology, expertise and proven methodology, vablenclient organizations to develop and deploy pavducts quickly and implement n
business strategies or address new distributionreia rapidly and efficiently through our optimizealutions. Our clients engage us both
consulting partner to assist them in the desiga lofisiness solution as well as a virtual and playsifrastructure partner providing the
mission critical operations required to build andnage that business solution. Together, we notlwlly our clients define new ways of
doing business, but also provide them the techiyadogl physical infrastructure necessary to quigkiglement this new business model. We
allow our clients to quickly and dramatically chartgpw they ‘go-to-market.’

Each client has a unique business model aigierstrategic objectives that require highly cosied solutions. Clients in a wide array of
industries, from computer products to cosmetiosotasumer goods to collectibles, turn to PFSwelhédp in addressing a variety of business
issues, such as customer satisfaction, productipadity requirements, vendor integration, suppbirticompression, cost realignment,
international & domestic transportation managena@at international expansion, among others. Weadsas a constructive agent of change,
providing clients the ability to alter their curtedistribution model, establish direct relationshipith end-customers, and reduce the overall
time and costs associated with existing distributtbannel strategies. Our clients are seekingisakithat will provide them with dynamic
supply chain and channel marketing efficiencies)euitimately delivering a world-class customengee experience.

Our technology and business infrastructuresadaptable, changeable and reliable. This flailallows us to design custom, variable ¢
solutions to fit the business requirements of di@n€'s strategies. We earn revenue from two distirusiness segments, yet operationally
similar business models:

« First, we earn service fee revenues from chagpsocess individual business transactions orcliemt’s behalf through our
technology and infrastructure capabilities. Thassress transactions may include the answeringpbbae call or an e-mail, the
design and hosting of a client web-site, the rdcail storage of our client’s inventory, the asdgroba kit of products to meet our
client’s customer’s specifications, the shippingpodducts to our client’s customers, the managemieatcomplex set of electronic
data transactions designed to keep our client’plins and customers accounting records in balarabe processing of a returned
package. In the service fee revenue business ségweedo not own the inventory or the resultingaots receivable, but provide
management services for these c-owned asset:

« Secondly, we earn product revenue through outandsstributor relationship with certain clienks.the product revenue business
segment, we purchase inventory, and upon saleegdribduct, own the accounts receiva

Our capabilities are expansive. To offer thestmecessary and resourceful products to ourtsjigre are continually developing
capabilities to meet the pressing business issutteimarketplace. Our business objective is tafamn “Leading the Evolution of
Outsourcing.” As our tagline suggests, we will ¢goné to evolve our service offerings to meet thedseof the marketplace and the demands
of unique client requirements. We are most
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successful when we develop a new capability to leralslient to pursue a new initiative and we aentable to leverage that revolutionary
development across other client or prospect salgfias it becomes “best practice” in the markegl@ur team of experts design and build
diverse solutions for Fortune 1000, Global 2000 larathd name clients around a flexible core of tetdgy and physical infrastructure that

includes:

« Technology collaboration provided by our suitd¢exthnology services, called the Entente Suite(3i\l}, are e-commerce and
collaboration services that enable buyers and grggb fully automate their business transactisitkin their supply chain. Entente
supports industry standard collaboration technigouelsding XML based protocols such as Biztalk &akettaNet, real-time
application interfaces, text file exchanges viaused FTP, and traditional electronic data intergjea” EDI");

« Managed hosting and internet application devekmrservices, including web site design, creaiimiegration and ongoing
maintenance, support and enhancement of wek

« Order management, including order processing fiagnsource of entry, back order processing anddutrder processing, tracking
and tracing, credit management, electronic paymetessing, calculation and collection of salesatact VAT, comprehensive freight
calculation and email notification, all with mullgpcurrency and language optio

« Customer Relationship Management (“CRM”"), inchglinteractive voice response (“IVR") technologyameb-enabled customer
contact services through world-class call centéhging voice, e-mail, voice over internet protd¢vOIP") and internet chat
communications that are fully integrated with réade systems and historical data archives to peemmplete customer lifecycle
managemen

* International fulfillment and distribution sereg, including warehouse management, inventory neanegt, inventory postponement,
product warehousing, order picking and packingygpartation management and reverse logis

« Kitting and assembly services, including lighsembly, procurement services, Supplier Relationstapagement, specialized kitting,
and supplier consigned inventory hub in PFS’s distribution facilities or c-located in other facilities

« Information management, including r-time data interfaces, data exchange services aadwaing;

 Financial services, including secure on-line itredrd processing related services, fraud praiacinvoicing, credit management and
collection, and working capital solutions; a

« Professional consulting services, including ascitative team of experts that customize solutionsach client and continuously seek
out ways to increase efficiencies and produce lisrfef the client

We are headquartered in Plano, Texas wherexaautive and administrative offices are locatedvall as our primary technology
laboratories and hosting facilities. We operatéestd-the-art call centers from our U.S. facilitiesated in Plano, Texas, and Memphis,
Tennessee, and from our international facility tedan Liege, Belgium. We have approximately on#éiom square feet of warehouse space
located across our facilities in Memphis, Torontd &iege allowing us to provide global distributisolutions. These distribution facilities :
highly automated and contain state of the art matlandling and communications equipment. We glewdolutions to clients that are often
regarded as market leaders in a variety of diffeirdustries. Those industries include technologinofacturing, telecommunications,
computer consumables, direct marketing, apparelilirey, collectibles, consumer goods, personadfcasmetics, pharmaceuticals and
consumer electronics, among others.
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Industry Overview

Business activities in the public and privegetors continue to operate in an environmentgmtireechnological advancement, increasing
competition and continuous pressure to improveatper and supply chain efficiency while decreasingts. We currently see the following
trends within the industry:

« Manufacturers strive to restructure their supggigins to maximize efficiency and reduce costsoith bbusiness-to-business (“B2B”)
and business-to-consumer (“B2C”) markets and tatera variable-cost supply chain able to suppertltiple unique needs of each
of their initiatives, including traditional and eteonic commerce

« Government agencies are increasingly focusednpnaved citizen usability and interaction, as veslithe need to manage government
initiatives from an efficiency perspective. Withvigions to the United States Government’'s CompetiBourcing Program (A-76), the
government is mandated to obtain commercially ab#él goods and services from the private sectonvtheakes economic sense to
do so.

» Companies in a variety of industries seek outsogras a method to address one or more businestdns that are not within their
core business competencies, to reduce operatirtg @o improve the speed or cost of implementa

Supply Chain Management Trend

As companies maintain focus on improving theisinesses and balance sheet financial ratiasfisant efforts and investments continue
to be made identifying ways to maximize supply otefficiency and extend supply chain processes Kiligrcapital financing, vendor
managed inventory, supply chain visibility softwardutions, distribution channel skipping, dirextbnsumer e-commerce sales initiatives,
and complex upstream supply chain collaborativartelogy are products that manufacturers seek ftheim achieve greater supply chain
efficiency. International Data Corporation (“IDCfrecasts that the supply chain management sermeget will represent the largest
solutions services opportunity, reaching $40.5dsilby 2007, which we believe includes the typpmiducts described above, that monitor,
manage, and optimize companies’ extended suppipsha

A key business challenge facing many manufacsuand retailers as they evaluate their suppdyncéfficiency is in determining how the
trend for consumers to shop via the Internet ielaotronic commerce fashion will affect their ttamhal commerce business model.
According to eMarketer’s eBusiness in 2003 reviB@B worldwide e-commerce is expected to grow aammual rate of between 50% and
60%, and in the U.S. B2B e-commerce is expectepide from $721 billion in 2003 to $1.3 trillion 2005. Forrester Research projects that
U.S. B2C e-commerce activity will reach nearly $28on in 2008, and will account for 10 perceritotal U.S. retail sales. We believe that
companies will continue to strategically plan foe impact that e-commerce and other new technadggncements will have on their
traditional commerce business models and theitiagitechnology and infrastructure capabilities.

Manufacturers, as buyers of materials, ar@ ialposing new business practices and policiesein supplier partners in order to shift the
normal supply chain costs and risks associatedimitentory ownership away from their own balanceeth. Through techniques like Vendor
Managed Inventory (“VMI") or Consigned Inventorydgrams (“CIP”), manufacturers are asking their $epp as a part of the supplier
selection process, to provide capabilities wheeentlanufacturer need not own, or even possess,toyeagrior to the exact moment that unit
of inventory is required as a raw material compomeror shipping to a customer. To be successfubfl parties, business models such as
these often require a sophisticated collectioreofihological capabilities that allow for completéegration and collaboration of the
information technology environments of both the drugnd supplier. For example, in order for an in@gnunit to arrive at the precise
required moment in the manufacturing facility sitecessary for the Manufacturing Resource PlantiMBP") systems of the manufacturer
to integrate with the CRM systems of the suppli¢hen hundreds of supplier partners are involved,glocess can become quite complex
and technologically challenging. Buyers and supplége seeking solutions that utilize XML basedeols like Biztalk, RosettaNet and
other traditional EDI standards in order to ensam®pen systems platform that promotes easier témiy integration in these collaborative
solutions.
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Government Outsourcing Trend

In 2001, a task force was launched to idemntifgrity actions to achieve strategic improvementgovernment and set in motion a
transformation of government around citizens’ neéthe federal government formulated an E-Governrarategy in 2002, which was
created to support multi-agency projects that imercitizen services and yield performance gainsoAtecent revisions to government
mandate A-76 state that Government agencies magucbthorough audits to determine the lowest andtmost efficient method of doing
business, and to outsource to the public sectonwhouse operations are unable to compete.

As stated in the February 2002 E-Governmenst&y document developed by the U.S. Office of Mmment and Budget (OMB) E-
Government task force, the primary goals for thigative are to:

* Make it easy for citizens to obtain service anériatt with the federal governme
« Improve government efficiency and effectivenesst
« Improve the governme’s responsiveness to citize

According to the E-Government Strategy docuien fiscal year 2005, the federal governmentigeistment in information technology
(IT) is estimated to be $59 billion. The continiedestment made in IT spending provides opportesifor the government to continue to
transform itself into a citizen-centered@vernment and provide additional opportunitiestf@ government to work with the public secto
develop more user friendly methods of interactPast agency-centered IT approaches have limitedahernment’s productivity gains and
ability to serve citizens.

The 2002 E-Government Strategy document gods state, “E-Government provides many opportasitdo improve the quality of service
to citizens. Citizens should be able to get sereicimformation in minutes or hours, versus todagandard of days or weeks. Citizens,
businesses and state and local governments shewltlé to file required reports without having tiehaccountants and lawyers. Government
employees should be able to do their work as gadfligiently and effectively as their counterpartshe commercial world. Effective
execution of this strategy are targeted to:

« Simplify delivery of services to citizen
« Eliminate layers of government managem:

« Make it possible for citizens, businesses, olinezls of government and federal employees toefinil information and get service
from the federal governmer

« Simplify agencie’ business processes and reduce costs through itmiggaad eliminating redundant syster
» Enable achievement of the other elements of theidre’s Management Agenda; a
« Streamline government operations to guarantee ragjgbnse to citizen nee”

E-Government Strategy activities are centeretbur citizen-centered groups, including:

Individuals/CitizensGovernmer-to-Citizens (G2C)
» BusinessesGovernmer-to-Business (G2B)
« IntergovernmentalGovernmer-to-Government (G2G
« Intra-governmentallnternal Efficiency and Effectiveness (IEl
Through the E-Government Strategy, Governragehcies are currently faced with pressure to ulegra

4
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technology capabilities and to better interfacehwliteir audiences. Combined with the A-76 initiatthat directs Government agencies to
pursue the most cost-effective method of doingrimss, current federal strategy now enforces goventimneed to better understand public
alternatives, submit to extensive requests for psafs to an array of government and non-governpraviders, and to perform complex
evaluations of existing operations and functiorfeese initiatives will continue to drive governmesstge of outside sources.

Outsourcing Trend

In response to growing competitive pressurestachnological innovations, we believe many comgs both large and small, are focus
their critical resources on the core competendi¢keir business and utilizing business processaarting to accelerate their business pla
a cost-effective manner and perform non-core bgsifignctions. Outsourcing provides many key besdficluding the ability to:

» Capitalize on skills, expertise and technolodyaistructure that would otherwise be unavailablexgensive given the scale of the
business

« Reduce capital and personnel investments and cofined investments to variable cos

« Increase flexibility to meet changing business dtors and demand for products and servi
< Enhance customer satisfaction and gain competiivantage

» Improve operating performance and efficiency;

« Enter new business markets or geographic areadlya

As a result, the market for business processoarcing services continues to grow. IDC predictd the worldwide logistics business
process outsourcing market will expand from $158l&n in 2002 to $276.5 billion in 2007.

Typically, outsourcing service providers aveused on a single function, such as informatichrielogy, call center management, credit
card processing, warehousing or package deliverig fbcus creates several challenges for compémiding to outsource more than one of
these functions, including the need to manage pieltutsourcing service providers, to share infdiomawith service providers and to
integrate that information into their internal systs. Additionally, the delivery of these multipkergces must be transparent to the customer
and enable the client to maintain brand recogniiod customer loyalty.

Furthermore, traditional commerce outsoureeesfrequently providers of domestialy services versus international solutions. Assault,
companies requiring global solutions must estaldidditional relationships with other outsourcingties.

Another vital point for major brand name comiga seeking to outsource is the protection of thieind. When looking for an outsourcing
partner to provide infrastructure solutions, braathe companies must find a company that can ettseigame quality performance and
superior experience that their customers expent their brands. Working with an outsourcing partreguires finding a partner that can
maintain the consistency of their brand image, Wiiscone of the most valuable intangible assetsré@gnized brand name companies
possess.

The PFSweb Solution
PFSweb serves as the “brand behind the brfanadtbmpanies seeking to increase the efficiencies| aspects of their supply chain.

Our value proposition is to become an extensfoour clients’ businesses by delivering a supezkperience that increases and enhances
sales and market growth, customer satisfactioncastbmer retention. We act as both a virtual apbysical infrastructure for our clients’
businesses. By utilizing our services, our cliarsable to:
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Quickly Capitalize on Market OpportunitieSur solutions empower clients to rapidly implemtigir supply chain and e-commerce
strategies and to take advantage of opportunitifowut lengthy integration and implementation effoiVe have ready built technology and
physical infrastructure that is flexible in its s which facilitates quick integration and implentation. Currently, PFSweb operates with
excess capacity in its call center, technology disttibution areas further aiding our clienspeed to market. The PFSweb solution is desi
to allow our clients to deliver consistent qualirvice as transaction volumes grow and also tdlbataily and seasonal peak periods.
Through our international locations, our clients c@e the broad reach of the internet and e-conaersell their products almost anywhere
in the world.

Improve the Customer Experiend®e enable our clients to provide their custometh wipositive buying experience thereby maintaining
and promoting brand loyalty. Through our use ofaatbed technology, we can respond directly to custanguiries by e-mail, voice or data
communication and assist them with on-line ordeand product information. We offer our clients aotWd-class” level of service, including
24-hour, seven-day-a-week, Web-enabled customersgawice centers, detailed CRM reporting and eiaegd order accuracy. We have
significant experience in the development of Iné¢nweb sites that allows us to recommend featurdgunctions that are easily navigated
understood by our client’s customers. Our technpldgtform is designed to ensure high levels datelity and fast response times for our
clients’ customers. Because our technology is “drathss,” our clients benefit from being able téeothe latest in customer communication
and response conveniences to their customers.

Minimize Investment and Improve Operating EfficieagOne of the most significant benefits that outsmgdo PFSweb provides is the
ability to transform fixed costs into variable By eliminating the need to invest in a fixedit@pnfrastructure, our clients’ costs typically
become directly correlated with volume increasedamlines. Further, as volume increases drive émeashd for greater infrastructure or
capacity, PFSweb is able to quickly deploy addaiaesources. We provide services to multiple ttigwhich enables us to offer our clients
economies of scale, and resulting cost efficietitgt they may not have been able to obtain on teir. Additionally, because of the large
number of daily transactions we process, PFSwelbd&as able to justify investments in levels of audtion, security surveillance, quality
control processes and transportation carrier iated that are typically outside the scale of imaest that our clients might be able to cost
justify on their own. These additional capabilit@m provide our clients the benefits of enhanqeatating efficiency, reduced inventc
shrinkage, and expanded customer service options.

Access a Sophisticated Technology Infrastructéfe.provide our clients with ready access to a sijiaited technology infrastructure
through our Entente Suite, which is designed terfate seamlessly with their systems. We providechents with vital product and custon
information that can be immediately available terthon their own systems or through web based graar interfaces for use in data
mining, analyzing sales and marketing trends, neoini¢j inventory levels and performing other managettiunctions.

The PFSweb Strategy

In 2004, we intend to maintain our simple éffiective strategy statement to drive our actiamglie year, QGP. This acronym stands for
Quality, Growth and Profit. We believe that if wencachieve outstanding performance on these tlagie blements, they will provide for a
stable foundation for the future of PFSweb. As #hislution of our business model continues, we keithain focused on these three
fundamentals:

Quality : To exceed our client’s service level requirememts enhance the value of their “brand” while pdawy their customers a
positive, memorable and efficient experience.

Growth: To increase our company’s revenue and grosstgrofn its current levels. To aggressively marketgified product messages
to drive new clients and revenue and profit growihhbecome a larger company in order to createecaned additional employment
opportunities. Embrace strategic partnering to aitee strengths and minimize weaknesses.

Profit: To generate positive cash flow and to become sty profitable. To increase the value of our campfor all of its stakeholde
while rewarding our team members with challengfng,and memorable life experiences.

6
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The successful balance of the execution afeliendamental strategies over the next yeardgetad to result in the formation of a solid
strategic and financial foundation for PFSweb arayidle PFSweb a sustainable and profitable busimestel for the future.

See “Risk Factorgor a complete discussion of risk factors relatedur ability to achieve our objectives and fuléilir business strategit
PFSweb Services

We offer a comprehensive and integrated sbtisiness infrastructure solutions that are taildoeour clients’ specific needs and enable
them to quickly and efficiently implement their @iy chain strategies. Our services include:

Technology CollaboratiorSpecifically for e-commerce initiatives, PFSweb bemated the Entente Suite, which illustrates d¢vell of
electronic cooperation that is possible when westraist solutions with our clients using this teclogy service offering. This set of
technology services enables everything from ordecgssing and inventory reporting to total e-conaetesign and implementation. The
Entente Suite comprises four key services— Enterta®Y EntenteDirect®, EntenteMessage® and Ententai®®p

EntenteWeb is a one-stop shop for the entderemerce process, particularly for companies withsual needs or specific requests that
are not easily met by the typical e-commerce dgraknt packages. EntenteWeb is a service utilizurgevolutionary GlobalMerchant
Commerceware™ e-commerce software platform thaaiiscularly focused to enable global commercetagiias with its extensive currency
and language functionality. EntenteDirect providiésnts with a real-time, user-friendly interfacetlveen their system and PFSweb order
processing, warehouse management and relateddosctising real-time or batch processes, Ententeddesis a file exchange service for
clients using our warehousing and distributionlfaes. EntenteReport is a reporting and inquirgvie particularly suited to companies that
need to put key e-commerce information into thedisasf business users, but do not have the IT ressuo facilitate the necessary data
extraction, manipulation and presentation. Enteaepef consists of an industry-standard browserbasgort writer, a clientustomized dat
warehouse configuration, and, new in 2003, acaeasobust browser-based Supply Chain Visibilitgldzoard.

The Entente Suite operates in an open systerigonment and features the use of industry-stah¥®L, enabling customized e-
commerce solutions with minimal changes to a ckesystems or our Enterprise Resource Planning P'ERystems. The result is a faster
implementation process. Additionally, by using XMhe Entente Suite offers companies a more robestrenic information transfer option
than text file FTP or EDI, although the text fil&#, EDI and other transfer methods are still sujgabr

EntenteWeb Managed Hosting and Internet ApplicallemelopmentWe offer a highly available and secure managedrgpsblution
that encompasses complete creation and maintewftient web sites using the EntenteWeb serviqeer@ting with an in-house creative
staff, we customize commerce-enabled client sigheir exact specifications and requirements. Ak all major brand name companies,
consistency within the brand image is vital; theref our design engineers create sites that seslgnlategrate and mirror the exact brand
image of our clients. By operating on IBM enterprgystems and utilizing our state of the art Emt&hiite technology along with
Microsoft.Net technologies, we maintain a robustthny environment for our hosted client web siteparties.

Specifically through the EntenteWeb service,can assist clients using the GlobalMerchant Comeweare software to build an e-
commerce offering with relatively low investmentdan a time efficient manner. EntenteWeb is a catepfront-to-back e-commerce service
that incorporates components ranging from the lfake user interface to specific business purctggsivarehousing and shipping needs,
enabling companies to define in exact terms thesirdd e-commerce site functionality.

Order ManagemenOur order management solutions provide clients watlrfaces that allow for real-time informatiorirreval,
including information on inventory, sales ordefsipments, delivery, purchase orders, warehouseptsceustomer history, accounts
receivable and credit lines. These solutions aaenfessly integrated with our web-enabled custoroatact centers, allowing for the
processing of orders through shopping cart, phone,
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fax, mail, email, web chat, and other order receipthods. As the information backbone for our tetglply chain solution, order managen
services can be used on a stand alone basis onjunction with our other business infrastructuiferings, including customer contact,
financial or distribution services. In additiony the B2B market, our technology platform providegariety of order receipt methods that
facilitate commerce within various stages of thepdy chain. Our systems provide the ability fortbour clients and their customers to track
the status of orders at any time. Our servicesransparent to our clients’ customers and are sessiylintegrated with our clients’ internal
systems platforms and web sites. By synchronizZiege activities, we can capture and provide ctitiaatomer information, including:

 Statistical measurements critical to creatingiality customer experience, containing real-timgeorstatus, order exceptions, back
order tracking, allocation of product based on tigndf online purchase and business rules, the oatostomer inquiries to purchases,
average order sizes and order response

« B2B supply chain management information critice¢valuating inventory positioning, for the purpas reducing inventory turns, and
assessing product flow through and -consumer deman:i

« Reverse logistics information including customesp@nse and reason for the return or rotation aiyeband desired customer acti
 Detailed marketing information about what was swoid to whom it was sold, by location and preferencel
« Web traffic reporting showing the number of vig"hits”) received, areas visited, and products and infoonatquestec

Customer Relationship Manageméme offer a completely customized CRM solution foemrts. Our CRM solution encompasses a full-
scale customer contact management service offamgiell as a fully integrated customer analysigy@m. All customer contacts are
captured and customer purchases are documentédchld reporting on all customer transactions/alable for evaluation purposes.
Through each of our customer tougbints, information can be analyzed and processedurrent or future use in business evaluatioodpc!
effectiveness and positioning, and supply chainmlag.

An important feature of evolving commerce rémahe ability for the customer to speak withve Icustomer service representative. Our
experience has been that a majority of consumbnsstéhey visited the web location for informatjdrut not all of those consumers chose to
place their order online. Our customer care sesvitfize features that integrate voice, e-maénsgtard mail, data and internet chat
communications to respond to and handle custonggiiries. Our customer care representatives ansarésus questions, acting as virtual
representatives of our client’s organization, rdgay order status, shipping, billing, returns amdduct information and availability as well as
a variety of other questions. Our web-enabled eustacare technology identifies each customer comigtomatically and routes it to the
available customer care representative who is iddally certified in the client’s business and prots. Our web-enabled customer care
centers are designed so that our customer caresepatives can handle several different cliemdspaoducts in a shared environment,
thereby creating economy of scale benefits foralients as well as highly customized dedicated supmpodels that provide the ultimate
customer experience and brand reinforcement. Owaratd technology also enables our representatvgs-sell, cross-sell and inform
customers of other products and sales opportunifies web-enabled customer care center is fulbgrgted into the data management and
order processing system, allowing full visibilitytd customer history and customer trends. Throbghftlly integrated system, we are able to
provide a complete CRM solution.

With the need for efficiency and cost optimizatfonmany of our clients, we have integrated IVRaasther option for customer contacts.

IVR creates an “electronic workforce” with virtuadients that can assist customers with vital inféionaat any time of the day or night. IVR
allows for our clients’ customers to deal interaely with our system to handle basic customer irgsj such as account balance, order status
shipment status, catalog requests, product and prigiiries, and routine order entry for establisbestomers. The inclusion of IVR to our
service offering allows us to offer a cost effeetivay to handle high volume, low complexity calls.
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International Fulfillment and Distribution Servicesn integral part of our business process outsogrsaiutions is the warehousing and
distribution of inventory either owned by our clieror owned by us through our master distributtatienships. We currently have
approximately one million square feet of warehogiz@ce domestically and internationally to store pnog¢ess our clients’ inventory. We
receive client inventory in our distribution cersteverify shipment accuracy, unpack and audit agss that includes spot-checking a small
percentage of the clients inventory to validate@ieounts and check for damages that may haveredcduring shipping, loading and
unloading). Upon request, we inspect for other dgsar defects, which may include checking falstitching and zippers for soft goods, or
‘testing’ power-up capabilities for electronic itenWe generally stock for sale within one busirdessof unloading. On behalf of our clients,
we pick, pack and ship their customer orders andocavide customized packaging, inserts and pramatiliterature for distribution with
customer orders.

We will also work with clients to re-sequert@stain supply to aid in an inventory postponenstritegy. We can build clients assembly
flow lines and provide kitting services for thoudarof units daily to stock in a Just-in-Time (“J)®nvironment. This service, for example,
can entail the procurement of packaging materradkiding retail boxes, foam inserts and anti-staéigs. These raw material components
would be shipped to PFSweb from overseas manufastuand PFSweb will build the finished SKU undsstock for the client. This strategy
allows manufacturers to make a smaller investnemientory while meeting changing customer demand.

Based upon our clients’ needs, we are abieki® advantage of a variety of shipping and dejivgtions, which range from next day
service to zone skipping to optimize transportatiosts. Our facilities and systems are equippel mitlti-carrier functionality, allowing us
to integrate with all leading package carriers pravide a comprehensive transportation managenifartray. In addition, an increasingly
important function that we provide for our clieiggeverse logistics management. We offer a widayaof product return services for our
clients, including issuing return authorizatiorex@ipt of product, crediting customer accounts, disdosition of returned product.

Our distribution facilities contain computetzsorting equipment, highly mobile pick-to-liglarts, powered material handling equipment,
scanning and bar-coding systems and automated yorsyén-line scales and x-ray equipment usedgpeat shipment contents for automatic
accuracy checking. Our international distributi@mplexes include several advanced technology emnagrats, such as radio frequency
technology in product receiving processing to easacuracy, as well as an automated package raaith@ pick-to-light paperless order
fulfillment system. Our advanced distribution sysseprovide us with the capability to currently wawase an extensive number of stock
keeping units (SKUSs) for our clients ranging fraenge high-end laser printers to small cosmetic auotgp Our facilities are flexibly
configured to process B2B and single pick B2C adimym the same central location.

During 2003, we warehoused, managed andladfiipproximately $1 billion in client merchanda®d transactions. Much of this does not
represent our revenue, but rather the revenueraglimmts’ transactions for whom we provided buseprocess outsourcing solutions. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations.”

Domestic clients of PFSweb enjoy the benefitsaving their inventory assets secured by a netwbtrained law enforcement
professionals, who have developed and continu@éoate a world-class security network from our sécheadquarters in Memphis, TN. A
part of our services for the United States Mint, ®ecurity plans and procedures are under constahation and evolution. Continual
validation ensures that we employ the latest inisgcprocesses and procedures to further enhamcsusveillance and detection capabilities.

Kitting and Assembly Servicé3ur expanded kitting and assembly services enabilelients to reduce the time and costs associaitbd
managing multiple suppliers, warehousing hubs,l@id manufacturing partners. As a single souraiger, we provide clients with the
advantage of convenience, accountability and sg@edcomprehensive kitting and assembly servicesige a quality one-stop resource for
any international channel. PFSweb’s kitting ancaddy service includes light assembly, specializgithg and supplier-consigned inventory
hub either in our distribution facilities or co-kted elsewhere. We also offer customized light rfearturing and Supplier Relationship
Management (“SRM”) for Fortune 1000 and Global 2@@nufacturers.
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Combining our assembly services with our sigpdwned inventory hub services allows our clientseduce cycle times, to compress t
supply chains and to consolidate their operatiomssaupplier management functions. We have supiplientory management, assembly and
fulfillment services all in one place, providingegter flexibility in product line utilization, aselN as rapid response to change orders or
packaging development. Our standard capabilitielside: build-to-order, build-to-stock, expeditedlers, passive and active electrostatic
discharge (“ESD”) controls, product labeling, skniamber generation, marking and/or capture, lohber generation, asset tagging, bill of
materials (“BOM”) or computer automated design (‘@A engineering change processing, SKU-level pgcamd billing, manufacturing and
metrics reporting, first article approval processesl comprehensive quality controls.

Our kitting and assembly services also inclpdEurement. We work directly with client suppiiéo make JIT inventory orders for each
component in client packages, thereby ensuringpipeopriate inventory quantities arrive at justttigt time to PFSweb and then turned
around JIT to customers.

Kitting and inventory hub services enablertiieto collapse supply chains into the minimal stegcessary to prepare product for
distribution to any channel, including wholesal@ss merchant retail, or direct to consumer. Cliantionger have to employ multiple
providers or require suppliers to consign multipkeentory caches for each channel. We offer oentti the opportunity to consolidate
operations from a channel standpoint, as well@® fa geographic perspective. Our integrated, glioffatmation systems and international
locations support client business needs worldwide.

Information ManagementVe have the ability to communicate with and transformation to and from our clients through a wicariety
of technology services, including real-time datifaces, file transfer methods and electronic gatachange. Our systems are designed to
capture, store and electronically forward to oigndk critical information regarding customer inigs and orders, product shipments,
inventory status (for example, levels of inventoryhand, on backorder, on purchase order and iomedtie dates to our warehouse), pro«
returns and other information. We maintain for olients detailed product databases that can belessipintegrated with their web sites
utilizing the capabilities of the Entente Suite.r@ystems are capable of providing our clients witktomer inventory and order information
for use in analyzing sales and marketing trendsiinoiducing new products. We also offer customizgubrts and data analyses based upon
specific client needs to assist them in their btidgeand business decision process.

Financial ServicesOur financial services are divided into two majogas: 1) billing and collection services for B2RI&BR2C clients and
2) working capital solutions, where we act as &uairand physical financial management departneefulfill our clients’ needs.

We offer secure credit and collections sewvioe both B2B and B2C businesses. SpecificallyB2C clients, we offer secure, real-time
credit card processing related services for ordexde via a client web site or through our custotoetact center. Additionally, we can
calculate sales taxes, goods and services taxedum added taxes, if applicable, for numerousigsiuthorities and on a variety of products.
Using third-party leading-edge fraud protectiorvaars and risk management systems, we can assuhéghest level of security and the
lowest level of risk for client transactions.

For B2B clients, we offer full-service accosinéceivable management and collection capabilitietuding the ability to generate
customized computer-generated invoices in our igrames. We assist clients in reducing accowgtsivable and days sales outstanding,
while minimizing costs associated with maintainargin-house collections staff. We offer electratriedit services in the format of EDI X.12
and XML communications direct from our clients beir vendors, suppliers and retailers.

PFSweb’s subsidiary, Supplies Distributors, provides working capital solutions, which enafbl@nufacturers to remove inventory and
receivables from their balance sheets through skeoithird party financing. This service offeriisgavailable to clients operating in North
America and Europe.

While the majority of our clients maintain ogrship of their own inventory, through SuppliestBimitors, we
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can create and implement client inventory solutiassvell. PFSweb has years of experience in deulitigthe issues related to inventory
ownership, secure inventory management, replenisharel product distribution. PFSweb and Suppliegtribiutors can offer prospective
clients a management solution for the entire custamlationship, including ownership of inventorydaeceivables. Through CIP, we utilize
technology resources to time the replenishmenthase of inventory with the simultaneous sale ofipob to the end user. All interfaces are
done electronically and almost all processes régaithe financial transactions are automated, crgaignificant supply chain advantages.

PFSweb is experienced in the complex legabaating and governmental control issues that eahusdles in the successful
implementation of working capital financing progmn®ur knowledge and experience help clients aehéepply chain benefits while
reducing inventory carrying costs. Substantial fiesiand improvement to a company’s balance sheebe achieved through these working
capital solutions.

Professional Consulting Servicess part of the tailored solution for our clientss wffer a full team of experts specifically desiggtato
focus on our clients’ businesses. Team membersgptansultative role, providing constructive evélua analysis and recommendations for
the client’s business. This team creates custongekdions and devises plans that will increaskeieficies and produce benefits for the client
when implemented.

Comprised of industry experts from top-tiensolting firms and industry market leaders, ounted professional consultants provides
client service focus and logistics and distributexpertise. They have built solutions for Fortu@@@ and Global 2000 market leaders in a
wide range of industries, including apparel, corepuelated products, telecommunications, cosmetimssewares, high-value collectibles,
sporting goods, pharmaceuticals and several mo@iding on the evolving infrastructure needs ofameprporations and their business
initiatives, our team has a solid track record [img consulting services in the areas of suppblicimanagement, distribution and
fulfillment, technology interfacing, logistics aldstomer support.

Clients and Marketing

Our target clients include technology and comsr goods brand name manufacturers looking tdkbtyuand efficiently implement business
initiatives, to adapt their go-tmarket strategies, or to introduce new productsrograms, without the burden of modifying or expagadheir
order processing, customer service, supply chaindsstribution infrastructure. We also target reta and multi-channel direct marketers
seeking to expand their sales through new chammelsechnology platforms, as well as governmenneigs trying to reduce costs and/or
increase efficiencies, meet customer expectatindg@sponsiveness. Our solutions are applicatdentaltitude of industries and company
types and we have provided solutions for such conegaas:

International Business Machines (“IBM”) (printerlies in several geographic areas), Adaptec (ceen@accessories), the United States
Mint (as a sub-contractor to IBM Global Servicesyaya Communication, Emtec Magnetics (a manufactof@ASF-branded data media
and audio visual products), Lancome (a cosmetigsidn of L’Oreal International), Chiasso (a confmrary home furnishings and decor
cataloguer), Xerox (printers and printer suppli®izer (pharmaceuticals), Nokia USA.com (cell ph@tcessories), Roots Canada (apparel),
Hewlett-Packard (printers and computer networkiggigment), and The Smithsonian Business Venturesl{ectibles cataloger), amongst
many others. We target potential clients througlexensive integrated marketing program that cosera variety of direct marketing
techniques, high impact print advertising, traderg\participation, search engines and e-markeginglic relations and a sophisticated tele-
sales lead generation model. We have also develp@ttricate messaging matrix that defines ouiouarbusiness process outsourcing
solutions and products, the vehicles we utilizdabiver marketing communication on these solutiprzsiucts and the target audience
segments that display a demand for these solugimahicts. This messaging matrix allows us to depigyly targeted solution messages to
selected key vertical industry segments where wktfat we are able to provide significant serdiféerentiation and value. We also pursue
strategic marketing alliances with consulting firresftware manufacturers and other logistics prenéido increase market awareness and
generate referrals and customer leads.

Because of the highly complex nature of tHatgms we provide, our clients demand significaptmpetence and experience from a variety
of different business disciplines during the salgde. As such, we utilize a selected member ofsemior executive team to lead the design
and proposal development of each potential newtlie
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choose to pursue. The senior executive is suppbstedselect group of highly experienced indiviguabm our professional services group
with specific industry knowledge or experiencelte solutions development process. We employ a tddrighly trained implementation
managers whose responsibilities include the ovietrsigd supervision of client projects and maintairiigh levels of client satisfaction
during the transition process between the varitages of the sales cycle and steady state opesation

Technology

We maintain advanced management informatistesys and have automated key business functiong aeiline, real-time systems.
These systems enable us to provide our clientsrirdtion concerning sales, inventory status, custgragments and other operations that are
essential for our clients to efficiently manageitieéectronic commerce and supply chain businesgnams. Our systems are designed to ¢
rapidly in order to handle the transaction progegsiemands of our clients.

We employ technology from a selected groupastners, many of whom are also our clients. Fangle, we deploy IBM e-servers and
network printers in appropriate models to run wigb fsinctions as well as order management andiloiigion functions. We utilize Avaya
Communication for telephone switch and call centanagement functions and to interact with customiarsoice, e-mail or chat. Avaya
Communication technology also allows us to sharke pages between customers and our service repaiseat We have the ability to
transmit and receive voice, data and video simalasly on a single network connection to a custamerore effectively serve that custor
for our client. Clients’ interest in using this kemlogy stems from its ability to allow shopperstmsult with known experts in a way that the
customer chooses prior to purchasing. Our sophistitcomputer-telephony integration has been acléisimp by combining systems
software from IBM and Avaya Communication togetivh our own application development. We use AT&TF bur private enterprise
network and long distance carrier. We use J.D. Edsvas the software provider for the primary ERBliagtions that we use in our
operational areas and financial areas. We use Bepaethe software provider for the primary mghiannel direct marketing application we
deploy for our catalog and direct marketing cliet® use Siemens Dematic/Rapistan Materials Hag@listomation for our automated or
selection, automated conveyor and “pick-to-lighitivéntory retrieval) systems, and Symbol Technasfielxon for our warehouse radio
frequency applications. Our Warehouse Managemeste8y(“WMS”) and Distribution Requirements Plann{fiDRP") system have been
developed in-house to meet the varied unique reménts of our vertical markets. Both the WMS andPléRe tightly integrated to both the
North American and European deployments of our Bdward’ system.

Many internal infrastructures are not suffitieo support the explosive growth in e-businessagketplaces, supply chain compression,
distribution channel realignment and the correspandemand for real-time information necessarystoategic decision-making and product
fulfillment. To address this need, we have cre#tedEntente Suite, which is a comprehensive sditeahnology services, with supporting
software and hardware infrastructure, that enategpanies with little or no e-commerce infrastroetto speed their time to market and
minimize resource investment and risk, and allolivsaanpanies involved to improve the efficiencytbéir supply chain. The Entente Suite is
comprised of four distinct service offerings — Exnt®WVeb, EntenteDirect, EntenteMessage, and EnteptaR— that can stand alone or be
combined for a fully customized e-commerce solutiepending on the level of direct involvement a pany wants to maintain in their e-
commerce initiative.

The components of the Entente Suite provideoften platform service infrastructure that allmsgo create complete e-commerce
solutions with our customers. Using the variousises of the Entente Suite, we can assist ourtslieneasily integrating their web sites or
ERP systems to our systems for real-time transagtiocessing without regard for their hardwarefptat or operating system. This high-
level of systems integration allows our clientat@omatically process orders, customer data aret etlitommerce information. We also can
track information sent to us by the client as itve®through our systems in the same manner aicewsigdd track a package throughout the
delivery process. Our systems enable us to trdckdetailed level, information received, transimoisgiming, any errors or special processing
required and information sent back to the clietie Transactional and management information cosiavithin our systems is made availe
to the client quickly and easily through the EngeBuite.

The Entente Suite serves as a transparemtaiogeto our bacloffice productivity applications including our castized J.D. Edwards ord
management and fulfillment application and our Eetssnmulti-channel direct
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marketing application that runs on IBM e-Serverslso is designed to integrate with marketplacérelogies offered by major marketplace
software companies.

To enhance our service offerings, we havestaein advanced telecommunications, computerhel®p electronic mail and messaging,
automated fax technology, IVR technology, barcatbineing, wireless technology, fiber optic netwooknenunications and automated
inventory management systems. We have also dewkknpe utilize telecommunications technology thatvates for automatic customer call
recognition and customer profile recall for inbounustomer service representatives.

The primary responsibility of our systems depeent team of IT professionals is directed atlengenting custom solutions for new
clients and maintaining existing client relationmhiOur development team can also produce proprisyatems infrastructure to expand our
capabilities in circumstances where we cannot msetstandard solutions from commercial providers.al§o utilize temporary resources
when needed for additional capacity.

Our information technology operations andasfructure are built on the premise of reliabitid scalability. We maintain diesel
generators and un-interruptible power supply eqeipinio provide constant availability to computesnrs, call centers and warehouses.
Multiple internet service providers and redundaabwgervers provide for a high degree of availabiitweb sites that interface with our
systems. Capacity planning and upgrading is peddrnegularly to allow for quick implementation afwa clients and avoid time-consuming
infrastructure upgrades that could slow growthga®e also have a disaster recovery plan for dorrmation systems and maintain a “hot
site” under contract with a major provider.

Competition

Many companies offer, on an individual basige or more of the same services we do, and wectamgetition from many different
sources depending upon the type and range of ssruégjuested by a potential client. Our competitaiside vertical outsourcers, which are
companies that offer a single function solutiorghsas call centers, public warehouses or credit percessors. Many of these companies
have greater capabilities than we do for the sifighetion they provide. We also compete againstspartation logistics providers, known in
the industry as 3PL’s and 4PL’s, who offer produethnagement functions as an ancillary service tio fingnary transportation services. In
many instances, our competition is the in-houseaimns of our potential clients themselves. Thladnise operations departments of
potential clients often believe that they can pernfthe same services we do, while others are mltith outsource business functions that
involve direct customer contact. We cannot be aettaat we will be able to compete successfullyimgiahese or other competitors in the
future.

Although many of our competitors can offer anenore of our services, we believe our primamnpetitive advantage is our ability to
offer a wide array of services that cover a brqaettum of business processes, including web s#&d and hosting, kitting and assembly,
order processing and shipment, credit card paymarshcustomer service, thereby eliminating any rieedur clients to coordinate these
services from many different providers. We beligxgeare unique in offering our clients a very broadge of business process services that
addresses, in many cases, the entire businesadtinms from demand to delivery.

We also compete on the basis of many otheoitapt additional factors, including:
 operating performance and reliabili
 ease of implementation and integrati
 experience of the people required to successfualliyedficiently design and implement solutio
« leading edge technology capabiliti
« global reach; an
* price.

We believe that we compete favorably with exsfio each of these factors. However, the madteddir services is competitive and still
evolving, and we may not be able to compete sufidgsagainst current and future competitors.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2003, we had 551 full-tengployees and 67 paithe employees, of which 565 were located in thé&ddhStates. W
are not a party to any collective bargaining agre®ts, and we have never suffered an interruptidsusiness as a result of a labor dispute.
We consider our relationship with our employeebdaood.

Our success in recruiting, hiring and trainiagge numbers of skilled employees and obtainémgd numbers of hourly employees during
peak periods for distribution and call center ofiers is critical to our ability to provide high ality distribution and support services. Call
center representatives and distribution persorauglive feedback on their performance on a regualsistand, as appropriate, are recognized
for superior performance or given additional tragiGenerally, our clients provide specific prodinaining for our customer service
representatives and, in certain instances, orchést personnel to provide specific technical supplo maintain good employee relations
and to minimize employee turnover, we offer compatipay, hire primarily full-time employees whaealigible to receive a full range of
employee benefits, and provide employees with clgsible career paths.

Internet Access to Reports

We maintain an internet website, www.pfswemc®ur annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly répon Form 10-Q, and current reports
on Form 8-K (and amendments, if any, to those tefded or furnished pursuant to Section 13(al®fd) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934) are made available, free of charge, throbgtvestor relations section of this website assas reasonably practicable after we
electronically file such material, or furnish ittlee Securities and Exchange Commission. The irdtion on our website is not incorporated
in this report.

Regulation

Our business may be affected by current anddwgovernmental regulation, both foreign and dstmeFor example, the internet Tax
Freedom Act bars state and local governments froppsing taxes on internet access or that wouldestibuyers and sellers of electronic
commerce to taxation in multiple states. This aas\wn effect until November 1, 2003. If legislatitmnextend this act or similar legislation is
not enacted, internet access and sales acrossténedt may be subject to additional taxation lbyesand local governments, thereby
discouraging purchases over the Internet and aelyeaffecting the market for our services.
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RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition and operatingulés could be adversely affected by any of thewatig factors, in which event the
trading price of our common stock could declined gou could lose part or all of your investmente Tisks and uncertainties described
below are not the only ones that we face. Additioiss and uncertainties not presently known tparghat we currently think are
immaterial, may also impair our business operations

Risks Related to Our Business
Our historical financial information may not be reggsentative of our future results.

Prior to December 1999, we were a wholly-owselsidiary of Daisytek International Corporatiébgisytek”). Our business unit was
formed in 1991 to leverage Daisytek’s core compaesnin customer service, order management, prddliitiment and distribution. From
1996 to 1999, the operations of our business ueitvprimarily focused in several Daisytek subsid@mpperating collectively as Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. (“PFS”). In June 199%eparate wholly owned subsidiary named PFSweh, dridelaware corporation, was
created to become a holding company for PFS arlitdte a December 1999 initial public offering BFSweb. PFSweb and Daisytek
completed their separation on July 6, 2000 thraugho rata distribution to Daisytek’s common staulklers of all of the shares of our
common stock that Daisytek then held.

The financial information for periods priorttee year ended March 31, 2001 included in thisrFd@-K may not reflect what our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows wcwdde been had we been a separate, stand-alotyedentng the periods presented. This is
because we made certain adjustments and allocaiioces Daisytek did not account for us as, and weewot operated as, a single stand-
alone business for the periods presented.

We cannot assure you that the adjustmentalmchtions we made in preparing our historicalsmidated financial statements
appropriately reflect our operations during suchquks as if we had, in fact, operated as a staodeatntity or what the actual effect of our
separation from Daisytek would have been. Accorglinge cannot assure you that our historical rasoiitoperations are indicative of our
future operating or financial performance.

The financial information for periods prior $&ptember 30, 1999, subsequent to October 1, 20@2;urrently, reflect product revenue
earned from certain master distributor agreememitsiarily with IBM. In 1996 we entered into an agneent with the printer supplies divisi
of IBM. Under this agreement, we served as an IBdstar distributor of printer supply products andcpased product from IBM and resold
them to IBM customers. We subsequently enteredargionilar agreement in Europe and expanded ostiegiagreements to include more
product lines. During the quarter ended SeptemBget 399, we, Business Supplies Distributors (aYaaksSubsidiary — “BSD”) and IBM
entered into new agreements to enable PFSweb forooto a service fee revenue business model. Uthése agreements, BSD acted as a
master distributor of various IBM products, Daisyprovided financing and credit support to BSD &#kbweb provided transaction
management and fulfillment services to BSD. As péthis restructuring, we transferred to BSD tBMIproduct inventory we held as the
master distributor, together with our customer aote receivable and our accounts payable owingkbih respect to the product inventory.
As a master distributor under the original agredsieme recorded product revenue as we sold theuptad IBM customers. Similarly, our
gross profit was based upon the difference betweemevenue from product sales and the cost offfasiog the product from IBM. Under 1
new agreements, whereby BSD acted as the mastebuligr, our revenue was service fee revenue basedpercentage of IBM product
sales.

In July 2001, PFSweb and Inventory Financiagriers, LLC (“IFP”) formed Business Supplies Dtttors Holdings, LLC (“Holdings”),
and Holdings formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, SigspDistributors. PFSweb originally had a 49% mgtinterest and IFP had a 51%
voting interest in Holdings. Supplies DistributdP$;Sweb and IBM entered into new master distribatpeements to replace the prior
agreements. Under these new agreements, Suppsiggbiors and its subsidiaries act as the mast#ilulitors and, pursuant to a transaction
management services agreement between PFSweb pplieSDistributors, PFSweb provides transaction
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management and fulfillment services to Suppliesribigtors. Under the agreements with Supplies istors, PFSweb continued to
recognize service fee revenue.

In October 2002, we acquired the remaining ®i@hership interest in Holdings from IFP and thasvrown 100% of Holdings. As a res
of the purchase, we now consolidate 100% of Hoklfitgancial position and results of operations iotio consolidated financial statements.
Upon consolidation, effective October 1, 2002, \e® @mow eliminate the service fee revenue earrad fsur subsidiary, Supplies
Distributors.

As a result of reflecting revenue earned utidemaster distributor agreements as product tevamcertain historical periods and as
service fee revenue in others, our historical tesafl operations may not be indicative of our fatoperating or financial performance.

We have excess capacity, are incurring losses fr@perations and need more revenue to achieve sustalie profitability; we anticipate
incurring significant expenses in the foreseeablatdre, which may reduce our ability to achieve pitability.

We currently have unused space in our callererand distribution centers and excess capaciyi systems infrastructure, and we are
currently incurring losses from operations. To @y service our existing clients and attract ndients, it may be difficult or impractical to
substantially reduce our costs, including the figedts associated with our unused space and esapasity. Consequently, we may continue
to incur losses from operations until we have sidfitly increased our revenue to cover our fixed @ariable costs. Alternatively, we may
incur restructuring charges to reduce portiondeffixed costs associated with the unused spacéxattcapacity. While we believe that as
we add revenue we will be able to cover our exigtitirastructure costs, there can be no assur&ateve will increase our revenue or ach
sustainable profitability.

To reach our business growth objectives, wg imerease our operating and marketing expensegelas capital expenditures. To offset
these expenses, we will need to generate additpoétable business. If our revenue grows slovaanteither we anticipate or our clients’
projections indicate, or if our operating and mérgexpenses exceed our expectations, we mayemargte sufficient revenue to be
profitable or be able to sustain or increase pabfiity on a quarterly or an annual basis in theife. Additionally, if our revenue grows slow
than either we anticipate or our clients’ projestiondicate, we may incur unnecessary or redunmasis and our operating results could be
adversely affected.

Our service fee revenue is dependent upon our d&business and transaction volumes; our clientgee agreements are generally
terminable by the client at will; we may incur fimeial penalties if we fail to meet contractual séce levels under certain client service
agreements.

Our service fee revenue is primarily trangacbased and fluctuates with the volume of transastor level of sales of the products by our
clients for whom we provide transaction managementices. If we are unable to retain existing ¢esr attract new clients or if we dedicate
significant resources to clients whose business doegenerate substantial transactions or whamtupts do not generate substantial
customer sales, our business may be materiallyraglyeaffected. In addition, our service agreemauitis our clients are generally terminal
by the client at will. Therefore, we cannot assye that any of our clients will continue to use earvices for any period of time. Certain of
our client service agreements contain minimum serlével requirements and impose financial persitie/e fail to meet such requirements.
The imposition of a substantial number of such fisacould have a material adverse effect on ogiress and operations.

Our operating results are materially impacted byratlient mix and the seasonality of their business.

Our business is materially impacted by owrdlimix and the seasonality of their business. @ap®n our current client mix and their
current business volumes, we anticipate our sefeie@evenue business activity will be at its lotwaghe first quarter and at its highest in the
second quarter of our fiscal year and that our gpecbevenue business activity will be at its highieghe fourth quarter of our fiscal year. We
believe that results of operations for a quartpdyiod may not be indicative of the results for attyer quarter or for the full year. We are
unable to predict how the seasonality of futurerth’ business may affect our quarterly revenue.
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Our systems may not accommodate significant growtlour number of clients.

Our success depends on our ability to hantiege number of transactions for many differeigndk in various product categories. We
expect that the volume of transactions will inceeaignificantly as we expand our operations. ¥ thécurs, additional stress will be placed
upon the network hardware and software that managiesperations. We cannot assure you of our ghdiefficiently manage a large
number of transactions. If we are not able to na@mnan appropriate level of operating performamemay develop a negative reputation,
and impair existing and prospective client reladiips and our business would be materially adveesécted.

We may not be able to recover all or a portion afr start-up costs associated with one or more of olients.

We generally incur stadp costs in connection with the planning and imm@atation of business process solutions for ountdieAlthougt
we generally attempt to recover these costs franclient in the early stages of the client reladkup, there is a risk that the client contract
may not fully cover the start-up costs. To the eik&tart-up costs exceed the start-up fees recedxegss costs will be expensed as incurred.
Additionally, in connection with new client conttaave generally incur capital expenditures assediatith assets whose primary use is
related to the client solution. There is a riskt tha@ contract may end before expected and we rosenover the full amount of our capital
costs.

Our margins may be materially impacted by clienatrsaction volumes that differ from client projectis and business assumptions.

Our pricing for client transaction servicesgls as call center and fulfillment, is often baspdn volume projections and business
assumptions provided by the client and our anttegpp@osts to perform such work. In the event theaddevel of activity or cost is
substantially different from the projections or@asgtions, we may have insufficient or excess sigftir other assets dedicated for such client
that may negatively impact our margins and businelssionship with such client. In the event we anable to meet the service levels
expected by the client, our relationship with therg will suffer and may result in the terminatiofthe client contract.

Our business is subject to the risk of customer aupplier concentration.

For the year ended December 31, 2002, theMir8.(via a subcontract agreement with IBM), offiliate Supplies Distributors (prior to
consolidation effective October 1, 2002) and Xe@mtporation (“Xerox”) represented approximately 35%8% and 14%, respectively, of our
total net service fee revenue for such period.tReyear ended December 31, 2003, the U.S. MintXamdx represented approximately 40%
and 16%, respectively, of our total net servicertaenue for such period. The loss of, or payment of invoices by either or both of the (
Mint or Xerox as clients would have a material adeecffect upon our business. In particular, theegent under which we provide services
to the U.S. Mint has a scheduled renewal date of 295 and there is a risk that such agreementngie renewed or that we are unable to
enter into a similar agreement to continue to giedervices to the U.S. Mint. Similarly, as is tiase with our agreements with most of our
clients, our agreement with Xerox is terminablevéitupon notice.

Substantially all of our product revenue wasgrated by sales of product purchased under ndistebutor agreements with IBM and is
dependent on IBM business. Our product revenue business is depiemden our master distributor relationship wittMEnd the continuin
market for IBM products. A termination of the réteiship with IBM or a decline in customer demanddach products could have a material
adverse effect on our business. Sales to two cestatcounted for approximately 13% and 12% otatait product revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2002. Sales to three customeraraed for approximately 13%, 12% and 10% oftotal product revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2003. The loss of any one og of@uch customers, or non-payment of any matanunt by these or any other
customer, would have a material adverse effect wporbusiness.

We operate with significant levels of indebtednesel are required to comply with certain financiaha non-financial covenants; we are
required to maintain a minimum level of subordinaddoans to our subsidiary Supplies Distributors; dnve are obligated to repay any
over-advance made to Supplies Distributors by ésders.
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As of December 31, 2003, our total debt ontditag, including capital lease obligations, wasragpnately $59.8 million. Certain of the
indebtedness have maturity dates in calendar Y@@, but are classified as current debt in our clidisted financial statements. We cannot
provide assurance that our indebtedness will bewed by the lending parties. Additionally, thesbtdacilities include both financial and
non{inancial covenants, many of which also includessrdefault provisions applicable to other agreeméMe cannot provide assurance
we will be able to maintain compliance with thesgenants. Any non-renewal of these debt facilitieany default under any of our
indebtedness would have a material adverse impgct aur business and financial condition. In additive have provided $8.0 million of
subordinated indebtedness to Supplies Distributbesminimum level required under certain indebesdnfacilities as of December 31, 2003,
and the maximum level that may be provided witteqproval from our lenders. The restrictions onéasing this amount without lender
approval may limit our ability to comply with ceitdoan covenants or further grow and develop Sepfistributors’ business. We have
guaranteed most of the indebtedness of SuppligsiRitrs. Furthermore, we are obligated to repay @/er-advance made to Supplies
Distributors by its lenders to the extent Suppbéstributors is unable to do so.

We face competition from many sources that couldvasely affect our business.

Many companies offer, on an individual basise or more of the same services we do, and wectamgetition from many different
sources depending upon the type and range of servégjuested by a potential client. Our competitaiside vertical outsourcers, which are
companies that offer a single function, such alsceaiters, public warehouses or credit card praxss#lany of these companies have greater
capabilities than we do for the single functionytipeovide. We also compete against transportabgistics providers who offer product
management functions as an ancillary service tio ghignary transportation services. In many ins&gour competition is the in-house
operations of our potential clients themselves. ifHeouse operations departments of potential tdieften believe that they can perform the
same services we do, while others are reluctantiteource business functions that involve direstammer contact. We cannot be certain that
we will be able to compete successfully againséeéhmr other competitors in the future.

Our sales and implementation cycles are highly \adie and our ability to finalize pending contractsay cause our operating results to
vary widely.

The sales cycle for our services is varialyjgically ranging between several months to up year from initial contact with the potential
client to the signing of a contract. Occasionatlg sales cycle requires substantially more timéay3en signing and executing client
contracts may affect our revenue and cause ouatipgresults to vary widely. We believe that agodial client’s decision to purchase our
services is discretionary, involves a significamtenitment of its resources and is influenced bgrise internal and external pricing and
operating comparisons. To successfully sell owises, we generally must educate our potentiahtdieegarding the use and benefit of our
services, which can require significant time arsbueces. Consequently, the period between initiatacct and the purchase of our services is
often long and subject to delays associated wigHeghgthy approval and competitive evaluation psses that typically accompany signific
operational decisions. Additionally, the time regdito finalize pending contracts and to implenmntsystems and integrate a new client
range from several weeks to many months. Delaggimng and integrating new clients may affect mwenue and cause our operating
results to vary widely.

We are dependent on our key personnel, and we rteddre and retain skilled personnel to sustain obusiness.

Our performance is highly dependent on thdioaad services of our executive officers and oltesr personnel, the loss of any of whom
could materially adversely affect our businessaddition, we need to attract and retain other kighilled technical and managerial persot
for whom there is intense competition. We cannstiesyou that we will be able to attract and rethépersonnel necessary for the
continuing growth of our business. Our inabilityaitract and retain qualified technical and managpersonnel would materially adversely
affect our ability to maintain and grow our busisies

We are subject to risks associated with our intetioaal operations.
We currently operate a 150,000 square fodtilligion center in Liege, Belgium and a 13,000agufoot
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distribution center in Richmond Hill, Canada, n&éaronto, both of which currently have excess cagatVe cannot assure you that we will
be successful in expanding in these or any additimernational markets. In addition to the unaietty regarding our ability to generate
revenue from foreign operations and expand ournat&®nal presence, there are risks inherent inglbusiness internationally, including:

 changing regulatory requiremen

« legal uncertainty regarding foreign laws, tariffelaother trade barrier

political instability;

potentially adverse tax consequenc
« foreign currency fluctuations; ar

cultural differences

Any one or more of these factors could maligradversely affect our business in a number ofsyauch as increased costs, operational
difficulties and reductions in revenue.

We are uncertain about our need for and the avaiiltly of additional funds.

Our future capital needs are difficult to gotdWe may require additional capital in ordeta&e advantage of unanticipated opportunities,
including strategic alliances and acquisitions enflind capital expenditures, or to respond to girambusiness conditions and unanticipated
competitive pressures. In addition, we may reqadéitional funds to finance our operating lossémuld these circumstances arise, our
existing credit facilities may be insufficient ang may need to raise additional funds either bydwaing money or issuing additional equity.
We cannot assure you that such resources will bguade or available for all of our future financimgeds. If we are successful in completing
an additional equity financing, this could resulfurther dilution to our stockholders.

We may engage in future strategic alliances or agitions that could dilute our existing stockholdgrcause us to incur significant
expenses or harm our business.

We may review strategic alliance or acquisitippportunities that would complement our currardibess or enhance our technological
capabilities. Integrating any newly acquired busses, technologies or services may be expensiviéraaeconsuming. To finance any
acquisitions, it may be necessary for us to raightianal funds through borrowing money or compigtpublic or private financings.
Additional funds may not be available on terms #ratfavorable to us and, in the case of equiyfaings, may result in dilution to our
stockholders. We may not be able to operate anyimmtjbusinesses profitably or otherwise implenmmtgrowth strategy successfully. If \
are unable to integrate any newly acquired entiiggchnologies effectively, our operating resatisld suffer. Future acquisitions by us
could also result in incremental expenses andrtigrience of debt and contingent liabilities, ahyhbich could harm our operating results.

Our business could be adversely affected by a syster equipment failure, whether our own or of oafients.

Our operations are dependent upon our aldifyrotect our distribution facilities, customensgee centers, computer and
telecommunications equipment and software systgamst damage and failures. Damage or failuresdo@mdult from fire, power loss,
equipment malfunctions, system failures, naturssiiers and other causes. If our business isupted either from accidents or the
intentional acts of others, our business could beernally adversely affected. In addition, in theet of widespread damage or failures at our
facilities, our short-term disaster recovery andtiowgency plans and insurance coverage may natffieisnt.

Our clients’ businesses may also be harmed &ny system or equipment failures we experiencthdt event, our relationship with these
clients may be adversely affected, we may loseetiokants, our ability to attract new clients maydulversely affected and we could be
exposed to liability.

Interruptions could also result from the intenal acts of others, like “hackers.” If our syst®are penetrated by computer hackers, or if
computer viruses infect our systems, our computeusd fail or proprietary information could be nmigmopriated.

If our clients suffer similar interruptions tineir operations, for any of the reasons discuabede or for others, our business could also be
adversely affected. Many of our clients’ computgstems interface with our own. If they
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suffer interruptions in their systems, the linkotar systems could be severed and sales of thadupte could be slowed or stopped.
A breach of our -commerce security measures could reduce demandforservices.

A requirement of the continued growth of e-coence is the secure transmission of confidentfarmation over public networks. A party
who is able to circumvent our security measuresdcolisappropriate proprietary information or intgst our operations. Any compromise or
elimination of our security could reduce demanddor services.

We may be required to expend significant edgitd other resources to protect against sedur#gches or to address any problem they
may cause. Because our activities involve the goeand transmission of proprietary information,tsas credit card numbers, security
breaches could damage our reputation, cause oséclients, impact our ability to attract new itgeand we could be exposed to litigation
and possible liability. Our security measures matypgrevent security breaches, and failure to presecourity breaches may disrupt our
operations.

We may be a party to litigation involving our e-comerce intellectual property rights.

In recent years, there has been significtightion in the United States involving patent antider intellectual property rights. We may be a
party to intellectual property litigation in thetfue to protect our trade secrets or know-how. éthtates patent applications are confidential
until a patent is issued and most technologieslaveloped in secret. Accordingly, we are not, aamhot be, aware of all patents or other
intellectual property rights of which our servigaay pose a risk of infringement. Others asserfiglgts against us could force us to defend
ourselves or our customers against alleged infrivege of intellectual property rights. We could insubstantial costs to prosecute or defend
any such litigation.

Risks Related to Our Industry
If the trend toward outsourcing does not continuayr business will be adversely affecte

Our business could be materially adverselgcéfd if the trend toward outsourcing declinessoerses, or if corporations bring previously
outsourced functions back in-house. Particulariyrdugeneral economic downturns, businesses mag lm-house previously outsourced
functions to avoid or delay layoffs. The contindbrceat of terrorism within the United States andbald and the potential for sustained
military action may cause disruption to commerce @conomic conditions, both domestic and foreigimictv could have a material adverse
effect upon our business and new client prospects.

Our market is subject to rapid technological changad to compete we must continually enhance ourteyss to comply with evolving
standards.

To remain competitive, we must continue toasrde and improve the responsiveness, functioretityfeatures of our services and the
underlying network infrastructure. If we are unatdedapt to changing market conditions, clienumements or emerging industry standa
our business could be adversely affected. Theriateand e-commerce environments are characterizeabid technological change, changes
in user requirements and preferences, frequentmmeduct and service introductions embodying newrtetogies and the emergence of new
industry standards and practices that could readetechnology and systems obsolete. Our succdisdepiend, in part, on our ability to both
internally develop and license leading technologiiesnhance our existing services and develop reewvices. We must continue to address
increasingly sophisticated and varied needs otbents and respond to technological advances aretging industry standards and practices
on a cost-effective and timely basis. The develagroé proprietary technology involves significaathnical and business risks. We may falil
to develop new technologies effectively or to adaptproprietary technology and systems to cliequirements or emerging industry
standards.
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Risks Related to Our Stock

Our common stock is at risk for delisting from tiéasdaq SmallCapMarket. If it is delisted, our stopkice and your liquidity may be
impacted.

Our common stock is currently listed on theséig SmallCap Market. Nasdaq has requirements tbanpany must meet in order to
remain listed on the Nasdaq SmallCap Market. Thegeirements include maintaining a minimum clodamgjprice of $1.00. The closing bid
price for our common stock has had periods of tivhen it traded below $1.00 for more than 30 conseedrading days. We currently meet
all the minimum continued listing requirements tioe Nasdaq SmallCap Market.

If we fail to maintain the standards necessafye quoted on the Nasdag SmallCap Market and@umon stock is delisted, trading in
common stock would be conducted on the OTC BullBtiard as long as we continue to file reports negiiby the Securities and Exchange
Commission. The OTC Bulletin Board is generally sidered to be a less efficient market than the BlgSmallCap Market, and our stock
price, as well as the liquidity of our common stoglay be adversely impacted as a result.

Our stock price could decline if a significant nurelb of shares become available for sale.

In November 2003 we issued in a private plasmriransaction warrants to purchase an aggrefj@@l1gl78 shares of common stock. The
shares of common stock that may be issued upowrisgesf these warrants may be resold into the pubtirket. Sales of substantial amounts
of common stock in the public market as a resuthefexercise of these warrants, or the perceftianfuture sales of these shares could
occur, could reduce the market price of our comstook and make it more difficult to sell equity sgties in the future.

The market price of our common stock may be vokatiYou may not be able to sell your shares at ooabthe price at which you
purchased such share

The trading price of our common stock may tigject to wide fluctuations in response to quatbequarter fluctuations in operating
results, announcements of material adverse evgetgral conditions in our industry or the publicrkegplace and other events or factors. In
addition, stock markets have experienced extrence pnd trading volume volatility in recent yeafFhis volatility has had a substantial eff
on the market prices of securities of many techygylelated companies for reasons frequently ureelad the operating performance of the
specific companies. These broad market fluctuatioag adversely affect the market price of our comrsimck.

Our certificate of incorporation, our bylaws, outhsreholder rights plan and Delaware law make it figult for a third party to acquire us,
despite the possible benefit to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporatiaur bylaws, our shareholder rights plan and DataWwaw could make it more difficult for a
third party to acquire us, even if doing so wouddd@neficial to our stockholders. For example,aautificate of incorporation provides for a
classified board of directors, meaning that onlgragimately one-third of our directors may be sabje re-election at each annual
stockholder meeting. Our certificate of incorpasatalso permits our Board of Directors to issue anmore series of preferred stock which
may have rights and preferences superior to thbdea@ommon stock. The ability to issue prefestatk could have the effect of delayinc
preventing a third party from acquiring us. We halso adopted a shareholder rights plan. Thesagioog could discourage takeover
attempts and could materially adversely affectptiee of our stock. In addition, because we aretiporated in Delaware, we are governec
the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware Gain€orporation Law, which may prohibit large stoolders from consummating a merger
with, or acquisition of us. These provisions magvant a merger or acquisition that would be afivadb stockholders and could limit the
price that investors would be willing to pay in tlwure for our common stock.
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Item 2. Properties
Our PFSweb business is headquartered in satefffice facility located in Plano, Texas, a Rallsuburb.

In the U.S., we operate an approximately 800 guare foot central distribution complex in Mdmsp Tennessee. This complex is located
approximately four miles from the Memphis Interoatl Airport, where both Federal Express and Uriattel Service operate large hub
facilities.

We operate a 150,000 square foot distributemter in Liege, Belgium, which contains advancisttibution systems and equipment. We
also operate a 13,000 square foot distributionezantRichmond Hill, Canada, near Toronto. We ofgecaistomer service centers in
Memphis, Tennessee; Plano, Texas; and Liege, Balgwr call center technology permits the autonatiting of calls to available
customer service representatives in several otallicenters.

All of our facilities are leased and the metielease agreements contain one or more renevti@ingp
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

None.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity and RelatedoSkholder Matters

Our common stock is listed and currently tsade the NASDAQ SmallCap Stock Market under thelsyifiPFSW.” The following table
sets forth for the period indicated the high and $ale price for the common stock as reported bysNAQ:

Price
High Low
Year Ended December 31, 20
First Quartel $0.9¢ $0.7¢
Second Quarte $0.9C $0.37
Third Quartel $0.5¢ $0.2¢
Fourth Quarte $0.54 $0.2¢
Year Ended December 31, 20
First Quarte! $0.5C $0.3¢
Second Quarte $0.7¢ $0.34
Third Quartel $2.8¢ $0.5¢
Fourth Quarte $3.2¢ $1.37

As of March 18, 2004, there were approximafB01 shareholders of which 149 were record heldéthe common stock.

We have never declared or paid cash dividendsur common stock and do not anticipate the paywiecash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. We are also otsttifrom paying dividends under our debt agreemeavithout the prior approval of our
lenders. We currently intend to retain all earnitmgfnance the further development of our busingse payment of any future cash divide
will be at the discretion of our Board of Direct@nsd will depend upon, among other things, fut@miegs, operations, capital requirements,
the general financial condition of the Company gaderal business conditions and the approval ofemglers. See “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &wbults of Operations — Liquidity and Capital Rases.”

Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
Historical Presentation
In June 2001, we announced a change in azalfy®ar end from March 31 to December 31.

The selected consolidated historical stateraBaperations data for the years ended Decemhe2)3 and 2002, and the nine months
ended December 31, 2001, and the selected consalilalance sheet data as of December 31, 20030@&dhave been derived from our
audited consolidated financial statements, andldHmiread in conjunction with those statementsrastds, which are included in this Form
10-K. The selected consolidated statement of ojpeiatiata for the years ended March 31, 2001 aff aad the selected consolidated
balance sheet data as of December 31, 2001, Marc?081 and March 31, 2000 have been derived frenandited consolidated financial
statements, and should be read in conjunction thitke statements, which are not included in thisnF0-K. The selected consolidated
statement of operations data for the twelve moatitied December 31, 2001 and nine months ended Dec&h, 2000, and the selected
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb&08@,have been derived from our unaudited inteomdensed consolidated financial
statements, and should be read in conjunction thidke statements, which are not included in thisnFt0-K.

The financial information for periods throutjie year ended March 31, 2001 herein may not nadbseeflect what our results of
operations, financial position and cash flows wcwdde been had we been a separate, stand-alotyedentng the periods presented. This is
because we made certain adjustments and allocaiioces Daisytek did not account for us as, and weewot operated as, a single stand-
alone business for the periods presented.
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The selected consolidated financial data shbalread in conjunction with “ManagemenbDiscussion and Analysis of Financial Condit
and Results of Operations,” “Risks Related to OusiBess — Our historical financial information nrayt be representative of our future
results,” and the consolidated financial statemantsnotes thereto that are included elsewhet@srForm 10-K.

Historical Selected Condensed Consolidated Finandi®ata
(In thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended Nine Months Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31 March 31,
2003 2002 2001 2001 (b) 2000 2001 2000
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations Cat
Revenues
Product revenue, n $249,23( $57,49: $ — $ — $ — $ — $57,04«
Net service fee revent 33,17¢ 35,82¢ 39,194 27,95¢ 37,017 48,25¢ 30,82¢
Other net revenu — — 497 10C 1,70C 2,097 —
Total net revenue 282,40! 93,317 39,69! 28,05 38,717 50,35¢ 87,87
Costs of revenue:
Cost of product revent 235,31° 54,34: — — — — 53,90t
Cost of service fee reven 22,84« 22,66( 25,84( 18,20¢ 26,79( 34,42 23,47
Cost of other revent — — (568) (627) 2,411 2,47 —
Total costs of revenue 258,16: 77,00% 25,57: 17,58: 29,201 36,89 77,38(
Gross profit 24,24 16,31« 14,41¢ 10,47 9,51¢ 13,46 10,49¢
Percent of revenue 8.6% 17.5% 36.3% 37.3% 24.6% 26.7% 11.9%
Selling, general and administrative exper 25,16: 27,01 23,25¢ 16,89: 18,92« 25,28t 17,76«
Severance and other termination cc — 1,213 — — — — —
Asset and lease impairmel 257 922 — — — — —
Other — — (5,14)) (5,147 — — —
Loss from operation (1,179 (12,837 (3,699 (1,280 (9,409¢) (11,827) (7,27))
Percent of revenue (0.4)% (13.7)% (9.3)% (4.6)% (24.3)% (23.5)% (8.3)%
Equity in earnings of affiliat — 1,162 — — — — —
Interest expense (income), 1 2,00¢ (161) (707) (49€) (880) (1,099) 45¢
Loss before income taxes and extraordinary (3,179 (11,509 (2,98%) (784) (8,52¢) (10,737 (7,730
Income tax expense (benef 572 94 (230) (219) 36 25 (1,799
Loss before extraordinary ite (3,74¢) (11,607 (2,75%) (565) (8,569 (10,75¢€) (5,939
Extraordinary item — gain on purchase of 51% sbére
Holdings — 203 — — — — —
Net loss $ (3,74¢) $(11,400) $(2,757) $ (56E) $(8,564) $(10,75¢) $(5,939
| | | | | | |
Per share data:
Net loss per shar
Basic and diluted (e $ (0.20 $ (0.69) $ (0.19) $ (0.09) $ (0.4§) $ (0.60) $ (0.3¢)
| | | | | | |
Weighted average number of shares outstan:
Basic and diluted (e 19,01 18,22¢ 18,00 18,03¢ 17,87( 17,87¢ 15,47¢
As of December 31, As of March 31,
2003 2002 2001 (b) 2000 2001 2000
(Unaudited)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $ 21,400 $ 16,04F  $11,18¢ $21,05¢ $19,94.  $27,97:
Total asset 108,35¢ 107,22: 51,61 58,78¢ 59,08¢ 60,40¢
Long-term obligations 3,76( 4,51¢ 5,87: 4,10( 4,35: 2,407
Shareholder equity 28,41 26,47( 36,60¢ 39,01( 37,00: 47,65(

(a) Outstanding options to purchase common shares $Web were anti-dilutive and have been excluded fiteenweighted average share
computation

(b) In June 2001, we changed our fiscal year end frcamcki 31 to December 3
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our resoftoperations and financial condition should kad in conjunction with the
consolidated financial statements and related ntdieseto appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Forward-Looking Information

We have made forward-looking statements is t@port on Form 10-K. These statements are subjeisks and uncertainties, and there
can be no guarantee that these statements wilegmle correct. Forward-looking statements inclasiimptions as to how we may perform
in the future. When we use words like “seek,” ‘&’ “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “predict,"potential,” “continue,” “will,” “may,”

“could,” “intend,” “plan,” “target” and “estimatebr similar expressions, we are making forward-logkstatements. You should understand

that the following important factors, in additiomthose set forth above or elsewhere in this Repoform 10-K, could cause our results to
differ materially from those expressed in our foré+ooking statements. These factors include:

« our ability to retain and expand relationships veftisting clients and attract and implement newntk;
« our reliance on the fees generated by the tramsaetiiume or product sales of our clier
« our reliance on our clier’ projections or transaction volume or product se
 our dependence upon our agreements with |

« our client mix, their business volumes and the geality of their busines:

« our ability to finalize pending contrac!

« the impact of strategic alliances and acquisitit

« trends in the market for our servic

* trends in -commerce

« whether we can continue and manage gro

» changes in the trend toward outsourci

* increased competitiol

« our ability to generate more revenue and achiestamable profitability

« effects of changes in profit margir

« the customer and supplier concentration of ourrtass;

« the unknown effects of possible system failuresrapid changes in technoloc
« trends in government regulation both foreign anchéstic;

« foreign currency risks and other risks of operatmépreign countries

« potential litigation;

« our dependency on key personr

« our ability to raise additional capital or obtaidétional financing; an

* our ability or the ability of our subsidiarieskiorrow under current financing arrangements anichtaia compliance with debt



covenants

We have based these statements on our caxpattations about future events. Although we kelibat the expectations reflected in our
forward-looking statements are reasonable, we dagusrantee you that these expectations actuallpeviachieved. In addition, some
forward-looking statements are based upon assungpéis to future events that may not prove to barate. Therefore, actual outcomes and
results may differ materially from what is expectedorecasted in such forward-looking statements.undertake no obligation to update
publicly any forward-looking statement for any reaseven if new information becomes available dieoevents occur in the future. There

may be additional risks that we do not currentBwias material or that are not presently knowrevaluating these statements, you should
consider various factors, including the risks setifin the section entitled “Risk Factors.”
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Overview

We are an international provider of integrdbediness process outsourcing solutions to magrdname companies seeking to maximize
their supply chain efficiencies and to extend theiditional business and e-commerce initiatives. d&rive our revenues from a broad range
of services, including professional consulting htemogy collaboration, order management, managddhesting and web development,
customer relationship management, financial sesviiceluding billing and collection services and wiag capital solutions, options kitting
and assembly services, information managementraachational fulfilment and distribution servic&¥e offer our services as an integrated
solution, which enables our clients to outsouregrtbomplete infrastructure needs to a single soard to focus on their core competencies.
Our distribution services are conducted at our tvauses and include real-time inventory managenmahtastomized picking, packing and
shipping of our clients’ customer orders. We cutlseprovide infrastructure and distribution solutfoto clients that operate in a range of
vertical markets, including technology manufactgricomputer products, printers, cosmetics, fragleds, high security collectibles,
pharmaceuticals, contemporary home furnishingsamegbptelecommunications and consumer electroaiv&ng others.

We provide these services, and earn our reyghtough two separate business segments, whighdperationally similar business
models. The first business segment is a servicesfenue model. In this segment, we do not ownuttgerlying inventory or the resulting
accounts receivable, but provide management sarficehese client-owned assets. We typically changr service fee revenue on a percent
of shipped revenue basis or a per-transaction mgih as a per-minute basis for web-enabled cstoontact center services and a per-item
basis for fulfillment services. Additional fees dniled for other services. We price our servicasdal on a variety of factors, including the
depth and complexity of the services providedamount of capital expenditures or systems custdiizaequired, the length of contract ¢
other factors.

Many of our service fee contracts involvedhrirarty vendors who provide additional serviceshsag package delivery. The costs we are
charged by these third-party vendors for theseieEs\are often passed on to our clients (and, imynsases, our clients’ customers). Our
billings for reimbursements of these and other-ofdpocket’ expenses, such as travel, shippingremdlling costs and telecommunication
charges are included in gross service fee reverherelated reimbursable costs for pass-througkredifures are reflected as pass-through
charges and reduce total gross service fee revaragnputing net service fee revenue.

Our second business segment is a productuevaodel. In this segment, we are a master distnilmf product for IBM and certain other
clients. In this capacity, we purchase, and thus,amventory. As a result, upon the sale of inventae own the accounts receivable. This
business segment requires significant working ehpgquirements, for which we have senior finandanilities to provide for up to
approximately $77 million of available financing.

For the periods prior to September 30, 198Bssquent to October 1, 2002 and currently, owmics include purchasing and reselling
client product inventory within this product revensegment. In these arrangements, our productuevsmecognized at the time product is
shipped. During this time, product revenue inclulleight costs billed to customers and is reducggpéss through customer marketing
programs. For the period from October 1, 1999 d@pt&mber 30, 2002, these IBM and other agreemesrs nestructured to provide
transaction management services only on a sereEédsis based on a percentage of shipped rev@eeéHistorical Financial Presentation.”

Growth is a key element to us achieving oturiel goals, including reaching sustainable profiitgbOur growth is driven by two main
elements: new client relationships and organic gindvom existing clients. On an overall basis, wpearienced an increase in service fee
revenues from existing clients and an increaseadyxt revenues in 2003. However, due to uncestamthe United States economic climé
lead times to close new business continue to bgelothan we would ultimately desire and our closate is difficult to predict. As such, our
new business closures for 2003 were behind our plan

As our recent growth was lower than we hagesed, we continue to monitor and control our cd3tsing 2003, we realized the benefits
of reduced costs from certain restructuring effartsde in September 2002. We continue to see sfgasooomic recovery and as such we
expect to increase certain expenses in 2004 theurt
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enhance our sales and marketing efforts.

Our expenses comprise primarily three categofi) cost of service fee revenue, 2) cost ofyrbevenue and 3) selling, general and
administrative (“SG&A”") expenses.

Cost of service fee revenueonsists primarily of compensation and relatepesses for our Web-enabled customer contact center
services, international fulfillment and distributiservices and professional consulting serviced otimer fixed and variable expenses directly
related to providing services under the terms eftfased contracts, including certain occupancyirgfodmation technology costs and
depreciation and amortization expenses.

Cost of product revenueprior to September 30, 1999, subsequent to Octbh2002 and currently, cost of product revenue istsisf the
purchase price of product sold and freight costéclvare reduced by certain reimbursable expefi$ese reimbursable expenses include
pass through customer marketing programs, direstsdéoncurred in passing on any price decreasesedftey IBM to Supplies Distributors or
its customers to cover price protection and cesdpircial bids, the cost of products provided tdaepdefective product returned by custor
and certain other expenses as defined under thenthstributor agreements.

SG&A expensesconsist primarily of compensation and related espsrior sales and marketing staff, executive, mamagt and
administrative personnel and other overhead cimeflsiding certain occupancy and information tecbigylcosts and depreciation and
amortization expenses. In addition, for the peripdsr to September 30, 1999, subsequent to Octbh2d02 and currently, certain direct
contract costs related to our IBM and other maditgributor agreements are reflected as sellingaaimndinistrative expenses.

Monitoring and controlling our available casdlances continues to be a primary focus. Our aadHiquidity positions are important
components of our financing of both current operasiand our targeted growth. During 2003 we addexit available cash and liquidity
positions through two primary transactions. Firstentered into a working capital financing agreeméth a bank that currently provides
financing for up to $5 million of eligible accourmsceivable and financing for up to $2.5 millionedyible capital expenditures. Secondly, we
completed a private placement of approximatelynilBon shares of our common stock to certain ingesthat provided net proceeds of
approximately $3.2 million.

Historical Financial Presentation

We believe our historical financial statementsy not provide a meaningful comparison to ourentrand future financial performance for
the reasons described below.

Prior to December 1999, we were a wholly-owselsidiary of Daisytek International CorporatiéDdisytek”). Our business unit was
formed in 1991 to leverage Daisytek’s core compaeenin customer service, order management, prddliitiment and distribution. From
1996 to 1999, the operations of our business ueitvprimarily focused in several Daisytek subsid@mpperating collectively as Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. (“PFS”). In June 199%eparate wholly owned subsidiary named PFSweh,dridelaware corporation, was
created to become a holding company for PFS arlitdte a December 1999 initial public offering BFSweb. PFSweb and Daisytek
completed their separation on July 6, 2000 thraugho rata distribution to Daisytek’s common staulklers of all of the shares of our
common stock that Daisytek then held.

The financial information for periods throutjie year ended March 31, 2001 may not reflect whatesults of operations, financial
position and cash flows would have been had we besaparate, stand-alone entity during the pepoelsented. This is because we made
certain adjustments and allocations since Daisgigot account for us as, and we were not opei@ted single stand-alone business for the
periods presented.

We cannot assure you that the adjustmentalachtions we made in preparing our historicalsmidated financial statements
appropriately reflect our operations during suchquks as if we had, in fact, operated as a staodeatntity or what the actual effect of our
separation from Daisytek would have been. Accorglinge cannot assure you that our historical resoiitoperations are indicative of our
future operating or financial performance.
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The financial information for periods prior $&ptember 30, 1999, subsequent to October 1, 20@2urrently, reflect product revenue
earned within our product revenue business segfr@ntcertain master distributor agreements, primavith IBM. In 1996 we entered into
an agreement with the printer supplies divisiohBd. Under this agreement, we served as an IBM aerafistributor of printer supply
products and purchased product from IBM and reswdh to IBM customers. We subsequently entereddrdionilar agreement in Europe
expanded our existing agreements to include maréyat lines. During the quarter ended Septembet 389, we, Business Supplies
Distributors (a Daisytek subsidiary — “BSD”) andMBentered into new agreements to enable PFSwetriforn to a service fee revenue
business model. Under these agreements, BSD axtedhaster distributor of various IBM products, §yékk provided financing and credit
support to BSD and PFSweb provided transaction gemant and fulfilment services to BSD. As partho$ restructuring, we transferred to
BSD the IBM product inventory we held as the madtistributor, together with our customer accouetseivable and our accounts payable
owing to IBM in respect to the product inventorys & master distributor under the original agreesjem recorded product revenue as we
sold the product to IBM customers. Similarly, owoss profit was based upon the difference betweemevenue from product sales and the
cost of purchasing the product from IBM. Under tl@sv agreements, whereby BSD acted as the masteébuisr, our revenue was service
fee revenue based on a percentage of IBM prodieg.sa

In July 2001, PFSweb and Inventory Financiagrers, LLC (“IFP”) formed Business Supplies DOmsttors Holdings, LLC (“Holdings”),
and Holdings formed a wholly-owned subsidiary, SigspDistributors, Inc. (“Supplies Distributors’PFSweb originally had a 49% voting
interest and IFP had a 51% voting interest in Hadi In September 2001, Daisytek sold its subsetiahat had been conducting the IBM
master distributor business to Holdings. Supplietributors and its subsidiaries, PFSweb and IBMed into new master distributor
agreements to replace the prior agreements. Uhdse thew agreements, Supplies Distributors arslitsidiaries act as master distributors of
various IBM products and, pursuant to a transaatiamagement services agreement between PFSwehupplieS Distributors, PFSweb
provides transaction management and fulfillmentises to Supplies Distributors. Under the agreemsiith Supplies Distributors, we
continued to recognize service fee revenue.

In October 2002, we acquired the remaining ®i8hership interest in Holdings from IFP and thuiesvaw own 100% of Holdings. As we
initially owned 49% of Holdings, the results of idaigs were not previously consolidated into ounltss Instead, our equity interest was
presented in the consolidated balance sheet astigat in affiliate and our allocation of Holdinggt income were presented in the
consolidated statement of operations as equitatiniegs of affiliate. As a result of the purchasi#ective October 1, 2002, we now
consolidate 100% of Holdings’ financial positiordamresults of operations into our consolidated foalstatements. Upon consolidation, we
now eliminate the service fee revenue earned fronsobsidiary, Supplies Distributors, as well as¢brresponding expense recorded by
Supplies Distributors in its selling, general adenistrative expense. In addition, our costs presiy reflected as cost of service fee
revenues under the service fee arrangement aregemsded on a consolidated basis as selling, gemetdaadministrative expense.
Subsequent to October 1, 2002, and currently, onsaidated revenue earned under the IBM agreenmerdfiected as product revenue.

As a result of consolidating Holdindgiancial position and results of operations, ataltrevenues arising under our new IBM agreem
will increase, as compared to the total revenusggrunder the prior IBM agreements. However, gnass profit margin as a percent of
product revenue under the new IBM agreements isil@s compared to our gross profit margin as aepeaf net service fee revenue under
the prior IBM service fee agreements.

As a result of reflecting revenue earned utidemaster distributor agreements as product tevencertain periods and as service fee
revenue in others, our historical results of openstmay not be indicative of our future operatimdinancial performance.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain histatifinancial information from our consolidatedtstaents of operations expressed as a percent
of net revenues.

Year Ended December 3:

2003 2002 2001

(Unaudited)

Product revenue, n 88.2% 61.6% —%
Gross service fee reven 13.C 37.1 107.5
Gross service fee revenue, affilii — 5.2 4.C
Total gross service fee reven 13.C 42.3 1115
Pas-through charge 1.2 (3.9 (13.0
Net service fee revenu 11.€ 38.4 98.7
Other revenu — — 1.3
Total net revenue 100.( 100.( 100.(
Cost of product revenue (as % of product reve| 94.4 94.t —
Cost of net service fee revenue (as % of net sefeie revenue 68.€ 63.5 65.¢
Cost of other revenue (as % of total reveni — — (1.9
Total costs of revenue 91.4 82.t 63.7
Gross profit 8.€ 17.t 36.2
Selling, general and administrative exper 8.¢ 28.€ 58.€
Severance and other termination c« — 1.3 —
Asset and lease impairmet 0.1 1.C —
Other — — (13.0
Loss from operation (0.9 (13.9) 9.9
Equity in earnings of affiliat — 1.2 —
Interest expens 0.8 0.€ 0.€
Interest incom (0.7 (1.7 (2.9
Loss before income taxes and extraordinary (1.7 (12.9) (7.5
Income tax expense (benel 0.2 0.1 (0.6)
Loss before extraordinary ge 1.3 (12.9 (6.9
Extraordinary gait — 0.2 —

Net loss (1.9% (12.29% (6.9%
| | |

Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared to Year Efdlecember 31, 2002

Product Revenudroduct revenue was $249.2 million for the yeareeinidecember 31, 2003, as compared to $57.5 miitiothe year
ended December 31, 2002, which reflects produesdar Supplies Distributors subsequent to its ahehstion effective October 1, 2002 (see
“Supplies Distributors”). Supplies Distributors h@t63.6 million of product revenue for the nine riftenended September 30, 2002 prior to
consolidation, or a total of $221.1 million of prad revenue for the year ended December 31, 2082irkcrease in annual product revenue
resulted primarily from the favorable impact of bange rates on our European and Canadian operationscreased sales volumes of many
existing products. In addition, product revenue Vea®rably impacted by the addition of certain maneducts and increased sales prices for
certain products.
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Net Service Fee Revenue (including service feateyaffiliate). Net service fee revenue was $33.2 million forytbar ended
December 31, 2003 as compared to $35.8 milliotHeryear ended December 31, 2001, a decreasetirfiion or 7.4%. The change in net
service fee revenue is shown below ($ millions):

Year ended December 31, 2C $35.¢
New service contract relationshi 0.2
Increase in existing client service fees from orggnowth and certain

incremental project 3.1
Elimination of service fees earned from our afféiaSupplies Distributot 4.7
Terminated clients not included in 2003 reve (1.2

Year ended December 31, 2C $33.2

|

Net service fee revenue for the year endecdéer 31, 2003 included approximately $0.9 of fm®ied from client contracts terminated
during 2003.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue was $235.3 million forykar ended December 31, 2003, as compared to $8Hich
for the year ended December 31, 2002, which refleast of product sales for Supplies Distributaissequent to its consolidation effective
October 1, 2002. Cost of product revenue as a peatgroduct revenue was 94.4% during the yeaedrdkecember 31, 2003 and 94.5%
during the year ended December 31, 2002. Suppisiliutors had $154.3 million of cost of produevenue, prior to consolidation, or a t
of $208.6 million of cost of product revenue foe thear ended December 31, 2002. Annual cost ofugtadvenue increased from the prior
year from the impact of exchange rates on our Eran@nd Canadian operations, increased volumesinf existing products. The additi
of certain new product and additional reservesrfeentory impairment for the year ended Decembe2BD3. The impact of these increases
and additional reserves were patrtially offset Hyeotinventory cost reductions from a vendor. Tisailteng gross profit margin was 5.6% and
5.5% for the year ended December 31, 2003 andtke tmnonths ended December 31, 2002, respectively.

Cost of Net Service Fee Reven@ost of net service fee revenue was $22.8 mifiiwrihe year ended December 31, 2003, as compared
$22.7 million during the year ended December 3022@n increase of $0.1 million or 0.8%. The resglservice fee gross profit was
$10.3 million or 31.1% of net service fee reverigjng the year ended December 31, 2003 as compafktB.2 million, or 36.7% of net
service fee revenue for the year ended Decemb&Q8P,. Our gross profit as a percent of net serfié@eaevenue decreased in the current
period primarily as a result of the eliminationtié service fee revenue affiliate and resultingsgnorofit from services provided under our
arrangements with Supplies Distributors due toamnsolidation in October 2002. As we add new serfée revenue in the future, we
currently intend to target the underlying contraotearn an average gross profit percentage o0f080-4

Selling, General and Administrative Expens8&&A expenses were $25.2 million for the yearezhBecember 31, 2003 or 8.9% of total
net revenues, as compared to $27.0 million, or?@&8®total revenues, for the year ended Decembe?®12. SG&A expenses decreased
from the prior year primarily due to certain resturing actions, including personnel reductionsiclvtoccurred in September 2002. In
addition, the prior year SG&A expense includedaarincremental sales and marketing costs. Thestsitvere partially offset as due to the
consolidation of Supplies Distributors, we now essiify certain costs previously characterized at afoservice fee revenue to SG&A. SG
expenses as a percentage of total net revenuesagedrfrom the prior year due to the increasetah tet revenues, resulting from the
inclusion of product sales subsequent to the catestn of Supplies Distributors effective Octolier2002. We expect SG&A expense to
increase in calendar year 2004 due primarily tataddl sales and marketing expenses and incremgrifessional fees primarily related to
compliance with the requirements of the SarbandsyOct.

Asset and Lease Impairments December 2003, we relocated our Canadian tipasawithin Toronto. In conjunction with this
relocation, we recorded an impairment expenserfaperating lease and the write-down of certaietassor the year ended December 31,
2002, we recorded $0.9 million of expense for asspairment and abandonment charges. This chalgiesego an older warehouse
management system that was upgraded to a new syadesell as the disposition of certain other assetlonger used in the business. While
we do not anticipate
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further restructuring related charges, we constaetliew our operating expenses to ensure theyhratctargeted growth levels.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate-or the year ended December 31, 2002, we recortl@dniillion of equity in earnings of affiliate that
represents our allocation of Supplies Distribut@a’nings prior to October 1, 2002. Due to the obdation of Supplies Distributors,
effective October 1, 2002, we no longer report ggjmi earnings of affiliate, on a consolidated bagr our ownership of Supplies
Distributors.

Interest Expenselnterest expense was $2.1 million for the yeateeinDecember 31, 2003 as compared to $0.8 miliothe year ended
December 31, 2002. The increase in interest expgertiee to the consolidation of Supplies Distrilvatavhich, as a distributor, requires
substantial borrowings to fund its working capitakds.

Interest Income Interest income was $0.1 million for the yearesh®ecember 31, 2003 as compared to $1.0 milliothoyear ended
December 31, 2002. Effective October 1, 2002 we report lower consolidated interest income resglfiom the elimination of interest
income from the subordinated note due to PFS frapples Distributors upon consolidating SuppliestButors, which caused the reduc
in interest income for the year ended DecembeRBQ3. Interest income decreased as compared jethreended December 31, 2002
attributable to lower interest rates earned byoash and cash equivalents and lower balances lofatescash equivalents.

Income TaxesFor the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2692 cwrded a tax provision of $0.6 million and $@iflion,
respectively, primarily associated with Suppliestbibutors’ Canadian and European operations. Wadi record an income tax benefit
associated with our consolidated net loss in o&. dperations or the net loss from our CanadiarEamdpean service fee segments. A
valuation allowance has been provided for our eftmled tax assets as of December 31, 2003, whicphramarily related to our net operati
loss carryforwards.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to Year Erdlecember 31, 2001

Product Revenuéroduct revenue was $57.5 million for the year dridecember 31, 2002, which reflects product saleStpplies
Distributors subsequent to its consolidation effecOctober 1, 2002. Supplies Distributors had $8&8illion of product revenue for the nine
months ended September 30, 2002 prior to consmimatr a total of $221.1 million of product revenior the year ended December 31,
2002.

Net Service Fee Revenue (including service feateyeaffiliate). Net service fee revenue was $35.8 million forythar ended
December 31, 2002 as compared to $39.2 milliothferyear ended December 31, 2001, a decreasebirifiion or 8.6%. The decrease in
net service fee revenue over the prior period westd the impact of certain client terminationsatendar year 2001 of $12.6 million,
primarily the Daisytek contracts discussed beloavtiplly offset by an increase in net service feeenue from existing clients of $4.7 million
and the impact of new service contract relatiorsbipb4.5 million. The increase in net servicer@aenue from existing clients would have
been $6.5 million had we not consolidated Supfissributors, and thus eliminated service fee rexgmffiliate for the three months ended
December 31, 2002. Net service fee revenue foydhe ended December 31, 2002, included $1.3 mibfaclient relationships terminated in
the year ended December 31, 2002. For the yeaddbeeember 31, 2002, net service fee revenue frastirgg clients increased from the
prior periods, primarily related to increased seeviee revenue from our largest client offset bgreases in the net service fee revenues
earned from the business activity with Suppliediiitigtors due to the consolidation in October 2002.

In conjunction with a $10.9 million sale ofistribution facility to Daisytek in May 2001, wertminated certain of our transaction
management services agreements entered into betweBaisytek and a Daisytek subsidiary. Conculyemith the closing of the facility
sale, we entered into a six-month transition seegreement to provide Daisytek with certain ftemal and information technology
services. The net impact of the changes in ouicEs\provided to Daisytek, excluding the businestvigy previously provided to BSD,
another Daisytek subsidiary, was a reduction irseetice fee revenue of $11.0 million for the yeaded December 31, 2002 as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2001.

Pursuant to the terms of our transaction mamagt services agreement with Supplies Distributeesearned service fees, which are
reported as service fee revenue, affiliate in teompanying consolidated financial statements (padhe consolidation of Holdings’ results
of operations effective October 1, 2002), of apprately
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$4.7 million, net of $0.2 million of pagkrough charges, for the year ended December 3. Rrior to becoming a related party, service
earned by PFSweb from BSD (the Daisytek subsidiagypredecessor to Supplies Distributors), assatiaith the same business activities,
were $6.0 million, net of $0.5 million of pass-thgh charges, for the year ended December 31, Fabthe year ended December 31, 2001,
our revenue was negatively impacted by lower thaitipated IBM related activity due to the trangitito Supplies Distributors from
Daisytek but was benefited by approximately $0.Bioni of service fee adjustments resulting from finalization of the Daisytek contract.

Other Revenuther revenue of $0.5 million for the year ended@mrber 31, 2001 represents the fees charged tsclreconjunction
with early contract terminations.

Cost of Product Revenu€ost of product revenue was $54.3 million for tlkaryended December 31, 2002, which reflects cgstanfuct
sales for Supplies Distributors subsequent toatsolidation effective October 1, 2002. Cost ofdurct revenue as a percent of product
revenue was 94.5% during the year ended Decemb@0B2 and zero during the year ended Decembe2(8lll,. The resulting gross profit
margin was 5.5% for the year ended December 312.28@pplies Distributors had $154.3 million of cosproduct revenue, prior to
consolidation, or a total of $208.6 million of cadtproduct revenue for the year ended Decembe2@12.

Cost of Net Service Fee Reven@ost of net service fee revenue was $22.7 mifilwrihe year ended December 31, 2002, as compared
$25.8 million during the year ended December 3012@ decrease of $3.1 million or 12.3%. The resykervice fee gross profit was
$13.2 million or 36.7% of net service fee reveriugjng the year ended December 31, 2002 as compafktB.4 million, or 34.1% of net
service fee revenue for the year ended Decembe&Q81L,. Our gross profit as a percent of net serfdeaevenue increased in the year ended
December 31, 2002, because the gross profit peagemarned on certain contracts terminated in dafgrear 2001 was lower than the
contracts operating in calendar year 2002. Thispeasally offset by $0.4 million of costs in exsesf start up fees incurred for a new client
implementation during the year ended December @02 2For the year ended December 31, 2001, ous gnasit margin was negatively
impacted by lower than anticipated IBM relatedattidue to the transition to Supplies Distributfnem Daisytek but was benefited by
approximately $0.8 million of service fee adjustiseresulting from the finalization of the Daisytetntract for which the related service
activities were performed in earlier periods.

Cost of Other Net Revenu@ost of other revenue for the year ended Decemhe2@1 of ($0.6) million primarily reflects the roefit
associated with the reversal of accruals madedpthvious years for estimated client terminatiosig that were determined to be in exce
actual costs incurred.

Selling, General and Administrative Expens8&&A expenses were $27.0 million for the yearezhBecember 31, 2002, or 28.9% of
total net revenues, as compared to $23.3 millio806% of total revenues, for the year ended Déeg81, 2001. SG&A expenses increased
over the prior year due to approximately $2.8 wiillbf technology infrastructure costs that wereiined in both periods but that were
recorded as a component of cost of service feentgvin the prior year. These technology costs weneipally dedicated to the activities tt
generated service fee revenue under the transanaoagement services contract with Daisytek, whiak terminated in November 2001. In
addition, SG&A expenses for the year ended Decer@be?001, were benefited by the favorable resmhutif certain accounts and VAT
receivables. SG&A expenses as a percentage ofetaévenues decreased from the prior year dtleetimcrease in total net revenues,
resulting from the inclusion of product sales sugjosat to the consolidation of Holdings effectivet@ber 1, 2002.

Severance and Other Terminations CoBts.the year ended December 31, 2002, we recorti@dndillion of severance and other
termination charges associated with a restructipiag to reduce costs.

Asset and Lease Impairmerfar the year ended December 31, 2002, we recor@@dndillion of expense for asset impairment and
abandonment charges. This charge relates to anwétehouse management system that was upgradedei system during the year, as
well as the disposition of certain other assetonger used in the business.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate-or the year ended December 31, 2002, we recortl@dniillion of equity in earnings of affiliate that
represents our allocation of Holdings’ earningsiptd October 1, 2002.

32




Table of Contents

Interest Expenselnterest expense was $0.8 million for the yeategihDecember 31, 2002 as compared to $0.3 milbiothe year ended
December 31, 2001. The increase in interest expertiee to the consolidation of Holdings. Intergbense, without the consolidation of
Holdings, would have been $0.4 million for the yeaded December 31, 2002, an increase comparbd {@ar ended December 31, 2001,
due to an increase in our long-term debt and ddp#ae obligations.

Interest Income Interest income was $1.0 million and $1.0 millfonthe year ended December 31, 2002 and 200dectsely. Interest
income, without the consolidation of Holdings, wabhlave been $1.2 million for the year ended Decer@be2002. Interest income increased
as compared to the year ended December 31, 2@ftutble to interest charged on our subordinédad to Supplies Distributors, which
was reflected in our consolidated results for mranths during the year ended December 31, 2008ugihrthe October 1, 2002 acquisition
date), as compared to approximately four monthsxduhe prior year, offset by lower interest rada@sned by our cash and cash equivalents
and lower balances of cash and cash equivalents.

Income TaxesFor the year ended December 31, 2002, we recadax provision of $0.1 million primarily asso@dtwith Holdings’
Canadian and European operations. We did not remoidcome tax benefit associated with our conatdid net loss in our U.S. operations or
the net loss from our Canadian and European sef@ceegments. A valuation allowance was providea@r net deferred tax assets as of
December 31, 2002, which were primarily relateduo net operating loss carryforwards. For the yeated December 31, 2001, we recorded
an income tax benefit of $0.2 million, which pririharelated to a preax loss from our Canadian operations that was tahibe carried back
prior tax years. We did not record an income taxeffie for our European pre-tax losses in the curoermprior period.

Supplies Distributors and Subsidiaries

BSD, Daisytek, IBM and us were parties to @asi master distributor agreements that had vasohisduled expiration dates through
September 2001. Under these agreements, BSD aaiffilittes Business Supplies Distributors Europ®.B“BSD Europe”), a Daisytek
subsidiary, and BSD (Canada) Inc., a Daisytek slidnsi (‘BSD Canada” and together with BSD and BSIbdpe, the “BSD Companies”),
acted as master distributors of various IBM proguéiso under these agreements, Daisytek provieaidéing and credit support to the BSD
Companies and we provided transaction managemdriuliitiment services to the BSD Companies. Indd@®01, Daisytek notified us and
IBM that it did not intend to renew these agreermeion their scheduled expiration dates.

In July 2001, Supplies Distributors formedvitisolly-owned subsidiaries Supplies Distributor&Gafhada, Inc. (“SDC”) and Supplies
Distributors S.A. (“SDSA”), a Belgium corporatioBupplies Distributors and its subsidiaries act aster distributors of various IBM and
other products and, pursuant to a transaction neanagt services agreement between us and Suppgg#Diors, we provide transaction
management and fulfillment services to Suppliegribistors, SDC and SDSA. We made an initial eqintyestment in Holdings for a 49%
voting interest, and IFP made an equity investrifmma 51% voting interest. Certain officers andedtors of PFSweb owned, individually, a
9.8% non-voting interest, and, collectively, a 488fh-voting interest, in IFP. In addition to our @gunvestment in Holdings, we have also
provided Supplies Distributors with a subordinateah that, as of December 31, 2003, had an outisigh@lance of $8.0 million and accrued
interest at a rate of approximately 10%.

On September 26, 2001, Supplies Distributarsipased all of the stock of the BSD Companiesfpurchase price of $923,000. In
conjunction with the purchase, BSD and SuppliesriDigtors were merged with Supplies Distributorgngethe surviving corporation.
Effective December 31, 2001, BSD Canada and SD@ aeralgamated, with SDC being the surviving coramna

Effective October 1, 2002, we purchased theaieing 51% interest in Holdings from IFP for $@8lion.

Pursuant to the terms of our transaction mamagt services agreement with Supplies Distributeesearned service fees, which are
reported as service fee revenue, affiliate in teompanying consolidated financial statements (padhe consolidation of Holdings’ results
of operations effective October 1, 2002), of apprmtely $4.7 million, net of $0.2 million of padsrough charges, for the year ended
December 31, 2002 and $1.4 million, net of $0.3iamlof pass-through charges, for the nine montitded December 31, 2001. For the nine
months
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ended December 31, 2001, our fees earned from B&D@isytek subsidiary and predecessor to Suppigsibutors) were $3.7 million, net
of $0.3 million of pass-through charges.

Prior to the consolidation of Holdings’ opénatresults effective October 1, 2002, we recordadinterest in Holdings’ net income, which
was allocated and distributed to the owners putsieatine terms of Holdings’ operating agreementiarnthe modified equity method, which
resulted in us recording our allocated earningdalflings or 100% of Holdingdbsses. As a result of our 100% ownership of Hadjrfuture
earnings and dividends will be allocated and p&@% to PFSweb. In May 2002, Holdings paid a $0.Hanidividend to IFP. In
December 2002, Holdings paid us a $0.4 milliondbwid. In September 2003, Holdings paid us a $0l&midividend. Pursuant to the terms
of its amended credit agreements, Holdings is atigreestricted from paying cash dividends withthe prior approval of its lenders. In
addition, no distribution may be made if, afterigg/effect thereto, the net worth of Holdings woblklless than $1.0 million.

Summarized financial information for Holdingsas follows (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2003 2002
Current assel $77,86¢ $76,94¢
Current liabilities $64,76¢ $66,09:
Subordinated debt due to PFSv $ 8,00¢ $ 8,00¢
Membe's capital $ 5,10¢ $ 2,91¢
Summarized operating results for Holdingsaéollows (in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
Net revenue: $249,23( $221,14!
Gross profit $ 13,91 $ 12,52¢
Income before taxe $ 2,61¢ $ 2,421
Net income $ 1,61: $ 1,497

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities $8s3 million for the year ended December 31, 2@0i®, primarily resulted from an increast
accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.5mdliid decreases in inventory of $2.5 million angrepaid expenses and other current
assets of $1.6 million partially offset by an irese in accounts receivable of $0.5 million. Theddelger 31, 2003, accounts payable balance
was higher than normal primarily due to the timaignvoice processing by one of our master distidouvendors. Net cash used in operating
activities was $10.1 million for the year ended Braber 31, 2002, and primarily resulted from casgtdus fund operating losses and the net
impact of increases in Holdings’ inventories of$illion from October 1, 2002 to December 31, 20@&tially offset by decreases in
accounts receivable of $2.1 million and prepaidegiges and other current assets of $1.6 millionchigtt used in operating activities was !
million for the nine months ended December 31, 2@®d primarily resulted from cash used to fundrafieg losses and the net impact of
decreases in accounts payable and accrued expErg®8 million, partially offset by a decreasepirepaid expenses and other current assets
of $5.2 million. The decrease in accounts payabteaccrued expenses was primarily attributabléeaémittance of the VAT monies due to
the predecessor of Supplies Distributors and thersal of client termination reserves, recordedx@ense in prior year, and the reversal of
deferrals applicable to the termination of the P&k transaction management services agreementshfoh the related activities occurred in

earlier periods. The decrease in other currentapsinarily related to the collection of a noteewable, a governmental grant and VAT
receivables associated with our European operations

Net cash used in investing activities for ylear ended December 31, 2003 totaled $0.2 milliesylting primarily from capital
expenditures of $1.9 million partially offset bylacrease in restricted cash of $1.7 million. Therelese in restricted cash resulted from a
refinancing of certain of our previous debt andéebhalances to remove the associated letter oit cash restrictions. Net cash provided by

investing activities for the year ended December2BD2 totaled $1.5 million, representing the egayment of $2.9 million by Supplies
Distributors of
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our subordinated loan, which totaled $8.8 milliarsaptember 30, 2002, but which is now eliminatee @ the consolidation of Holdings,
(see “Supplies Distributors”) and net cash acquineaur acquisition of the remaining 51% interefsHoldings from IFP, offset by capital
expenditures of $1.8 million. Net cash used by stivg activities for the nine months ended Decendig2001 totaled $8.1 million. The net
proceeds of $10.3 million from the sale of one wf distribution facilities to Daisytek were offdgf capital expenditures of $3.2 million, the
establishment of a restricted cash balance of $#libn to support our long-term debt and leaseficing, and a subordinated loan of
approximately $11.7 million to Supplies Distribig@nd an equity investment of $0.8 million in Halgk.

Capital expenditures have historically corglgtrimarily of additions to upgrade our managenm&iormation systems and general
expansion of our facilities, both domestic and iigmeWe expect to incur capital expenditures topgupnew contracts and anticipated future
growth opportunities. We anticipate that our tid&kestment in upgrades and additions to facilitied information technology services for the
upcoming twelve months will be approximately $2stbmillion, although additional capital expenditsireay be necessary to support the
infrastructure requirements of new clients. A portof these expenditures may be financed throughadipg or capital leases. We may elect
to modify or defer a portion of such anticipatedastments in the event that we do not achieveghenue necessary to support such
investments.

Net cash used in financing activities was apjpnately $2.9 million for the year ended DecemB®&r2003, primarily representing
$6.2 million of payments on debt and $1.0 millidrpayments on our capital lease obligations, offise$4.1 million of proceeds from the
issuance of common stock pursuant to our emplotged purchase and stock option programs and tieecgdl, 581,944 shares of our comr
stock to certain institutional investors in a ptav@lacement transaction. Net cash provided bynfimay activities was $6.5 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2002, primarily representing B6llion of proceeds from debt. Net cash provitbgdinancing activities was
$1.0 million for the nine months ended December2B01, representing the proceeds from debt and fnrenissuance of common stock
pursuant to our employee stock purchase plan difspayments on our capital lease obligations ayin@nts to acquire treasury stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, aukiwg capital increased to $21.4 million from ¥ &illion at December 31, 2002
resulting primarily from the net proceeds from #ade of our common stock in a private placememisiation and a reduction in our restric
cash balance, which resulted in a reclassificatioa portion of our previously restricted cash frarftong-term asset to a current asset. To
obtain additional financing in the future, in adulit to our current cash position, we plan to evi@warious financing alternatives including
the sale of equity, utilizing capital or operatiegses, borrowing under our own credit facilityfransferring a portion of our subordinated
loan balances due from Supplies Distributors tadtpiarties. In conjunction with certain of theseealatives, we may be required to provide
certain letters of credit to secure these arrangé&mdlo assurances can be given that we will beessful in obtaining any additional
financing or the terms thereof. We currently bedi¢glwat our cash position, financing available uraercredit facilities and funds generated
from operations (including our anticipated reveguawth and/or cost reductions to offset lower thaticipated revenue growth) will satisfy
our presently known operating cash needs, our wgrkapital and capital expenditure requirements/ease obligations, and additional
subordinated loans to Supplies Distributors, ifassary, for at least the next twelve months.

The following is a schedule of our total catual cash obligations, which is comprised of apeg leases, debt and capital leases
(including interest), as of December 31, 2003 (ilions):

Payments Due By Perioc

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than

Contractual Obligations Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years
Debt $57,54" $56,29¢ $ 1,24¢ $ — $ —
Capital lease obligatior 2,741 991 1,14¢ 602 —
Operating lease 21,85( 6,12¢ 9,571 5,99( 162
Total $82,13¢ $63,41¢ $11,96° $6,592 $162
| | | I |

In support of certain debt instruments andédsaas of December 31, 2002, we had $2.9 millimash restricted as collateral for letters of
credit. In September 2003, in connection with theeadment to our credit
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facility with Comerica, we refinanced certain detdtruments and leases. This refinancing allowetbusduce the amount of letters of credit,
and resulting restricted cash collateral to $1.lioniat December 31, 2003. The remaining lettérsredit currently expire at various dates
through March 2007, the related debt and leasgatidins termination dates. In addition, as desdrdd®ve, we have provided collateralized
guarantees to secure the repayment of certainmgsligs Distributors’ and it subsidiaries’ creditiities. Many of the debt facilities include
both financial and non-financial covenants, and @islude cross default provisions applicable teeotagreements. To the extent we fail to
comply with our debt covenants, including the ménfimancial covenant requirements and our requies@| of stockholders’ equity, and the
lenders accelerate the repayment of the crediitiaobligations, we would be required to repayathounts outstanding thereunder. Any
requirement to accelerate the repayment of thetdaeility obligations would have a material adserimpact on our financial condition and
results of operations. We can provide no assurdrateve will have the financial ability to repay af such obligations. As of December 31,
2003, we were in compliance with all debt covenanid we believe that we will maintain such comptthroughout calendar year 2004.
Furthermore, we are obligated to repay any oveaade made to Supplies Distributors or its subsikdany its lenders, in the event that
Supplies Distributors or its subsidiaries are ueabldo so. We are also required to maintain arsliteted loan to Supplies Distributors of
$7.0 million, as amended. We have to seek lendetoggpl to increase or decrease this amount. Weotlbave any other material financial
commitments.

In September 2002, we implemented a restringfyslan and terminated approximately 10% of ourkfarce. In conjunction with the
terminations and certain asset write-offs recomdiatihg the year ended December 31, 2002, we believeeduced our annual operating
expenses by approximately $5.0 to $6.0 milliong@®pared to our annual run-rate incurred in thet fix months of the year ended
December 31, 2002. In December 2003, we finalihed ¢structuring activities by relocating our Caaadperations within Toronto to
further reduce our annual operating expenses. Whalelo not anticipate further restructuring relatbdrges, we constantly review our
operating expenses to ensure they match our targedevth levels.

We currently believe that we are still opargtivith and incurring costs applicable to excessal capacity in our U.S. and European
operations. We believe that based on our curresttstaucture, as we add revenue, we will be abtot@r our reduced infrastructure costs
reach profitability. We currently estimate that tiet service fee revenue needed to leverage ostirexinfrastructure and cost structure and
reach profitability is approximately between $14lion to $13 million per quarter, including servitees earned from our subsidiary Supplies
Distributors, which are eliminated in consolidatidio assurance can be given that we can achieVeopearating levels, or that, if achieved,
we will be profitable in any particular fiscal pedi. We will reevaluate the carrying value of certai the excess long-lived warehouse
operation and information technology infrastructassets for impairment in 2004, in conjunction vath future operating plans, and
determine if additional asset impairment costs khba recognized.

In the future, we may attempt to acquire othesinesses or seek an equity or strategic padrggnerate capital or expand our services or
capabilities in connection with our efforts to growr business. Acquisitions involve certain risks ancertainties and may require additional
financing. Therefore, we can give no assurance mespect to whether we will be successful in idgimtg businesses to acquire or an equity
or strategic partner, whether we or they will béedb obtain financing to complete a transactianwbether we or they will be successful in
operating the acquired business.

On September 27, 2001, Supplies Distributacsits subsidiaries entered into short-term criadiilities with IBM Credit Corporation
(“IBM Credit”) and IBM Belgium Financial Services/& (“IBM Belgium”) to finance its distribution ofBM products. As of December 31,
2003, the subsequently amended asset-based @eitittd's provided financing for purchasing IBM gntory and certain other receivables up
to $27.5 million and up to 12.5 million Euros (appmately $15.7 million) with IBM Credit and IBM Bgium, respectively. On March 29,
2004, we amended these credit facilities to extardexpiration date through March 2005 and to redhe minimum subordinated loan
balance PFSweb is required to maintain with Supistributors to $7 million. This amendment alsovides for the reduction of the
maximum credit limit under the IBM Credit facilitp $22.5 million effective July 1, 2004, unless IBBfedit sells a participation interest in
the facility, at which time the credit limit willdoraised by the amount of the participation intengst in no event to more than $27.5 million.

In March 2002, Supplies Distributors also esleinto a loan and security agreement with Corsg@sancial Corporation (Southwest)
(“Congress”) to provide financing for up to $25 loih of eligible accounts receivables in the U.8d £€anada. The Congress facility expires
on the earlier of three years or the date on wihiehparties to
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the IBM master distributor agreement no longer afeeunder the terms of such agreement and/or IBMmger supplies products pursuant to
such agreement. In Europe, SDSA and BSD Europeeshieto a two year factoring agreement, whichsdssequently been renewed
through March 2005, with Fortis Commercial Finaht¥. (“Fortis”) to provide factoring for up to 7illion Euros (approximately

$9.4 million) (originally 10 million euros, amendedOctober 2002) of eligible accounts receivabRzrrowings under this agreement can be
either cash advances or straight loans, as defined.

These credit facilities contain cross defaudtvisions, various restrictions upon the abilifyHoldings and its subsidiaries to, among other
things, merge, consolidate, sell assets, incuthtatness, make loans and payments to related paitivide guarantees, make investments
and loans, pledge assets, make changes to cdpitkl®vnership structure and pay dividends, as agfinancial covenants, such as
annualized revenue to working capital, net prdfiérstax to revenue, minimum net worth and totabliities to tangible net worth, as defined,
and are secured by all of the assets of SupplissiBitors and its subsidiaries, as well as caiddized guaranties of Holdings and PFSweb.
Additionally, we are required to maintain a suboeded loan to Supplies Distributors of no less tBa® million, maintain restricted cash of
less than $5.0 million and a minimum shareholdeggsiity, as defined, of at least $18.0 million. Rertnore, we are obligated to repay any
over-advance made to Supplies Distributors or SD8der these facilities if Supplies Distributors, Sr SDSA are unable to do so. We
have also provided a guarantee of the obligatidé®upplies Distributors and SDSA to IBM, excluditing trade payables that are financed by
IBM Credit.

On March 28, 2003, Priority Fulfillment Seres; Inc. and Priority Fulfillment Services of Caaathc., (both whollyawned subsidiaries
PFSweb and collectively the “Borrowers”) enteretb ia two year Loan and Security Agreement with CacaeBank (“Comerica”) to provide
financing for up to $7.5 million of eligible accasreceivable in the U.S. and Canada. We enteigdghneement to supplement our existing
cash position and provide funding for our futureigtions, including our targeted growth. On Septemild, 2003, the Borrowers and
Comerica amended this agreement to provide fingnwinup to $5.0 million of eligible accounts reeadble (“Working Capital Advances”)
and financing for up to $2.5 million of eligible @gment purchases (“Equipment Advances”). Outstaméiquipment Advances under the
amended Comerica facility have a final maturityedaft September 10, 2006. The agreement contaiss default provisions, various
restrictions upon the Borrowers’ ability to, amasther things, merge, consolidate, sell assetsy inciebtedness, make loans and payments tc
related parties, make investments and loans, plasggts, make changes to capital stock ownershigtste, as well as financial covenants of
a minimum tangible net worth, as defined, and aimmim liquidity ratio, as defined. The agreemenbdisnits our ability to increase the
subordinated loan to Supplies Distributors withitwgt lender$ approval. The agreement is secured by all od$isets of the Borrowers, as v
as a guarantee of PFSweb. At December 31, 200Bad/ié2.2 million of Working Capital Advances and3tillion of Equipment Advance
outstanding under this facility. The Working CapAalvances were subsequently repaid in January .2ZD0& amendment in September 2003
allowed us to reduce certain of our existing lattgfrcredit, and thus remove restrictions on theted cash security.

On November 7, 2003, we entered into a SeesfRurchase Agreement with certain institutionaéstors in a private placement
transaction pursuant to which we issued and sollygnegate of 1,581,944 shares of our common spackyalue $.001 per share (the
“Common Stock”), at $2.16 per share, resultingnosg proceeds of $3.4 million. After deducting eng®s, the net proceeds are
approximately $3.2 million. In addition to the CommStock, the investors received one-year wartangsirchase an aggregate 525,692
shares of Common Stock at an exercise price ob3§32 share and foyrear warrants to purchase an aggregate of 395R88&s of Commo
Stock at an exercise price of $3.30 per share.\émd to use the net proceeds from this privategpfeent for general working capital
purposes.

Inventory Management

Prior to September 30, 1999, our agreemerits l8M and certain other clients were structurednaster distributor agreements. The
transaction management services we provided for UBiller these agreements included purchasing aallimgdBM product inventory to
IBM customers. During the quarter ended Septem@el 399, we restructured our agreements with IBNhabwe no longer purchased or
resold the IBM product inventory. In addition, wartsferred to Daisytek the IBM-related customeoaaots receivables, inventory and
accounts payable. As such, we did not own produwaritory while Daisytek, through its subsidiary BSDrchased and resold the product
inventory and we provided transaction managemeanticss and fulfilment services to BSD. In
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September 2001, us, our then affiliate Suppliesridistors and IBM entered into new agreements wine&upplies Distributors became the
master distributor of IBM product inventory. Effaa October 1, 2002, we purchased the remainingeostrip interest in Supplies
Distributors and as such now consolidate theirrfana position with our own.

We manage our inventories held for sale bynta@iing sufficient quantities of product to acteenigh order fill rates while at the same
time maximizing inventory turnover rates. Inventdalances will fluctuate as we add new productlifie reduce the risk of loss due to
supplier price reductions, our master distribuggnreeament provides for price protection under whighreceive credits if the supplier lowers
prices on previously purchased inventory.

Seasonality

The seasonality of our business is dependsut the seasonality of our clients’ business ardstie of their products. Accordingly, our
management must rely upon the projections of dantd in assessing quarterly variability. We bedi¢ivat with our current client mix and
their current business volumes our service feenassi activity will be at its lowest in the quareded March 31 and at its highest in the
quarter ended June 30. We anticipate that our gtagduenue will be highest during the quarter endedember 31.

We believe that results of operations for artprly period may not be indicative of the restotsany other quarter or for the full year.
Inflation

Management believes that inflation has notdathterial effect on our operations.
Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14@ctnting for Costs Associated with Exit or DisdoAetivities,” which addresses the
financial accounting and reporting for costs assed with exit or disposal activities and nullifEserging Issues Task Force (EITF) issue
No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Teination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an A¢yiyincluding Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” The adoption of thiandard did not have a material impact on ousalitiated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 45)drantor’'s Accounting and Disclosure Requiremént§&suarantees, Including
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN Noedfpires a company to recognize a liability for didigations it has undertaken in issuing a
guarantee. This liability would be recorded atitieeption of a guarantee and would be measuregiratdlue. The adoption of this statement
did not have a material effect on the consolidéiteghcial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 4&yrisolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FI8 dequires a company to consolidate a
variable interest entity if it is designated as phienary beneficiary of that entity even if the qoamy does not have a majority of voting
interests. A variable interest entity is generdiyined as an entity where its equity is unablfnance its activities or where the owners of
entity lack the risk and rewards of ownership. Phavisions of this statement apply at inceptiondoy entity created after January 31, 2003.
For an entity created before February 1, 2003ptbeisions of this interpretation must be applietha beginning of the first interim or ann
period beginning after June 15, 2003. The adopifchis statement did not have a material effectn@nconsolidated financial statements.

The FASB Emerging Issues Task Force issuedr BIO-21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements Withitiple Deliverables,to addres
certain revenue recognition issues. The guidaneeiged from EITF 00-21 addresses both the timing) @assification in accounting for
different earnings processes. The adoption ofstaitement did not have a material impact on ousalichated financial statements.

Use of Estimates
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The preparation of consolidated financialestegnts in conformity with accounting principles geaily accepted in the U.S. requires us to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities, disclosdireontingent assets and liabilities, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses, inglatimwances for the collectibility of accounts asttier receivable and the recoverability
of inventory. The recognition and allocation ofte@r operating expenses, restructuring costs andetermination of costs applicable to
client terminations in our consolidated financi@tements also required us to make estimates audh@sions. Our estimates and assumpl
are continually evaluated based on available inédimm and experience. Because the use of estinsatg@serent in the financial reporting
process, actual results could differ from estimafebere is a significant unfavorable changeueorent conditions, it would likely result in a
material adverse impact to our business, operatisglts and financial condition.

Critical Accounting Policies
Revenue and Cost Recognition

We recognize product revenue upon shipmeptaduct to customers. We permit our customerstiamedefective products (that we then
return to the manufacturer) and incorrect shipmémtsredit against other purchases and provide$timated returns and allowances. We
offer terms to our customers that we believe ardsrd for our industry.

We reflect freight costs billed to customesscamponents of product revenues. We record freigsis as a component of cost of goods
sold. We record our product costs as they are iadur

Under the master distributor agreements, WeéBW for reimbursements of certain expenses,udahg: pass through customer marketing
programs, including rebates and coop funds; ceftaight costs; direct costs incurred in passingoy price decreases offered by IBM to
Supplies Distributors or its customers to covecgprotection and certain special bids; the cogroflucts provided to replace defective
product returned by customers; and certain othperses as defined. We record a receivable for tie@sdursable amounts as they are
incurred with a corresponding reduction in eithrereintory or cost of product revenue. We also réfiass through customer marketing
programs as a reduction of product revenue.

Our service fee revenues primarily relateuo (@) distribution services, (2) order managenwarstomer care services and (3) the
reimbursement of out-of-pocket and third party exqms.

Distribution services relate primarily to imtery management, product receiving, warehousingfalfillment (i.e., picking, packing and
shipping). Service fee revenue for these activiiesrecognized as earned, which is, either (& per transaction basis or (ii) at the time of
product fulfillment, which occurs at the completiohthe distribution services.

Order management/customer care services qaliaarily to taking customer orders for our clisntroducts via various channels such as
telephone call-center, electronic or facsimile. §theervices also entail addressing customer quegsttated to orders, as well as cross-
selling/up-selling activities. The service fee mnewe is recognized as the services are rendered.dhaeged to the client are on a per
transaction basis based on either (i) a pre-detertiee per order or fee per telephone minutesrieduor (ii) are included in the product
fulfillment service fees which are recognized oadurct shipment.

Our billings for reimbursement of out-of-potk&penses, such as travel, and certain third-paitgor expenses such as shipping and
handling costs and telecommunication charges atadad in gross service fee revenue. The relaietbtgsable costs are reflected as pass-
through charges and reduce total gross serviceefemue in computing net service fee revenue.

Our cost of service fee revenue, represetitiagost to provide the services described absweciognized as incurred. Cost of service fee
revenue also includes certain costs associatedt@gtinology collaboration and ongoing technologypsutt, which include creative website
development and maintenance, web hosting, techpahtgrfacing, and other ongoing programming atitgi. These activities are primarily
performed to support the distribution and order aggament/customer care services and are recogrszedwared.
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We also perform billing services and informatimanagement services for our clients. Billingyeers and information management
services are typically not billed separately tewts because the activities are continually peréarnand the costs are insignificant and are
generally covered by other fees described aboveréftre, any revenue attributable to these servécefien included in the distribution or
order management fees that we recognize as seasiegrerformed. The service fee revenue associdtedhese activities are currently not
significant and are incidental to the above-membsgervices.

We recognize revenue, and record trade acsaangivables, pursuant to the methods describegealhen collectibility is reasonably
assured. Collectibility is evaluated on an indidatoustomer basis taking into consideration histdpayment trends, current financial
position, results of independent credit evaluatiand payment terms.

We primarily perform our services under on¢hi@e year contracts that can be terminated bgreftarty. In conjunction with these long-
term contracts we sometimes receive start-up feesvter our implementation costs, including certachnology infrastructure and
development costs. We defer the fees receiveditencklated costs, and amortize them over thefitee contract. The amortization of
deferred revenue is included as a component ofcgefee revenue. The amortization of deferred imyglietation costs is included as a cost of
service fee revenue. To the extent implementatimtse excluding certain technology infrastructurd development costs, exceed the fees
received, excess costs are expensed as incurred.

Current and non-current deferred implementatiosts are a component of prepaid expenses aadagbets, respectively. Implementation
costs associated with technology infrastructuredaklopment costs are a component of propertyegngppment. Current and non-current
deferred implementation revenues are a componeatartied expenses and other liabilities, respdgtive

Inventories

Inventories (merchandise, held for resalegfallihich are finished goods) are stated at theetoo¥ weighted average cost or market.
Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries assugspansibility for slow-moving inventory under cémtanaster distributor agreements, subject
to certain termination rights, but have the rightéturn product rendered obsolete by engineetiiagges as defined. We review inventory for
impairment on a periodic basis, but at a minimunmually. Recoverability of the inventory on handrieasured by comparison of the
carrying value of the inventory to the fair valuetoe inventory. During 2003, we agreed to certamdifications to a selected master
distributor agreement. As a result of these modifins, we reevaluated our inventory for impairneuning 2003. Based on this review, we
increased our allowance for slow moving inventeonf $0.1 million at December 31, 2002 to $1.3 millas of December 31, 2003.

In the event we and IBM do not renew the nraditgtributor agreements, we will mutually agreeagplan of disposition of Supplies
Distributors’ and its subsidiaries’ then existimyeéntory.

Inventories include merchandise in-transit ties not been received by us but that has beppesthiand invoiced by Supplies Distributors’
vendors. The corresponding payable for inventandsansit is included in debt in the accompanyiogsolidated financial statements.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For our Canadian and European operationdottad currency is the functional currency. All assand liabilities are translated at exchange
rates in effect at the end of the period, and ine@md expense items are translated at the avexabeargye rates for the period.

Historically, we deemed intercompany trangadiwith our foreign subsidiaries as long-term gtaeents part of our net investment.
Accordingly, we recorded transaction gains or lessethese intercompany transactions in other cehgmsive income (loss). Effective
September 30, 2002, due to changes in the opesatfaihe subsidiaries whereby we no longer bel@réain of these transactions to be long-
term in nature, we will include certain future irtempany transaction gains and losses in the detation of net income or loss. We will
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continue to report gains or losses on intercomgargign currency transactions that are of a longitewvestment nature as a separate
component of members’ capital.

A description of other significant accountipglicies is included in footnote 2 to the accompagyconsolidated financial statements.
ltem 7a. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about MarkRisk
We are exposed to various market risks inclgidnterest rates on our financial instrumentsfaneign exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

Our interest rate risk is limited to our oatsing balances on our inventory and working cafiitancing agreements, loan and security
agreement and factoring agreement for the finanafrigventory, accounts receivable and certain rotbeeivables, which amounted to
$56.8 million at December 31, 2003. A 100 basisipoiovement in interest rates would result in agipnately $0.3 million annualized
increase or decrease in interest expense basdé @utstanding balance of these agreements at eceh, 2003.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Currently, our foreign currency exchange ridk is primarily limited to the Canadian Dollarcathe Euro. In the future, our foreign
currency exchange risk may also include other cwies applicable to certain of our internationatm@gions. We may, from time to time,
employ derivative financial instruments to manageexposure to fluctuations in foreign currencyesaffo hedge our net investment and
intercompany payable or receivable balances indoreperations, we may enter into forward curreexghange contracts. We do not hold or
issue derivative financial instruments for tradmgposes or for speculative purposes.

Historically, we deemed intercompany trangadiwith our foreign subsidiaries as long-term gtaeents and thus part of our net
investment. Accordingly, we recorded transactiomgar losses on these intercompany transactioothgr comprehensive income (loss).
Effective September 30, 2002, due to changes iopeeations of our subsidiaries whereby we no lobgéieve certain of these transactions
to be long-term in nature, we will include certéiture intercompany transaction gains and losséisaretermination of net income or loss.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and
Shareholders of PFSweb, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of PFSweb, Inc. and subsidiaries asadrbiger 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
related consolidated statements of operationsebbitters’ equity and comprehensive loss and cas¥sffor the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002 and the ningenth period ended December 31, 2001. In connewutitinour audits of the consolidated financial staénts, w
also have audited the accompanying financial stat¢ischedules as of December 31, 2003 and 200fatite years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002 and the ninmnth period ended December 31, 2001. These cdasedi financial statements and financial staterseimédule
are the responsibility of the Company’s managent@uat.responsibility is to express an opinion orstheonsolidated financial statements
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with aud&iagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAsnerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6ig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetagaferred to above present fairly, in all matenéspects, the financial position of PFSweb,
Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 80a,2and the results of their operations and ttesh flows for the years ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the nine-monthgerided December 31, 2001 in conformity with actiogrprinciples generally
accepted in the United States of America. Alsaunopinion, the related financial statement scheslas of December 31, 2003 and 2002
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 200thantne-month period ended December 31, 2001, wbasidered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements takenvelscde, present fairly, in all material respect® thformation set forth therein.

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 13, 2004, except for Note 3 as to whiehdéite is March 29, 2004

43




Table of Contents
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share data)

December 31 December 31
2003 2002
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel $ 14,74% $ 8,59t
Restricted cas 1,091 1,01¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubsfttounts of $339 and $411 at December 31, 2003
and 2002, respective 31,65¢ 29,961
Inventories, ne 44 58¢ 46,291
Other receivable 3,091 3,417
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,417 3,00z
Total current asse 97,58¢ 92,28:
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, ne 9,58¢ 11,69t
RESTRICTED CASFH 90C 2,87¢
OTHER ASSETS 281 36€
Total asset $108,35¢ $107,22.
| |
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Current portion of lon-term debt and capital lease obligatic $ 57,08¢ $ 61,05¢
Trade accounts payak 11,99¢ 7,317
Accrued expense 5,93( 5,04z
Other current liabilitie: 1,171 2,82(
Total current liabilities 76,18: 76,23¢
LONG-TERM DEBT AND CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS, less currg portion 2,762 3,09¢
OTHER LIABILITIES 99¢ 1,42(

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $1.00 par value; 1,000,000 shard®rized; none issued and outstant — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 40,000,000 shar®azed; 21,247,941 and 18,397,983 shares
issued at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectiaetly21,161,641 and 18,311,683 outstanding at

December 31, 2003 and 2002, respecti 21 18
Additional paic-in capital 56,15¢ 52,09/
Accumulated defici (29,309 (25,557
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,62¢ —
Treasury stock at cost, 86,300 shares at Decenih@083 and 200 (85) (85)

Total shareholde’ equity 28,417 26,47(

Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $108,35¢ $107,22:

| |

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Nine
Year Ended Year Ended Months Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2003 2002 2001
REVENUES:
Product revenue, n $249,23( $ 57,49: $ —
Gross service fee reven 36,57¢ 34,65 29,95¢
Gross service fee revenue, affilii — 4,862 1,71¢
Total gross service fee reven 36,57¢ 39,51" 31,674
Less pas-through charge 3,40: 3,692 3,721
Net service fee revent 33,17¢ 35,82t 27,95!
Other revenu — 10C
Total net revenue 282,40! 93,311 28,05
COSTS OF REVENUES
Cost of product revent 235,31 54,34 —
Cost of net service fee reven 22,84 22,66( 18,20¢
Cost of other revent — — (627)
Total costs of revenue 258,16: 77,00: 17,58:
Gross profit 24,24 16,31« 10,47
SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 25,16! 27,01: 16,89:
SEVERANCE AND OTHER TERMINATION COST: — 1,21z —
ASSET AND LEASE IMPAIRMENTS 257 92z —
OTHER — — (5,14)
Loss from operation (1,179 (12,839 (1,280
EQUITY IN EARNINGS OF AFFILIATE — 1,16: —
INTEREST EXPENSE 2,12¢ 81¢€ 242
INTEREST INCOME (124) (977) (739
Loss before income taxes and extraordinary (3,179 (11,509 (784)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE (BENEFIT 572 94 (219
Loss before extraordinary ite (3,74¢) (11,609) (565)
EXTRAORDINARY ITEM — gain on purchase of 51% shafe
Holdings — 203 —
NET LOSS $ (3,746 $(11,400) $ (56%)
| | |
BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
Loss before extraordinary ite $ (0.20 $ (0.69 $ (0.09)
Extraordinary iten— gain on purchase of 51% share of Holdi — 0.01 —
Net loss $ (0.20 $ (0.63) $ (0.09)
L] L] |
WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES
OUTSTANDING:
Basic and dilute: 19,01 18,22¢ 18,03¢
L] L] |

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statemer
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(In thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Treasury Stock Total Comprehensive
Paid-In Accumulated  Comprehensive Shareholders’ Income
Shares Amount Capital Deficit Income (Loss) Shares Amount Equity (Loss)
Balance, March 31, 20C 17,907,37 $18 $50,88¢ $(13,597) $ (309 — $— $ 37,00:
Net loss — - — (565) — — — (565) $ (56%)
Reduction in costs of initii
public offering —_ — 17t — — — — 17t
Purchases of treasury stc —_ — — — — 86,30( (85) (85)
Stock based compensation
expense —_ — 704 — — — — 704
Tax benefit from exercise
of Daisytek stock optior —_ — 26 — — — — 26
Employee stock purchase
plan 236,03: — 158 — — — — 158
Other comprehensive loss
— foreign currency
translation adjustmet —_ — — — (804) — — (804) (804)
Comprehensive los $ (1,369
|
Balance, December 31, 20 18,143,40 $18 $51,94: $(14,15%) $(1,117) 86,30( $(85) $ 36,60:
Net loss - - — (11,400 — — — (11,400 $(11,400)
Stock based compensation
expense —_ — 28 — — — — 28
Employee stock purchase
plan 254,57: 124 — — — — 124
Other comprehensive
income— foreign
currency translation
adjustmen —_ — — — 1,113 — — 1,11z 1,113
Comprehensive los $(10,287)
|
Balance, December 31, 20 18,397,98 $18 $52,09¢ $(25,557) $ — 86,30( $(85) $ 26,47(
Net loss - - — (3,74¢) — — — (3,74¢ $ (3,74¢)
Stock based compensation
expense —_ — 6 — — — — 6
Employee stock purchase
plan 618,44t 1 261 — — — — 262
Proceeds from exercised
options 649,56¢ 1 61€ — — — — 61¢
Private placement of
common stocl 1,581,94. 1 3,177 — — — — 3,17¢
Other comprehensive
income— foreign
currency translation
adjustmen —_ — — — 1,62¢ — — 1,62¢ 1,62¢
Comprehensive los $ (2,119
|
Balance, December 31, 20 21,247,94 $21 $56,15¢ $(29,309) $1,62¢ 86,30( $(85) $ 28,41°
| | I | I | | I

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Year Ended Year Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2003 2002 2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $(3,74¢) $(11,400) $ (565)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pleviby (used in) operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 4,49 5,851 4,60¢
Loss on disposition of asse 32 — —
Asset and lease impairmel 257 927 —
Extraordinary gair — (209) —
Provision for doubtful accoun 351 38 17
Provision for excess and obsolete inven 1,98¢ (10) —
Deferred income taxe (139 (59 —
Equity in earnings of affiliat — (1,169 —
Non-cash compensation exper 6 28 704
Gain on sale of distribution facilit — — (5,83%)
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable (507) 2,087 38¢
Inventories, ne 2,527 (8,110 —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, otteivables and other
asset: 1,57¢ 1,62¢ 5,152
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other tamdriong-term
liabilities 2,49; 30z (9,047)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 9,33t (10,089 (4,57¢)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipm (1,989 (1,762 (3,23%)
Decrease (increase) in restricted ¢ 1,744 (15€) (2,722)
Cash acquired in acquisition of affiliate, net akb paic — 501 —
Equity investment in affiliat — — (750)
Proceeds from sale of distribution facility, 1 — — 10,29¢
Proceeds from sale of distribution equipm — 85 —
Proceeds from (loans to) affiliate, r — 2,85¢ (11,655
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi (239 1,52: (8,06¢€)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common s 4,05¢ 124 15z
Restricted cas 26¢ 78C —
Payments on capital lease obligatit (9549) (862) (55€)
Proceeds from (repayments of) debt, (6,247 6,45: 1,52¢
Purchases of treasury stc — — (85)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (2,86¢) 6,49t 1,03¢
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CAS (82) (8) 8
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASI 6,14¢ (2,079 (11,597
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric 8,59¢ 10,66¢ 22,26¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $14,74: $ 8,59 $ 10,66¢
| | |

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Non-cash investing and financing activiti
Fixed assets acquired under capital le $ 53¢ $ 84t $ 2,77



The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Overview and Basis of Presentation
PFSweb, Inc. Overvie\

In June 1999, Daisytek International Corparaij‘Daisytek”) created a separate whatiyned subsidiary named PFSweb, Inc., a Dela
corporation, to become a holding company for centdiDaisytek’s wholly-owned subsidiaries (“PFSi)dontemplation of an initial public
offering. PFSweb, Inc. and its subsidiaries aréectiVely referred to as the “Company,” while tleerh “PFSweb” refers to PFSweb, Inc. and
its subsidiaries excluding Business Supplies Diatdrs Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries.

On June 8, 2000, the Daisytek Board of Dinectpproved the separation of PFSweb from Daidyyekeans of a tax-free dividend of
Daisytek’s then remaining ownership of PFSweb afteeiving a favorable ruling from the IRS to tlifeet that the distribution by Daisytek
of its shares of PFSweb stock would be tax-fré@aisytek and to Daisytek’s shareholders for U.8efal income tax purposes. The
distribution of Daisytek’s shares of PFSweb (thpitsoff”) occurred at the close of business on BJI2000, to Daisytek shareholders of
record as of June 19, 2000.

PFSweb is an international provider of intéggebusiness process outsourcing services to rhegod name companies seeking to
maximize their supply chain efficiencies and toeext their traditional and e-commerce initiativeshie United States, Canada, and Europe.
PFSweb offers such services as professional camgulechnology collaboration, managed web hosding internet application development,
order management, web-enabled customer contaarsentistomer relationship management, financialees including billing and
collection services and working capital solutiangprmation management, option kitting and assensklyices, and international fulfillment
and distribution services.

Supplies Distributors Overvie

PFSweb, Daisytek, Business Supplies Distritsytioc., (a Daisytek subsidiary — “BSD”), and Imtational Business Machines
Corporation (“IBM”) were parties to various mastkstributor agreements that had various schedwpitaion dates through
September 2001. Under these agreements, BSD aaffilittes Business Supplies Distributors Europ¥.B“BSD Europe”), a Daisytek
subsidiary, and BSD (Canada) Inc., a Daisytek slidosi (‘BSD Canada” and together with BSD and BSibdpe, the “BSD Companies”),
acted as master distributors of various IBM aneofitoducts. Daisytek provided financing and credjiport to the BSD Companies and
PFSweb provided transaction management and fulfilinservices to the BSD Companies. On June 8, ZDdisytek notified PFSweb and
IBM that it did not intend to renew these agreemeion their scheduled expiration dates.

On July 3, 2001, PFSweb and Inventory Finamélartners, LLC (“IFP”) formed Business SuppliestBibutors Holdings, LLC
(“Holdings”), and Holdings formed a wholly-ownedbsidiary, Supplies Distributors, Inc. (“SuppliessbBibutors”). Concurrently, Supplies
Distributors formed its wholly-owned subsidiariagpplies Distributors of Canada, Inc. (“SDC") andpBlies Distributors S.A. (“SDSA”), a
Belgium corporation. Supplies Distributors, SDSASWeb and IBM entered into new master distribugweaments to replace the prior
agreements. Under the new agreements, SupplieshDists and its subsidiaries act as master digils of various products, primarily IBM
product. Pursuant to a transaction managementssraigreement between PFSweb and Supplies DistishtFSweb provides transaction
management and fulfillment services to Suppliegribigtors and its subsidiaries. On September 26128upplies Distributors purchased all
of the stock of the BSD Companies for a purchaie mf $923,000 and incurred $140,000 of acquisitosts. In conjunction with the
purchase, BSD and Supplies Distributors were mevgddSupplies Distributors being the surviving poration. Effective December 31,
2001, BSD Canada and SDC were amalgamated, witht&d(g the surviving corporation.

Supplies Distributors and SDSA have obtairertiain financing (see Note 3) that allows themutadf the working capital requirements for
the sale of primarily IBM products. Pursuant to tfemsaction management services agreements, PR8astes to Supplies Distributors,
SDC and SDSA such services as managed web
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

hosting and maintenance, procurement support, \wabled customer contact center services, custagf@ianship management, financial
services including billing and collection servicegprmation management, and international distidouservices. Additionally, IBM and
Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries havesaurtced the product demand generation to Globakdfimg Services, Inc. (‘“GMS”).
Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries, vimagements with GMS and PFSweb, sell products ittlited States, Canada and Europe.

All of the agreements between PFSweb, Holdargs Supplies Distributors and its subsidiarieseweade in the context of a related party
relationship and were negotiated in the overaltexinof PFSweb’s and Holdings’ prior arrangemerthvilBM. Although management
generally believes that the terms of these agretnaea consistent with fair market values, therelmano assurance that the prices charg
or by each company under these arrangements ateghatr or lower than the prices that may be clthtge or to, unaffiliated third parties 1
similar services.

Basis of Presentatiol

For the period from July 2001 to September2®FSweb owned 49% of Holdings and as such thétsesf Holdings were not
consolidated into the Company’s results. The Comisaadlocation of Holdings’ net income (see Noten@s presented in the consolidated
statements of operations as equity in earning$fitfite for year ended December 31, 2002 (throGgiptember 30, 2002) and the nine mo
ended December 31, 2001. Effective October 1, 2BE&Sweb purchased the remaining 51% interest idibigd from IFP for $0.3 million. £
a result of the purchase, effective October 1, 2682 Company began consolidating 100% of Holdifigsincial position and results of
operations into the Company’s consolidated findrat@ements.

In June 2001, the Company changed its fiseat from March 31 to December 31.
2. Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidatior

All intercompany accounts and transactionshaaen eliminated in consolidation. Accounts aaddactions between PFSweb and
Holdings have been eliminated as of December 313 20id 2002 and for the year ended December 3B, 20@ the three-month period
ended December 31, 2002 (see Note 1).

Investment in Affiliate

In July 2001, PFSweb purchased a 49% invedtmétoldings (see Note 9). Effective October 1020PFSweb purchased the remaining
51% ownership interest of Holdings. Prior to comdating Holdings’ financial position and resultsagerations, PFSweb recorded its interest
in Holdings’ net income, which was allocated anstrithuted to the owners pursuant to the terms dfliigs’ operating agreement, under the
modified equity method, which resulted in PFSwetprding its allocated earnings of Holdings or 108P4loldings’ losses.

In addition to the equity investment, PFSwadmnled Supplies Distributors monies in the form 8uaordinated Demand Note (the
“Subordinated Note”). Under certain new and amertdeas of certain of the Company’s debt facilitit® outstanding balance of the
Subordinated Note cannot be increased or decredgieolt prior approval of the Company’s lenderse(dite 3). As of December 31, 2003
and 2002, the outstanding balance of the Suboetingbte, which is eliminated upon the consolidatibrloldings’ financial position, was
$8.0 million.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financialestegnts in conformity with accounting principles geaily accepted in the U.S. requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfeztttae reported amounts of assets and liakslititsclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities, and the reported amounts of revenuasexpenses, including allowances for the colldiitof accounts and other receivables and
the recoverability of inventory. The recognitiordaadlocation of certain operating expenses, resiring costs (see Note 8) and the
determination of costs applicable to client terrtioves (see Note 6) in these consolidated finarstatkements also required management
estimates and assumptions. The Company’s estirmateassumptions are continually evaluated
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

based on available information and experience. Beethe use of estimates is inherent in the fimhmeporting process, actual results could
differ from estimates. If there is a significanfaworable change to current conditions, it wouketlly result in a material adverse impact to the
Company’s business, operating results and finacoiadlition.

Revenue and Cost Recognitic

The Company recognizes product revenue amdlptaost upon shipment of product to customers. Gbmpany permits its customers to
return defective products (that the Company théurme to the manufacturer) and incorrect shipmfartsredit against other purchases and
provides a reserve for estimated returns and alices The Company offers terms to its custometsttbalieves are standard for its indus

Freight costs billed to customers are refl@ete components of product revenues. Freight costsred by the Company are recorded as a
component of cost of goods sold.

Under the master distributor agreements (s#e B), the Company bills IBM for reimbursementseftain expenses, including: pass
through customer marketing programs, including teband coop funds; certain freight costs; direstincurred in passing on any price
decreases offered by IBM to Holdings or its custiante cover price protection and certain specid$jihe cost of products provided to
replace defective product returned by customerd;cantain other expenses as defined. The Compaoyd® a receivable for these
reimbursable amounts as they are incurred withr@esponding reduction in either inventory or cdgpmduct revenue. The Company also
reflects pass through customer marketing progranssraduction of product revenue.

The Company’s service fee revenues primaeilgte to its (1) distribution services, (2) ordeamagement/customer care services and
(3) the reimbursement of out-of-pocket and thirdypaxpenses.

Distribution services relate primarily to imtery management, product receiving, warehousingfalfillment (i.e., picking, packing and
shipping). Service fee revenue for these activisegcognized as earned, which is either (i) peratransaction basis or (ii) at the time of
product fulfillment, which occurs at the completiohthe distribution services.

Order management/customer care services i@iaarily to taking customer orders for the Comyparclient’s products via various
channels such as telephone call-center, electarfecsimile. These services also entail addressiistpmer questions related to orders, as
well as cross-selling/up-selling activities. Seevfee revenue for this activity is recognized a&sdérvices are rendered. Fees charged to the
client are on a per transaction basis based oardiha pre-determined fee per order or fee deptone minutes incurred, or (ii) are included
in the product fulfillment service fees that areagnized on product shipment.

The Company'’s billings for reimbursement of-oftpocket expenses, such as travel, and cettaiah-party vendor expenses such as
shipping and handling costs and telecommunicati@rges are included in gross service fee reverherdlated reimbursable costs are
reflected as pass-through charges and reducegtoiss service fee revenue in computing net sefeieeevenue.

The Company’s cost of service fee revenueesgmting the cost to provide the services destibeve, is recognized as incurred. Cost of
service fee revenue also includes certain costceded with technology collaboration and ongoiechinology support that include creative
internet application development and maintenaned, osting, technology interfacing, and other onggirogramming activities. These
activities are primarily performed to support thstigbution and order management/customer carécgsnand are recognized as incurred.

The Company also performs billing services imfiokmation management services for certain oflints. Billing services and informatir
management services are not always billed sepgiatelients because while the activities are cordlly performed, the costs may be
insignificant and covered by other fees descriiml/a. Therefore, if not billed separately, any rex@attributable to these services is
included in the distribution or order managemessfthat are recognized as services are perforniedsérvice fee revenue associated with
these activities not billed separately are curyemtit significant and are incidental to the aboventioned services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

The Company recognizes revenue, and recads Biccounts receivables, pursuant to the methestsided above, when collectibility is
reasonably assured. Collectibility is evaluatednrindividual customer basis taking into considerahistorical payment trends, current
financial position, results of independent creg#laations and payment terms.

Other revenue of $0.1 million for the nine ntfanended December 31, 2001 represents the feegech® clients in conjunction with the
early termination of certain contracts. Cost ofesttevenue for the nine months ended December(giL, &f $0.6 million reflects the benefit
associated with the reversal of accruals madedpthvious year for estimated client terminationstg that were in excess of actual costs
incurred.

The Company primarily performs its servicegemone to three year contracts that can be tetedray either party. In conjunction with
these long-term contracts, the Company sometintesves start-up fees to cover its implementaticts;ancluding certain technology
infrastructure and development costs. The Compafsrsl the fees received, and the related costsamodtizes them over the life of the
contract. The amortization of deferred revenuadsuided as a component of service fee revenueaiffwatization of deferred implementation
costs is included as a cost of service fee revefmi¢he extent implementation costs exceed therfmsved, excess costs are expensed as
incurred. The following summarizes the deferredlengentation costs and revenues (in thousands):

December 31  December 31

2003 2002
Deferred implementation cos

Current $204 $ 84:
Non-current 26 112
$23C $ 95t
| |

Deferred implementation revenu
Current 46€ 1,707
Non-current 87 241
$552 $1,94¢
| |

Current and non-current deferred implementatiosts are a component of prepaid expenses aadagbets, respectively. Implementation
costs associated with technology infrastructuredewklopment costs are a component of propertyegongpment and are not included in the
above analysis. Current and non-current deferrgaieimentation revenues are a component of otheerulinbilities and other liabilities,
respectively.

Concentration of Business and Credit Risk

Service fee revenue from Daisytek accounteadpproximately 34% of the Company’s total net rexes for the nine months ended

December 31, 2001. For the nine months ended Deme®ih 2001, excluding Daisytek, two clients act¢edrfor approximately 43% of the
Company’s revenue.

The Company’s product revenue is primarilyerated by sales of product purchased under mastebdtor agreements with one
supplier. Sales to two customers accounted forcqpiately 13% and 12% of the Company’s total pradagenues for the year ended
December 31, 2002. Service fee revenue from tvemtdiaccounted for approximately 35% and 14% ofertice fee revenue for the year
ended December 31, 2002. In addition, servicedeenue earned from Supplies Distributors prioh®®ctober 1, 2002 acquisition date
approximated 13% of net service fee revenue foyéae ended December 31, 2002. On a consolidatgs, lmme client, with multiple
relationships, accounted for approximately 22%hef Company’s total revenues for the year ended mkeee31, 2002. As of December 31,
2002, three customers/clients accounted for appratdly 39% of accounts receivable.

Sales to three customers accounted for appiadely 13%, 12% and 10% of the Company’s total pcodevenues for the year ended
December 31, 2003. Service fee revenue from tvemtdiaccounted for approximately 40% and 16% ofeetice fee revenue for year ended
December 31, 2003. On a consolidated basis, twomess/clients accounted for approximately 16% Hoib of the Company’s total
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2003f Bsa@ember 31, 2003, two customers/clients accalinteapproximately 37% of
accounts receivable.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (conti nued)

In conjunction with Supplies Distributors’ aitdl subsidiariesfinancings, PFSweb has provided certain collatdrgngarantees on behalf
Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries. Suppléstributors’ and its subsidiaries’ ability totalm financing on similar terms would be
significantly impacted without these guaranteegdifionally, since Supplies Distributors and its sidiaries have limited personnel and
physical resources, their ability to conduct busineould be materially impacted by contract tertioms by GMS.

The Company has multiple arrangements with @i is dependent upon the continuation of su@ngements. These arrangements,
which are critical to the Company’s ongoing openasi, include Supplies Distributors’ and its sulesiidis’ master distributor agreements,
Supplies Distributors’ and its subsidiaries’ woricapital financing agreements, product sales M Hisiness units, a general contractor
relationship through PFSweb’s largest client, atera master lease agreement.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents are defined as short-terfmyhlguid investments with original maturities tifree months or less.
Restricted Casl

Restricted cash includes the following itemstijousands):

December 31 December 31
2003 2002
Current:

Letters of credit securit $ 26C $ —
Customer remittance 831 21¢€
VAT collateral deposi — 80C
Total current 1,091 1,01¢

Long term:
Letters of credit securit 90C 2,87¢
Total restricted cas $1,991 $3,89¢
| [ |

The Company has cash restricted as colldi@rédtters of credit that secure certain debt @ade obligations (see Note 3). The letters of
credit currently expire at various dates throughdfi€2007.

In conjunction with certain of its financingr@ements, Supplies Distributors and its subsiesanave entered into agreements with their
banks and lenders whereby a security interest wageg to the lender for all customer remittaneegived in specified bank accounts (see
Note 3). At December 31, 2003 and 2002, these bao&unts held $0.8 million and $0.2 million, regpesty, which was restricted fc
payment to the lender against the outstanding feng debt.

To facilitate Value Added Tax (“VAT”) processgj on its inventory transactions, BSD Europe preglid bank guarantee to the Belgium
government. To secure the guarantee, the bankreeBSD Europe to maintain cash balances as calldte the guarantee. The Company’s
maximum exposure under this guarantee was $0.&mélt December 31, 2002. The guarantee was caddel2003.

Other Receivables and Liabilities

Other receivables include $3.0 million and333illion as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, re$yagt for amounts due from IBM for
billings under the master distributor agreemergs (dote 5).

During 2001, the Company received a governaigmnant for investments made in fixed assetssiiBélgium operations. At establishment,
the total grant of approximately $1.6 million waefefred and is being recognized as a reductioemetiation expense over the same period
over which the related fixed assets are being dé&tesl. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, a defemedit of $0.3 million and
$0.2 million, respectively, at each year end and $@illion and $1.0 million, respectively, at eagkar end is included in other current
liabilities and other liabilities, respectively, the accompanying consolidated balance sheetsegnelsents the unamortized portion of
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the grant. For the years ended December 31, 2002@0R2 and the nine months ended December 31, 2pptoximately $0.4 million,

$0.2 million and $0.1 million, respectively, wasognized as a reduction of depreciation expense grant was earned by the Company t
the achievement of certain minimum capital expemditequirements. Realization of the entire gragtires the Company to maintain a
certain minimum workforce through December 2004e Tompany’s management believes that the likelitbatlit would be required to
refund this grant is remote.

Inventories

Inventories (merchandise, held for resalegfallihich are finished goods) are stated at theetoe¥ weighted average cost or market.
Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries assugspansibility for slow-moving inventory under cémtanaster distributor agreements, subject
to certain termination rights, but have the rightéturn product rendered obsolete by engineetiagges, as defined (see Note 5). The
Company reviews inventory for impairment on a pgiddasis, but at a minimum, annually. Recoverghbdf the inventory on hand is
measured by comparison of the carrying value ofritientory to the fair value of the inventory. Dngi2003, the Company agreed to certain
modifications to a selected master distributor egrent. As a result of these modifications, the Camypreevaluated its inventory for
impairment during 2003. Based on this review, toenfany increased its allowance for slow moving mweey from $0.1 million as of
December 31, 2002, to $1.3 million as of Decemider2B803.

In the event PFSweb, Supplies Distributorsitmdubsidiaries and IBM terminate the masterrithigstor agreements, the parties shall
mutually agree on a plan of disposition of Suppléstributors’ and its subsidiaries’ then existingentory.

Inventories include merchandise in-transit ties not been received by the Company but thabéeas shipped and invoiced by Supplies
Distributors’ and its subsidiaries’ vendors. Theresponding payable for inventories in-transinisluded in debt in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Property and Equipmen

The components of property and equipment &eckmber 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows (inghods):

December 31 December 31
2003 2002 Depreciable Life
Furniture and fixture $ 9,25t $ 8,29¢ 5-9 years
Computer equipmet 6,42¢ 5,25¢ 2-3 years
Leasehold improvemen 5,401 4,72( 2-9 years
Purchased and capitalized software c 7,86¢ 7,14z 1-7 years
Other 28 164 3-7 years
28,97t 25,57¢
Less-accumulated depreciation and amortiza (19,38¢) (13,889
Property and equipment, r $ 9,58¢ $11,69¢
L] I

Property and equipment are stated at cosaendepreciated using the straight-line method theeestimated useful lives of the respective
assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized beeshiorter of the useful life of the related assdéhe remaining lease term.

The Company reviews long-lived assets for immpent whenever events or changes in circumstaindésate that the carrying amount of
an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverabiliagséts to be held and used is measured by a campaifithe carrying amount of an asst
future net cash flows expected to be generatetidpsset. If such assets are considered to bergdpé#ie impairment to be recognized is
measured as the amount by which the carrying amafuhe assets exceeds the fair value of the adsa@itsvalue would be determined using
appraisals, discounted cash flow analysis or sim#éduation techniques. Assets to be disposedeofegorted at the lower of the carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.

The Company’s property held under capitaldsasmount to approximately $3.1 million and $4.8iom, net of
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accumulated amortization of approximately $4.6iomilland $3.5 million, at December 31, 2003 and 2082pectively.
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions

For the Company’s Canadian and European apesathe local currency is the functional currenkl assets and liabilities are translated
at exchange rates in effect at the end of the gedind income and expense items are translatbe atverage exchange rates for the period.

Historically, the Company deemed intercomptagsactions with its foreign subsidiaries as loergn investments and part of its net
investment. Accordingly, the Company recorded cwyegains or losses on these intercompany trasecin other comprehensive income
(loss). Effective September 30, 2002, due to chaungéhe operations of the subsidiaries wherebyOibpany no longer believes certain of
these transactions to be long-term in nature, tragainy now includes certain intercompany curreraiggjand losses in the determination of
net income. Intercompany currency transaction gaimtslosses included in net loss were a net ga#® & million and a net loss of
$0.1 million for the years ended December 31, 28@82002, respectively. The Company will continueeport gains or losses on
intercompany foreign currency transactions thato@i@ long-term investment nature as a separat@opant of shareholders’ equity.

Stock Based Compensatic

The Company accounts for stock options udiegritrinsic-value method as outlined under AccmgnPrinciples Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employ(“APB No. 25") and related interpretations, inclngiFASB Interpretation No. 44ccounting for
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensatiod bnterpretation of APB No. 25ssued in March 2000 (see Note 4). Under thishou
compensation expense is recorded on the date gfdme only if the current market price of the urigiag stock exceeds the exercise price.
The exercise prices of all options granted durirgytears ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, amihgnenonths ended December 31, 2001
were equal to the market price of the Company’sroomstock at the date of grant. As such, no congimmscost was recognized during
those years for stock options granted to employsss Note 4). The following table shows the profareffect on the Company’s net loss and
loss per share as if compensation cost had beegnized for stock options based on their fair vatithe date of the grant. The pro forma
effect of stock options on the Company’s net lasgliose years may not be representative of thégonea effect for future years due to the
impact of vesting and potential future awards. @miissued under the Daisytek Plans (see Notaah)tprApril 1, 1995, were excluded from
the computation.

Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
(In thousands, except per share amount:
Net loss as reporte $(3,74¢€) $(11,400 $ (565)
Add: Stock-based non-employee compensation expeokseled in
reported net los 6 28 704
Deduct: total stock-based employee and non-emploge®ensation
benefit (expense) determined under fair value basettiod (48%) (2,236 1,94¢
Pro forma net income (loss), applicable to comntonksfor basic and
diluted computation $(4,25%) $(13,609) $2,08¢
| I |

Income (loss) per common she basic and dilute

As reportec $ (0.20) $ (0.69) $(0.03)
| I |
Pro forma $ (0.22) $ (0.75) $ 0.12

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reczaghfor the future tax consequences attributabldifferences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliiad their respective tax bases. Deferred taxsaaset liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeerytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities ohange in tax rates is recognized in income irpéréod that includes the enactment date.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s finanaistruments, which include cash and cash equival@ccounts receivable, accounts payable
and debt and capital lease obligations, approxirtegie fair values based on short terms to matunitgurrent market prices and interest rates.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is defined as the changquity (net assets) of a business enterprise glariperiod from transactions and other
events and circumstances from non-owner sourcasp@hensive loss consists of net losses and foreigency translation adjustments.

Net Loss Per Common Sha

For the years ended December 31, 2003 and, 20@2he nine-month period ended December 31,,26804tanding options to purchase
common shares of PFSweb were anti-dilutive and baea excluded from the weighted average share utatiqn (see Note 4). There are no
other potentially dilutive securities outstanding.

Cash Paid During Year

The Company made payments for interest ofapmately $1.6 million, $0.8 million and $0.2 mdl and income taxes of approximately
$0.4 million, $0.8 million and $0.1 million durirtge years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, aminigenonth period ended
December 31, 2001, respectively (see Notes 3 apd 10

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standar

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 14@ctinting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disgo&etivities,” which addresses the
financial accounting and reporting for costs assed with exit or disposal activities and nullifiémerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issue
No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Teination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an A¢yiyincluding Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” The adoption of thiandard did not have a material impact on theaated financial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 45)drantor’'s Accounting and Disclosure Requiremént§suarantees, Including
Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” FIN Noedfbires a company to recognize a liability for ¢idigations it has undertaken in issuing a
guarantee. This liability would be recorded atitieption of a guarantee and would be measuregiratdlue. The adoption of this standard
did not have a material effect on the consolidéitezhcial statements.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN No. 4yrisolidation of Variable Interest Entities.” FI8 dequires a company to consolidate a
variable interest entity if it is designated as phienary beneficiary of that entity even if the qoamy does not have a majority of voting
interests. A variable interest entity is generdifined as an entity where its equity is unablfin@nce its activities or where the owners of
entity lack the risk and rewards of ownership. &deption of this standard did not have a mateffakeon the consolidated financial
statements.

The FASB Emerging Issues Task Force issued BO-F21, “Accounting for Revenue Arrangements Withitiple Deliverables,to addres
certain revenue recognition issues. The guidaneeiged from EITF 00-21 addresses both the timing @assification in accounting for
different earnings processes. The adoption of EI0f21 did not have a material impact on the codatdid financial statements.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year data have been reclassifiesbnform to the current period presentation.seheclassifications had no effect on
previously reported net loss or shareholders’ gquit
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3. Debt and Capital Lease Obligations:

Debt and capital lease obligations consigheffollowing (in thousands):

December 31 December 31
2003 2002
Inventory and working capital financing agreeme
United State: $26,03¢ $28,17(
Europe 11,52¢ 15,21¢
Loan and security agreements, United St
Supplies Distributor 13,14¢ 12,72¢
PFSwelt 3,514 —
Factoring agreement, Euro 2,29¢ 3,202
Master lease agreemel 3,08( 4,62
Other 251 21C
Total 59,841 64,15:
Less current portion of lo-term deb 57,08¢ 61,05¢
Long-term debt, less current porti $ 2,76z $ 3,09¢
| |

Inventory and Working Capital Financing Agreementt/nited States

On September 27, 2001, Supplies Distributatered into a short-term credit facility with IBMr€tlit Corporation (“IBM Credit”) to
finance its distribution of IBM products in the Wed States, which has subsequently been amendediriiénded asset based credit facility
provides financing for eligible IBM inventory andrfcertain other receivables up to $27.5 milliod #30.5 million as of December 31, 2003
and 2002, respectively, through its expiration.oA®ecember 31, 2003, the Company had $1.5 mibioavailable credit under this facility.
The credit facility contains cross default provisovarious restrictions upon the ability of Holgsrand Supplies Distributors to, among
others, merge, consolidate, sell assets, incubted®@ess, make loans and payments to related paitimvide guarantees, make investments
and loans, pledge assets, make changes to capitkl@vnership structure and pay dividends, as agfinancial covenants, such as
annualized revenue to working capital, net prdfitratax to revenue, and total liabilities to tavlginet worth, as defined, and is secured by all
of the assets of Supplies Distributors, as wett@kteralized guaranties of Holdings and PFSwetdi#onally, PFSweb is required to
maintain a minimum Subordinated Note receivablama from Supplies Distributors of $8.0 million amdiinimum shareholders’ equity, as
defined, of $18.0 million. Borrowings under theditdacility accrue interest, after a defined ffeeancing period, at prime rate plus 1%,
which was 5% and 5.25% as of December 31, 20028648, respectively. The facility accrues a quaytedmmitment fee of 0.375% on the
unused portion of the commitment, and a monthlyiserfee.

On March 29, 2004, Supplies Distributors ezdlénto an amended credit facility with IBM CretitC (formerly IBM Credit Corporation)
The amendment extends the termination date thrMagich 29, 2005 and reduces the minimum Subordinst#d balance to $7 million. The
amendment also provides for the reduction of thgimam credit limit on the earlier of July 1, 200dthe date IBM Credit LLC sells a
participation interest in the facility (“PrincipRleduction Date”)On the Principal Reduction Date, the maximum crigdit will be reduced tc
either $22.5 million or $22.5 million plus the anmbwf any participation interest, but in no everttrmithan $27.5 million. The Company has
classified the outstanding amount under this figcils current at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Inventory and Working Capital Financing AgreemenEurope

On September 27, 2001, SDSA and BSD Europmaahinto a short-term credit facility with IBM Bglim Financial Services S.A. (“IBM
Belgium”) to finance their distribution of IBM praodts in Europe, which has subsequently been ameiittedamended asset based credit
facility with IBM Belgium currently provides up tb2.5 million Euros (approximately $15.7 million) asDecember 31, 2003 and 19 million
euros (approximately $23.9 million) at DecemberZ102, in financing for eligible IBM inventory aridr certain other receivables. As of
December 31, 2003, SDSA and BSD Europe had 1.7fom#uros ($2.1 million) of available credit undeis facility. The IBM Belgium
facility remains in force until not less than 60/davritten notice by any party, but no sooner tharch 29, 2004. The credit facility contains
cross default provisions, various restrictions ugianability of Holdings, Supplies
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Distributors, SDSA and BSD Europe to, among oth@exge, consolidate, sell assets, incur indebteximeske loans and payments to related
parties, provide guarantees, make investmentsaams] pledge assets, make changes to capital®wwrship structure and pay dividends,
as well as financial covenants, such as annuateeshue to working capital, net profit after taxéwenue and total liabilities to tangible net
worth, as defined, and is secured by all of thetassf SDSA and BSD Europe, as well as collatezdlguaranties of Supplies Distributors,
Holdings and PFSweb. Additionally, PFSweb is reggiito maintain a minimum Subordinated Note recdévhblance from Supplies
Distributors of $8.0 million and a minimum shareteis’ equity of $18.0 million. Borrowings under ttredit facility accrue interest, after a
defined free financing period, at Euribor plus 3,5%%hich was 5.7% and 6.9% as of December 31, 28632802, respectively. SDSA and
BSDE Europe pay a monthly service fee on the comanit.

On March 29, 2004, SDSA and BSDE Europe edtert® an amended credit facility with IBM Belgiurfihe amendment extends the
termination date through March 29, 2005, reducesrtterest rate to Euribor plus 2.5% and reducesrtimimum Subordinated Note balance
to $7 million. The Company has classified the artding amount under this facility as current at&eber 31, 2003 and 2002.

Loan and Security Agreemet— Supplies Distributors

On March 29, 2002, Supplies Distributors esmdeanto a loan and security agreement with Congfesncial Corporation (Southwest)
(“Congress”) to provide financing for up to $25 loih of eligible accounts receivable in the U.Sd&@anada. As of December 31, 2003,
Supplies Distributors had $0.7 million of availaltedit under this agreement. The Congress fa@hipjires on the earlier of three years or
date on which the parties to the IBM master digtiob agreement no longer operate under the termsalf agreement and/or IBM no longer
supplies products pursuant to such agreement (se=3). Borrowings under the Congress facility aednterest at prime rate plus 0.25%
(4.25% at December 31, 2003) or Eurodollar rats Bib or on an adjusted basis, as defined. Thisaw®et contains cross default provisic
various restrictions upon the ability of HoldingedaSupplies Distributors to, among other thingsrgaeconsolidate, sell assets, incur
indebtedness, make loans and payments to relateédgpgrovide guarantees, make investments amd)qdedge assets, make changes to
capital stock ownership structure and pay divideadsvell as financial covenants, such as minimethworth, as defined, and is secured by
all of the assets of Supplies Distributors, as w&seltollateralized guaranties of Holdings and PHESWeditionally, PFSweb is required to
maintain a Subordinated Note balance with Supiesributors of no less than $6.5 million and ries&d cash of less than $5.0 million, and
is restricted with regard to transactions with tesdiaparties, indebtedness and changes to cagitid stvnership structure. Supplies
Distributors and SDC entered into Blocked Accougtéements with their banks and Congress wherebgity interest was granted to
Congress for all customer remittances receivegdatisied bank accounts. At December 31, 2003 afi@ 2hese bank accounts held
$0.8 million and $0.2 million, respectively, whialas restricted for payment to Congress. The Compasyclassified the outstanding amount
under this facility as current at December 31, 28068 2002.

Loan and Security Agreemer— PFSweb

On March 28, 2003, Priority Fulfillment Seres; Inc. and Priority Fulfillment Services of Caaathc., (both whollyawned subsidiaries
PFSweb and collectively the “Borrowers”) entereth ia two year Loan and Security Agreement with CaraeBank (“Comerica
Agreement”), which was subsequently amended. Thended Comerica Agreement provides for up to $5I0omiof eligible accounts
receivable financing in the U.S. and Canada (“WagkCapital Advances”) and up to $2.5 million ofgélle equipment purchases
(“Equipment Advances”Outstanding Working Capital Advances, $2.2 millasmof December 31, 2003, accrue interest at prateeplus 1%
(5% as of December 31, 2003). Outstanding Equipradiaances, $1.3 million as of December 31, 2008w interest at prime rate plus
1.5% (5.5% as of December 31, 2003) and have brfinturity date of September 10, 2006. As of Decen#i, 2003, the Borrowers had
$2.0 million of available credit under the Worki@gpital Advance portion of this facility. In Jany&004, the Company repaid the
$2.2 million of Working Capital Advances outstarglims of December 31, 2003. The agreement conteoss default provisions, various
restrictions upon the Borrowers’ ability to, amantger things, merge, consolidate, sell assetsy inciebtedness, make loans and payments tc
related parties, make investments and loans, plasggets, make changes to capital stock ownerghigtuste, as well as financial covenants of
a minimum tangible net worth, as defined, of $18ibion and a minimum liquidity ratio, as definethe agreement restricts the amount of
the Subordinated Note to a maximum of $8.0 millibhe agreement is secured by all of the assetseedBorrowers, as well as a guarantee of
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PFSweb, Inc. The amendment requires the Borrowarsaintain a minimum cash balance of $1.25 miladComerica, but does not legally
restrict cash unless an event of default, as definecurs.

Factoring Agreement

On March 29, 2002, SDSA entered into a twa yaetoring agreement with Fortis Commercial FirmhcV. (“Fortis”) to provide factorin
for up to 7.5 million euros (approximately $9.4 lioih) (originally 10 million euros, amended in Ob&y 2002) of eligible accounts
receivables, which was subsequently renewed thr@08b. As of December 31, 2003, SDSA had approxtypdt.6 million euros
($2.0 million) of available credit under this agmeent. Borrowings under this agreement can be egihsn advances or straight loans, as
defined. Cash advances accrue interest at the ifitecest rate of Belgium banks plus .75% (7.9%fd3ecember 31, 2003), or on an adjus
basis as defined, but not lower than 6%; and sitd@ans accrue interest at Euribor plus 1.4%Herdagreement’s first year (4.45% as of
December 31, 2002) and Euribor plus 1.3% for theement’'s second year (3.4% as of December 31)2008B agreement contains various
restrictions upon the ability of SDSA to, amongestthings, merge, consolidate and incur indebtegjreesswell as financial covenants, sucl
minimum net worth. This agreement is secured byaantee of Supplies Distributors, up to a maxinoir200,000 euros. The Company has
classified the outstanding amount under this figcéls current at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Debt Covenant:

To the extent the Company fails to comply viishcovenants, including the monthly financial engnt requirements and required level of
stockholdersequity ($19.0 million), and the lenders accelethterepayment of the credit facility obligationise tCompany would be requir
to repay all amounts outstanding thereunder. Arglacation of the repayment of the credit facifitigould have a material adverse impact on
the Company’s financial condition and results oigtions and no assurance can be given that thg@&uonwould have the financial ability
to repay all of such obligations. At December 3102, the Company was in compliance with all debeoants.

PFSweb has also provided a guarantee of tigatibns of Supplies Distributors and SDSA to IB&kcluding the trade payables that are
financed by IBM credit.

Master Lease Agreemen

The Company has a Term Lease Master AgreewidntBM Credit Corporation (“Master Lease Agreertig¢hat provides for leasing or
financing transactions of equipment and other ass#dtich generally have terms of 3 to 5 years. diitstanding leasing transactions
($0.1 million and $1.0 million as of December 3@03 and 2002, respectively) are secured by théetkquipment and letters of credit (see
Note 2). The outstanding financing transactionsg$fillion and $1.4 million as of December 31, 2@0R] 2002, respectively) are securec
a letter of credit (see Note 2). In October 2088, Company refinanced certain amounts outstandidgrthe Master Lease Agreement with
an Equipment Advance under the Comerica Agreemsérith reduced the letter of credit security requiest.

The Company has a master agreement with m¢easmpany that provided for leasing transactimihsertain equipment. The amounts
outstanding under this agreement as of Decembe20®B and 2002 were $1.5 million and $1.8 millimspectively, and are secured by the
related equipment.

The Company enters into other leasing andhfiimgy agreements as needed to finance the purchasieasing of certain equipment or
other assets. Borrowings under these agreemengeaegally secured by the related equipment.
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Debt and Capital Lease Maturitie

The Company’s aggregate maturities of debsasgbent to December 31, 2003 are as follows (instiods):

Fiscal year ended December

2004 $56,29¢
2005 881
2006 367
Thereaftel —
Total $57,547

[ |

The following is a schedule of the Companfgiture minimum lease payments under the cagiteds together with the present value ¢
net minimum lease payments as of December 31, @0@Bousands):

Fiscal year ended December

2004 $ 991
2005 692
2006 45¢
2007 42t
2008 177
Thereafte —
Total minimum lease paymer $2,741
Less amount representing interest at rates rariging5.75% to 18.09 (447
Present value of net minimum lease paym 2,30C
Less: Current portio (78€)
Long-term capital lease obligatiol $1,51¢4
I

4. Stock and Stock Options
Preferred Stock Purchase Righ

On June 8, 2000, the Company’s Board of Dinsctleclared a dividend distribution of one prefdrstock purchase right (a “Right”) for
each share of the Company’s common stock outstgradinduly 6, 2000 and each share of common stsclkedsthereafter. Each Right entitles
the registered shareholders to purchase from tinegp@ny one one-thousandth of a share of preferoad stt an exercise price of $67, subject
to adjustment. The Rights are not currently exafidis but would become exercisable if certain eveoturred relating to a person or group
acquiring or attempting to acquire 15 percent orevad the Company’s outstanding shares of commacksiThe Rights expire on July 6,
2010, unless redeemed or exchanged by the Compaligre

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

On September 15, 2000, PFSweb, Inc. sharetsoddiopted the PFSweb Employee Stock PurchasgtR&atStock Purchase Plan”) that is
qualified under Section 423 of the Internal Reve@oede of 1986, to provide employees of PFSweb g@orpnity to acquire a proprietary
interest in the Company. The Stock Purchase Plaviges for acquisition of PFSweb, Inc. common statk 15% discount to the market
value. The Stock Purchase Plan permits each U.Blogae who has completed ninety days of servieddot to participate in the plan.

Eligible employees may elect to contribute up tgp&écent of their compensation with after-tax dsllap to a maximum annual contribution
of $25,000. The Company has reserved 2,000,00@sladiits common stock under the Stock Purchase Btaamended. The Stock Purchase
Plan became effective for eligible employees intSaper 2000. During the years ended December B &0d 2002, and the nine-month
period ended December 31, 2001, the Company isl@&d46, 254,574 and 236,031 shares under the Biuackase Plan, respectively. A
December 31, 2003, there were 853,571 shares bheftar further issuance under the Stock Purchéme P
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Private Placement Transactio

On November 7, 2003, the Company entereddrBecurities Purchase Agreement with certain uigiital investors in a private placem
transaction pursuant to which the Company issuddsatd an aggregate of 1,581,944 shares of its anstock, par value $.001 per share
(the “Common Stock”), at $2.16 per share, resulimgross proceeds of $3.4 million. After deductexgenses, the net proceeds were
approximately $3.2 million. In addition to the CommStock, the investors received one-year wartangsirchase an aggregate 525,692
shares of Common Stock at an exercise price oB§3? share and foyrear warrants to purchase an aggregate of 395R8&s of Commo
Stock at an exercise price of $3.30 per share.

Stock Options and Stock Option Plal
PFSweb Plan Optior

PFSweb has authorized 6,000,000 shares of constock for issuance under two 1999 stock optlangpand 35,000 shares for issuance
under a stock option agreement (the “PFSweb Plamg® PFSweb Plans provide for the granting ofritige awards in the form of stock
options to directors, executive management, keyl@yeps, and outside consultants of PFSweb. Thé tagburchase shares under the
employee stock option agreements typically vest atiree-year period. Stock options must be egedcwithin 10 years from the date of
grant. Stock options are generally issued at fairket value. The Company recorded stock based ausagien expense of $6,000, $28,000
and $7,000 in the years ended December 31, 2002@0®Iand the nine month period ended Decembe2(BMl,, respectively, in connection
with stock options to purchase an aggregate of0@/shares issued under the PFSweb Plans to normgeesl

As of December 31, 2003, there were 1,815s5@9es available for future options under the PES®tans.

The following table summarizes stock optiotivéty under the PFSweb Plans:

Weighted Average

Shares Price Per Share Exercise Price
Outstanding, March 31, 20( 2,359,35I $1.1€-$17.0C $6.54
Grantec 2,507,81! $ 0.60-$1.2C $0.91
Exercisec — $ — $ —
Cancelec (1,270,80i) $1.92-$17.0C $9.84
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,596,36 $0.6(-$16.0C $1.27
Grantec 1,090,001 $ 0.44-$0.8¢ $0.81
Exercisec — $ — $ —
Cancelec (1,080,701 $0.8(-$10.4¢ $1.2¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,605,66 $0.44-$16.0( $1.12
Granted 835,00( $ 0.3¢-$2.2¢ $0.4Z
Exercisec (328,730) $ 0.3¢-$1.92 $0.81
Cancelec (256,209 $ 0.3¢-$1.92 $1.1C
Outstanding, December 31, 20 3,855,73. $0.3¢-$16.0( $1.0C
|

PFSweb Plan options granted prior to the $ffimnd not included in the Offer, referred to eJowest one-third on the anniversary of the
date of grant and one-twelfth each quarter thezea=Sweb Plan options granted after the Spineaffluding those issued pursuant to the
Offer, generally vest one-twelfth each quarteroABecember 31, 2003 and 2002, 2,892,126 and )79 fptions were exercisable,
respectively. The weighted average fair value pares of options granted during the years endedee31, 2003 and 2002 and the nine
month period ended December 31, 2001 were $0.367%Md $0.76, respectively.
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The following table summarizes information ceming currently outstanding and exercisable PESsteck options issued under the
PFSweb Plans to PFSweb officers, directors and@mapk as of December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted
Range of Outstanding as of Remaining Average Exercisable as of Average
Exercise Prices December 31, 200: Contractual Life Exercise Price December 31, 200: Exercise Price
$ 0.3-%2.69 3,846,48: 8.C $ 0.9¢ 2,882,87 $ 1.1<
$10.4:-$16.00 9,25( 5.€ $11.0¢ 9,25( $11.0F
3,855,73: 8.C $ 1.0C 2,892,12 $ 1.1¢
| |

PFSweb Na-plan Options

Prior to the Company’s initial public offerimigscribed in Note 1, certain of the Company’s eygés had been granted Daisytek stock
options under Daisytek’s stock option compensapians (the “Daisytek Plans”). The stock optionsegally vest over a three to five-year
period from the date of grant and expire 10 yeties the date of grant.

In connection with the completion of the Spiifi-all outstanding Daisytek stock options werplaeed with substitute stock options.
Options held by PFSweb employees were replacati€aiption holder’s election made prior to the Sgiif) with either options to acquire
shares of PFSweb common stock or options to acghaees of both Daisytek common stock and PFSwetmom stock (which may be
exercised separately) (the “Unstapled Options™ti@s held by Daisytek employees were replaceth@option holder’s election made prior
to the Spin-off) with either options to acquire s#swof Daisytek common stock or Unstapled Options.

As a result of the stock option replacementpss described above, in conjunction with the -Bffion July 6, 2000, 3,479,697 non-plan
PFSweb stock options (the “PFSweb Non-plan”) weseed to PFSweb and Daisytek officers, directodseanployees.

As of December 31, 2003, 504,968 PFSweb Nan-pptions were outstanding, all of which were HBldPFSweb officers, directors and
employees.

The following table summarizes stock optiotivdty under the PFSweb Non-plan:

Weighted Average

Shares Price Per Share Exercise Price
Outstanding, March 31, 20( 3,396,84! $4.22—$10.5¢ $7.2¢F
Granted 757,34¢ $0.91—% 1.17 $0.92
Exercisec — $ — $ —
Cancelec (2,722,69) $1.17—8$10.5¢ $6.87
Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,431,50. $0.91—$10.5¢ $1.1¢F
Grantec — $ — $ —
Exercisec — $ — $ —
Cancelec (246,699) $0.91—$10.5¢ $1.5¢
Outstanding, December 31, 20 1,184,80 $0.91—%10.5¢ $1.0t
Grantec — $ — $ —
Exercisec (320,83 $0.91—$ 1.17 $1.1C
Cancelec (359,00) $0.91—%$ 1.17 $1.1¢€
Outstanding, December 31, 20 504,96¢ $0.91—%10.5¢ $0.9¢
|

The weighted average fair values of optiorstgd during the nine months ended December 31, 2@8 $0.77. As of December 31, 2(
and 2002, 504,968 and 1,184,807 of options outgigndere exercisable, respective
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The following table summarizes information ceming PFSweb Non-plan options outstanding andcesable as of December 31, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Outstanding as of Average Weighted Exercisable as of Weighted
Range of December 31 Remaining Average December 31 Average
Exercise Prices 2003 Contractual Life Exercise Price 2003 Exercise Price
$ 0.9 502,16¢ 7.8 $0.91 502,16¢ $0.91
$5.7¢-$10.5¢ 2,79¢ 3.8 $8.3¢t 2,79¢ $8.3¢
504,96¢ 7.9 $0.9¢ 504,96¢ $0.9¢
| |

Offer to Exchange

On April 30, 2001, the Company filed a Ten@dfer Statement on Schedule TO (the “Schedule Télgting to the Company’s offer to
exchange certain options to purchase shares ofiitenon stock held by certain PFSweb officers, tliinscand employees for new options to
purchase shares of its common stock at a per ghigeeequal to the fair market value of one shdiisscommon stock on the date of
issuance, which occurred on December 5, 2001, tipterms and subject to the conditions in the Qffe&exchange (the “Offer”) dated
April 30, 2001. On May 29, 2001, the Offer expirat the Company accepted for exchange optionsrthase 3,753,044 shares of common
stock, 2,663,544 of which were PFSweb Non-planomstiand 1,089,500 were PFSweb Plan options. On29a2001, the Company also
repriced and fully vested 105,000 options issuedkuthe PFSweb Plans and 698,860 PFSweb Non-ptaonsgeld by Daisytek officers,
directors and employees and non-employees whiclteesin a non-cash stock compensation charge apmately $0.7 million.

Pursuant to the terms of the Offer, on DecarBb2001, the Company granted 3,184,963 optiowsficers, directors and employees of
PFSweb, 2,462,614 of which were issued as PFSvaebdpitions and 722,349 were issued as plan-options. At issuance, pursuant to te
of the Offer, 658,000 of the PFSweb Plan optiorgs 298,000 of the Non-plan options were 75% vestethe date of issuance with the
remaining 25% vesting quarterly over one year gB804,614 of the PFSweb Plan options and 429,348e0Non-plan options vested
quarterly over one year.

Fair Value

The fair value of each option grant is estedabn the date of grant using the Black-Schole®wogiricing model with the following
assumptions used for grants of PFSweb options 8wk officers, directors, and employees under B@web Plans:

Year Ended Year Ended Nine Months Endec
December 31, 200 December 31, 20C December 31, 200z
Expected dividend yiel — — —
Expected stock price volatilil 115%- 118% 112%- 114% 117%- 126%
Risk-free interest rat 3.4%-4.3% 5.1% 4.6%- 5.3%
Expected life of options (year 5 £ £

The fair value of each option grant is estedabn the date of grant using the Black-Schole®wogiricing model with the following
assumptions used for grants of PFSweb options 8web officers, directors, and employees and a Bekgyirector under the PFSweb Non-
Plan during fiscal the nine months ended DecembgeP@01: no dividends; expected volatility betwddi@% and 124%, risk-free interest rate
ranging between 4.9% and 5.5%, and expected lifeyafars.

5. Master Distributor Agreements:

In August 2001, Supplies Distributors, SDSASWeb and IBM entered into master distributor agwe@s whereby Supplies Distributors
and its subsidiaries act as master distributorsdbus IBM products and PFSweb provides transactianagement and fulfillment services
to Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries. Wester distributor agreements expire in March 2886 can be extended for additional one-
year terms upon mutual agreement by all partiesledthe master distributor agreements, IBM seliglpct to Supplies Distributors a
SDSA and reimburses Supplies Distributors and SEfAertain freight costs, direct costs incurregh@ssing on any price decreases offered
by IBM to Supplies Distributors, SDSA or its custers to cover price protection a
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certain special bids, the cost of products provigeplace defective product returned by custorardsother certain expenses as defined.
Supplies Distributors and its subsidiaries canrreta IBM product rendered obsolete by IBM engimegichanges after customer demand
ends. IBM determines when a product is obsolet®l, IBupplies Distributors and SDSA also have vedgaeements under which IBM
reimburses or collects from Supplies Distributar§S®SA amounts calculated in certain inventory eaftistments.

Supplies Distributors and its subsidiariesspgasough to customers marketing programs spedifielBM and administer, along with GM
such programs according to IBM guidelines.

6. Transactions with Daisytek

On May 25, 2001, PFSweb completed the saterthin assets to Daisytek pursuant to an AssehBae Agreement (the “Purchase
Agreement”) (See Note 7). The Purchase Agreemehided a termination by PFSweb and Daisytek of@etransaction management
services agreements previously entered into bet®&&web and Daisytek and a Daisytek subsidiaryc@uoently with the closing of the
asset sale, PFSweb and Daisytek also entered sikeraonth transition services agreement under wRiESweb provided Daisytek with
certain transitional and information technologywsmas that expired in November 2001.

Through September 2001, the consolidated fighstatements include service fee revenues astdofervice fee revenues for certain
services subcontracted to PFSweb by Daisytek ubDdisytek’s contractual agreements.

Service fee revenues charged to Daisytek ufideertain IBM master distributor agreements), @irms of the transaction management
services agreement with Daisytek, (iii) for certairbcontracted services, and (iv) for certain @atisn and information technology services,
were $9.6 million for the nine months ended Decan®ie 2001.

As of December 31, 2001, the Company was ngdoparty to any agreement to provide serviceD&osytek, however, through its mas
distributor relationships operated by Supplies fihstors, the Company continued to buy and setiaieiproduct from Daisytek. As of
December 31, 2003, the Company no longer buyslisr®duct from Daisytek or any Daisytek-owned sidiary.

7. Disposition and Impairment of Assets and Leases

On May 25, 2001, PFSweb completed the saterfin assets to Daisytek pursuant to the Purchgseement. Under the Purchase
Agreement, PFSweb transferred and sold to Daisygeiain distribution and fulfillment assets, indlugl equipment and fixtures, that were
previously used by PFSweb to provide outsourcimgices to Daisytek. Daisytek also assumed cer&ated equipment leases and a
warehouse lease and hired certain employees wh® agsociated with the warehouse facility. The @w@rsition payable under the Purchase
Agreement of $11.0 million included a termination®FSweb and Daisytek of certain transaction managé services agreements previol
entered into between PFSweb and Daisytek and gtekisubsidiary. Proceeds of $10.9 million weresieed for assets with an
approximately $4.5 million net book value with aukting $5.8 million gain, after closing costs &.& million. Concurrently with the closing
of the asset sale, PFSweb and Daisytek also enteed six-month transition services agreementunchich PFSweb provided Daisytek
with certain transitional and information technota&grvices.

Unaudited pro forma revenues and pro forma fasm operations for the nine months ended Dece®ibe2001, assuming the transaction
had occurred in April 2001, would have been $22il0an and ($10.4) million, respectively. The prorfna data do not give effect to any fees
earned by PFSweb for services provided to Daisyteler a six-month transition services agreememredtinto on May 25, 2001 or the
effect of the $5.8 million gain on the sale of #esets. Additionally, these pro forma adjustmentaat consider certain infrastructure costs,
such as operating costs associated with the intiem#echnology function, salaries of certain maragnt and personnel, telephone and |
costs, and depreciation expense which supportedtisiness but that will continue in the futurec®ese these ongoing costs were not
considered, the pro forma adjustments to the lmsa bperations are not indicative of the overaltgimaearned under these transaction
management services agreements.

In September 2002, the Company changed thaenam which certain warehouse and order management
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transactions are processed. These changes eliahitmgtéuture service potential of selected softvaplications to the Company.
Accordingly, the Company recorded a $0.7 millioaeismpairment charge during the year ended Dece81he2002. The Company also
abandoned certain distribution center assets amatded a $0.2 million asset impairment charge dyitie year ended December 31, 2002. In
December 2003, the Company relocated its Canagliarations within Toronto. In conjunction with thiocation, the Company entered into
a sublease agreement on the former facility adessgwr, and a sublease agreement on the newyaslsub-lessee. As such, the Company
recorded an impairment expense for the operatimgelen the former facility and the write-down oftai assets of approximately

$0.3 million during the year ended December 313200

The Company continues to operate with exchgsipal infrastructure in its warehouse operatiand information technology systems. The
Company reviewed the carrying amount of certaithefe excess long-lived assets for impairment aietichined no further impairment
charges were required at December 31, 2003. Thep@aynwill reevaluate such assets in calendar yed4,2n conjunction with its future
operating plans, to determine if any additionakagapairment charges should be recognized.

8. Restructuring

In September 2002, the Company implementestaucturing plan that resulted in the terminattbapproximately 60 employees, of
which 20 were hourly employees. The Company reabfife? million for severance and other terminatiosts, of which $0.3 million and
$0.8 million was paid during the years ended Deaarshi, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The remainthg #illion is included in accrued
expenses and is expected to be paid by March 2004.

9. Supplies Distributors and Other Related Parties
Supplies Distributors and Subsidiarie

In September 2001, PFSweb made an equitytimesg of $0.75 million in Holdings, for a 49% vdagimterest, and IFP made an equity
investment of $0.25 million in Holdings for a 51%ting interest. Certain officers and directors BSweb owned, individually, a 9.8% non-
voting interest, and, collectively, a 49% non-vgtinterest, in IFP. Effective October 1, 2002, PEBwwurchased the remaining 51% interest
in Holdings from IFP for $0.3 million. As the acgeil proportionate share of the fair value of Hoddimet assets was greater than the
purchase price, the Company recognized an extramdgain on the purchase of $0.2 million in aceoake with SFAS No. 141.

Pursuant to the terms of PFSweb’s transactianagement services agreements with Supplies Risbrs and its subsidiaries, PFSweb
earned service fees, which, prior to the consabidagffective October 1, 2002 are reported as serfge revenue, affiliate in the
accompanying consolidated financial statementappfoximately $4.7 million, net of $0.2 million pass-through charges, and $1.4 million,
net of $0.3 million of pass-through charges, f& ylear ended December 31, 2002, and the nine menttexi December 31, 2001,
respectively. For the nine months ended Decembe2@11, PFSweb fees earned from BSD (the Daisytbkidiary and predecessor to
Supplies Distributors) were $3.7 million, net of $@nillion of pass-through charges.

Pursuant to Holdings’ operating agreemengrgn the October 1, 2002 acquisition date, Holdiaiocated its earnings and distributed its
cash flow, as defined, in the following order oiopity: first, to IFP until it received a one-tirenount equal to its capital contribution of
$0.25 million; second, to IFP until it received@mount equal to a 35% cumulative annual returrtoaapital contribution; third, to PFSweb
until it received a one-time amount equal to itgitzd contribution of $0.75 million; fourth, to PR&b until it received an amount equal to a
35% cumulative annual return on its capital conttidn; and fifth, to PFSweb and IFP, pro rata,éoadance with their respective capital
accounts. As a result of PFSweb’s 100% ownershhpaddings, future earnings and dividends will bleedted and paid 100% to PFSweb. In
addition, no distribution can be made if, afteriggyveffect thereto, the net worth of Holdings wobllless than $1.0 million. At December
2003, Holdings’ net worth was $5.1 million. Undeetterms of its amended credit agreements, Holdigsrrently restricted from paying
annual cash dividends without the prior approvatofenders (see Note 3). In May 2002, Holdingisl @a$0.2 million dividend to IFP. In
December 2002, Holdings paid a $0.4 million dividéa PFSweb. In September 2003, Holdings paid & $lion dividend to PFSweb.
PFSweb recorded $1.2 million of equity in the eagsiof Holdings, prior to the
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October 1, 2002 acquisition, for the year endededier 31, 2002.

The following summarizes the purchase prigacation of PFSweb’s purchase of the remaining $it&rest in Holdings from IFP (in

thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents (including restrictet 08$1,745  $ 2,57¢

Accounts receivabl 28,11(
Inventories 37,19:¢
Prepaid expenst 684
Other assets, n 284
Total assets acquire $68,84¢
Trade accounts payat $ 3,611
Accrued expense 1,901
Debt (guaranteed by PFSwe 48,82:¢
Other deb 3,07(
Note payable to affiliat 8,80(
Total liabilities assume 66,20¢
Net asset 2,64¢
Less PFSwe’s prior investmer 2,10¢
Net assets acquire 53t
Less cash purchase pri 332
Extraordinary gain on purcha $ 208
|
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As a result of PFSweb’s purchase of the remgiB1% interest in Holdings from IFP, effectivet@wer 1, 2002, PFSweb began
consolidating 100% of Holdings’ and its subsidiarignancial position and results of operation®itite Company’s consolidated financial
statements. Following is (1) an unaudited, pro foroondensed consolidating income statement foiuthealendar year 2002, as if the
acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2002(2ndn unaudited, pro forma, condensed consolidatsome statement for the nine months
ended December 31, 2001 (including Holdings’ aaditbsidiaries’ results of operations for the pkfiom July 3, 2001, inception, to
December 31, 2001), as if the acquisition had aoeduas of April 1, 2001, (in thousands):

Nine Months
Ended
December 31
Calendar Year 2002 2001
Pro Forma Pro Forma Pro Forma
PFSweb Holdings Adjustments Consolidated Consolidated
Revenues
Gross product revent $ —  $221,14! $ — $221,14! $ 73,05:
Gross service fee reven 34,65¢ — — 34,65 29,95¢
Gross service fee revenue, affilii 6,67¢ — (6,67€) —
Other — — — — 10C
Total gross revenue 41,33 221,14! (6,67€) 255,80( 103,10°
Less pas-through charge 3,71¢ — (151) 3,56: 3,38¢
Net revenue 37,617  221,14! (6,525) 252,23 99,72
Costs of Revenue
Cost of product revent — 208,61 — 208,61 69,47¢
Cost of service fee reven 23,25 — (2,25%) 20,99« 17,21¢
Other — — — — (627)
Total costs of revenue 23,25: 208,61 (2,25¢) 229,61: 86,06
Gross profit 14,36¢ 12,52¢ (4,267) 22,62¢ 13,65¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 26,20¢ 6,997 (4,319 28,88« 18,57:
Other 2,13t — — 2,13t (5,147
Income (loss) from operatiol (13,97¢) 5,531 52 (8,397 222
Equity in earnings of affiliat 1,42¢ — (1,429 — —
Interest expense (income), 1 (847) 3,11C — 2,26: 307
Income (loss) before income taxes and extraordinary
item (11,700 2,421 (1,377) (20,65¢) (85)
Income tax expense (benel (81) 92¢ (343) 50¢& (48)
Income (loss) before extraordinary ite (11,619 1,492 (1,039 (11,167 (37
Extraordinary gain on purchase of 51% share of gk 203 — — 203 —
Net income (loss $(11,41¢ $ 1,492 $(1,039) $(10,95¢) $ (37
I I | L] I
Net loss per shar
Basic and dilutes $ (0.69) $ (0.60) $ (0.00
I | |
Weighted average number of shares outstani
Basic and dilutes 18,22¢ 18,22¢ 18,03¢
I | |

The unaudited pro forma data are not necégsadicative of the consolidated results of opimas for future periods or the results of
operations that would have been realized had tmep@ay consolidated Holdings and its subsidiariesduthe periods presente



In September 2001, Supplies Distributors idghe Subordinated Note to PFSweb in exchangertmeeds of $8.8 million. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Subordinated Namte&h outstanding balance of $8.0 million. Undetaie new and amended terms of
certain of its debt facilities, the Subordinated®cannot be increased or
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decreased without the prior approval of the Comjsalenders (see Note 3). The Subordinated Noteuasdnterest at a fluctuating rate per
annum equal to PFSweb’s cost of funds as deterntipdt-Sweb, approximately 10% as of December 303 2tid 2002. During the period
from July 3, 2001 (inception) through DecemberZ101, and the year ended December 31, 2002, erdtldé period from October 1, 2002
through December 31, 2002, PFSweb earned $0.3malnd $0.8 million, respectively, of interest asated with the Subordinated Note.

Other Related Parties

In August 2001, Supplies Distributors entdred an Agreement for Sales Forces Services (“A$R&Eh IBM, whereby Supplies
Distributors is to actively generate demand for praimote brand loyalty for IBM products. The ASE®iees on the earlier of December 31,
2004 or the termination of the master distribugreements. The ASFS automatically renews for ssaoeene-year periods unless either
party provides prior written notice. Pursuant te &SFS, IBM pays to Supplies Distributors a quéytservice fee as agreed to by both
parties. Supplies Distributors has subcontracted GMS to provide the sales force activities forammount equal to the fees received by
Supplies Distributors. The principal officer of GM®&/mned 46% of IFP, prior to PFSweb’s purchase Bfdknterest in Holdings. As of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, the Company had norgmdue from IBM under the terms of the ASFS ineldith accounts receivable and
approximately $1.5 million and $1.7 million, respieely, of unpaid service fees due to GMS.

10. Income Taxes

A reconciliation of the difference between thgpected income tax expense at the U.S. fedextaitsty corporate tax rate of 34%, and the
Company’s effective tax rate is as follows (in thands):

Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended

December 31 December 31  December 31
2003 2002 2001
Income tax benefit computed at statutory | $(1,079) $(3,84¢) $(267)
Impact of foreign taxation at different re (48) (230 (35
Items not deductible for tax (book) purpo: 623 30 54
Change in valuation reser 1,197 4,22¢ 12t
Other (123 (86) (96)
Provision (benefit) for income tax $ 57z $ 9 $(219)
| | |

The consolidated income (loss) before incomxed, by domestic and foreign entities, is as ¥el¢in thousands):

Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2002
Domestic $(2,745) $ (7,989 $ 98¢
Foreign (429 (3,526 (1,772
Total $(3,179) $(11,509) $ (784
| | ]
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Current and deferred income tax expense (bBeresummarized as follows (in thousands):

Year Nine Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Current
Domestic $ 79 $ — $ (68)
State 64 — —
Foreign 563 14¢ (157)
Total current 70€ 14¢ (219
Deferred
Domestic — an —
State (31 — —
Foreign (1093 (37 —
Total deferrec (139 (59 —
Total $ 572 $ 9 $(21¢)
| | |
The components of the deferred tax assetl{tigbare as follows (in thousands):
December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
Deferred tax asse
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 12C $ 18C
Inventory reservi 743 —
Net operating loss carryforwar 10,06: 10,127
Other 653 34k&
11,57¢ 10,65:
Less— Valuation reserv 11,40¢ 10,20"
Total deferred tax ass 17& 44k
Deferred tax liability:
Property and equipme (15%) (540
Other (92 (117
Total deferred liability (247) (657)
Deferred tax liability, ne $ (72 $ (206
[ | [ |

Management believes a sufficient history ah@®s has not been established by PFSweb, omd-atane basis, to support the more lik
than not realization of deferred tax assets in &xoé existing taxable temporary differences. Aigtibn allowance has been provided for the
net deferred income tax asset as of December 3B @0d 2002. At December 31, 2003, net operatisg ¢arryforwards relate to taxable
losses of PFSweb’s Europe subsidiary totaling apprately $11.5 million, PFSweb’s Canada subsidtatgling approximately $1.7 million
and PFSweb’s U.S. subsidiary totaling approxima$dl§.1 million that expire through 2018. The U.8t operating loss carryforward
includes $4.1 million relating to tax benefits tdck option exercises and, if utilized, will be oeded against additional paid-in-capital upon
utilization rather than as an adjustment to incéaxeexpense from continuing operations.

11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company leases facilities, warehousec®ffransportation and other equipment under dpegrigases expiring in various years
through the year ended December 31, 2009. In nas&ts; management expects that, in the normal colilaesiness, leases will be renev



or replaced by other leases. The Company alsoasddea certain Canadian facility under a sublegrgzment through the year ended
December 31, 2006. Minimum future annual rentahpayts and sublease receipts under cemmeelable operating leases having original ti
in excess of one year and are as follows (in thodsg
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Operating
Lease Sub-Lease

Payments Income
Fiscal year ended December
2004 $ 6,12¢ $14¢
2005 4,831 14¢
2006 4,74( 124
2007 3,371 —
2008 2,61¢ —
Thereafte 162 —
Total $21,85( $422

I |

Total rental expense under operating leaspapnated $6.3 million, $5.8 million and $4.4 rat for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, and the nine months ended Decenib@081, respectively.

12. Segment and Geographic Information

The Company is organized into two operatirgnsents: PFSweb, is an international provider afgrated business process outsourcing
solutions and operates as a service fee businesdings and its subsidiaries are master distritsutdprimarily IBM products, and recognize
revenues and costs when product is shipped.

Year Year Nine Months
Ended Ended Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31
2003 2002 2001
Revenues (in thousand
PFSwelk $ 41,26¢ $ 37,617 $28,05:
Holdings 249,23( 57,49:
Eliminations (8,097 (1,799 —
$282,40! $ 93,317 $28,05:
| I |
Income (loss) from operations (in
thousands)
PFSwet $ (6,317) $(13,97¢) $(1,280)
Holdings 5,11« 1,127 —
Eliminations 29 16 —
$ (1,179 $(12,837) $(1,280)
L] I |
Depreciation and amortization (in
thousands)
PFSwelk $ 4,46¢ $ 5,83¢ $ 4,60¢
Holdings 58 31 —
Eliminations (30 (16) —
$ 4,49 $ 5,851 $ 4,60t
| I |
Capital expenditures (in thousanc
PFSwelk $ 1,98- $ 1,76z $ 3,237
Holdings — — —
Eliminations — — —
$ 1,98: $ 1,76z $ 3,237



December 31 December 31

2003 2002
Assets (in thousands
PFSwet $ 43,62¢ $ 41,32
Holdings 77,87¢ 77,41«
Eliminations (13,149 (11,519
$108,35¢ $107,22:
| |

Geographic areas in which the Company opemtdsde the United States, Europe (primarily Beig), and
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Canada. The following is geographic informationdoga. Revenues are attributed based on the Congpadoiyiicile.

Year Year Nine Months
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Revenues (in thousand:
United State: $197,21! $70,96¢ $25,32¢
Europe 90,87¢ 21,627 2,27¢
Canade 9,69t 4,82¢ 454
Inter-segment Elimination (15,389 (4,109 —
$282,40! $93,317 $28,05:
| | |
December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
Long-lived assets (in thousand
United State: $ 6,41¢ $10,01:
Europe 4,16¢€ 4,501
Canads 18t 42¢€
$10,77( $14,93¢
| |

13. Employee Savings Plan

The Company has a defined contribution emm@agvings plan under Section 401(k) of the InteRelenue Code. Substantially all full-
time and part-time U.S. employees are eligibleauipipate in the plan. The Company, at its disocretmay match employee contributions to
the plan and also make an additional matching dmriton in the form of profit sharing in recogniti@f the Company performance. During
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, amirghenonths ended December 31, 2001, the Compatghed 10% of employee
contributions totaling approximately $30,000, $®0@&nd $34,000, respectively.

14. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

Unaudited quarterly results of operationsyears ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 were aw/fo{amounts in thousands except per
share data):

Year Ended December 31, 2003

1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.
Total revenue $66,327  $73,61¢  $68,36(  $74,10(
Total cost of revenue 61,32( 65,99¢ 62,67¢ 68,16:
Gross profit 5,007 7,61¢ 5,681 5,937
Selling, general and administrative exper 6,112 6,44: 6,27t 6,331
Asset and lease impairmet — — — 257
Income (loss) from operatiol (2,109 1,17¢ (599 (6517)
Net income (loss 1,779 467 (1,147 (1,299
Basic and diluted net income (loss) per st (0.10 0.0¢ (0.0€) (0.06)
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Year Ended December 31, 200

1st Qtr. 2nd Qtr. 3rd Qtr. 4th Qtr.

Total revenue $ 8,31¢ $10,33¢ $ 9,527 $65,13¢
Total cost of revenue 5,30¢ 6,451 5,791 59,45!
Gross profit 3,01« 3,88 3,72t 5,68¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 7,01¢ 6,94¢ 6,66¢ 6,37¢
Severance and other termination cc — — 1,24¢ (35)
Asset impairment — — 927 —
Loss from operation (4,009 (3,062) (5,119 (659
Net loss before extraordinary g¢ (3,22%) (2,409¢) (4,699 (1,274
Extraordinary gain on purchase of 51% share of gk — — — 203
Net loss (3,22%) (2,409¢) (4,699 (1,077
Basic and diluted loss per sha

Loss before extraordinary ite (0.19) (0.13) (0.26) (0.07)

Net loss (0.1¢) (0.19) (0.26) (0.0¢)

The seasonality of the Company’s businesgjpeddent upon the seasonality of its cliebtsiness and their sale of products. Manage
believes that with the Company’s current client mund their clients’ business volumes, the Compasgtsice fee revenue business activity is
expected to be at its lowest in the quarter endactM31 and at its highest in the quarter ended 30nThe Company’s product revenue
business activity is expected to be at its highrelie quarter ended December 31.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcéenting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

The term “disclosure controls and procedurgsiefined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofSbeurities Exchange Act of 1934, or the
Exchange Act. This term refers to the controls pratedures of a company that are designed to pgae@sonable assurance that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the repbét it files or submits under the Exchange Acgecorded, processed, summarized and
reported within the time periods specified by tlee®Bities and Exchange Commission. Our managenmehiding our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluathe effectiveness of our disclosure controls amtg@dures as of the end of the period
covered by this annual report. Based upon thauatiah, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finah Officer have concluded that our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectivalimaterial respects as of the end of the pertared by this annual report.

There were no changes to our internal comivel financial reporting during our last fiscal qea that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, our interoantrol over financial reporting.

PART IlI
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Reference is made to the information to bését in the section entitled “Board of Directorafid “Committees of the Board” in the
definitive proxy statement in connection with ounial Meeting of Stockholders to be held in Jun@d2@he “Proxy Statement”), which
section is incorporated herein by reference. Oaky6tatement will be filed with the Securities dxthange Commission not later than
120 days after the last day of our fiscal year dridecember 31, 2003.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by Part Ill, Item 11, idle included in the section entitled “Electionifectors” of our Proxy Statement relating to
our annual meeting of stockholders to be held me2004, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aidinagement

Information required by Part Ill, Item 12, ile included in the Sections entitled “ElectionDofectors” and “Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” of owxirStatement relating to our annual meeting afldtolders to be held in June 2004,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

The following table summarizes informationtwiespect to equity compensation plans under wéniglity securities of the registrant are
authorized for issuance as of December 31, 2003:

Number of securities Weighted-average Number of
to be issued upor exercise price of securities
exercise of outstanding remaining
outstanding options options and available for
Plan category (1) and warrants warrants future issuance

Equity compensation

plans approved by

security holder: 3,855,73. $1.0C 1,815,53
Equity compensation

plans not approved by

security holder: 504,96¢ $0.9t —
Total 4,360,69! $ 1,815,53
| ]

(1) See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statenfentaore detailed information regarding the regis’s equity compensation plar
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Item 13. Certain Relationship and Related Transactions

Information regarding certain of our relatibis and related transactions will be includechim $ection entitled “Certain Relationship and
Related Transactionsf our Proxy Statement relating to our annual nmgetif stockholders to be held in June 2004, amkisrporated here
by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant and Fees and Services

Information required by Part Ill, Item 14, ible included in the section entitled “RatificatiohAppointment of Independent Auditors” of
our Proxy Statement relating to our annual meatingtockholders to be held in 2004, and is inccapent herein by reference.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Repaots Form 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of tlEpart:
1. Financial Statement
PFSweb, Inc. and Subsidiari
Independent Auditors’ Report
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ EquityGoprehensive Loss
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme
Financial Statement Schedu
Schedule |— Valuation and Qualifying Accoun

All other schedules are omitted because the redjifermation is not present in amounts sufficientequire submission of the
schedule or because the information required isidied in the financial statements or notes the

2. Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Description of Exhibits
2.1() Tax Indemnification and Allocation Agreement betwdaisytek, International Corporation and PFSwab,
3.1(2) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora
3.2(1) Amended and Restated Byla

10.1 (1) Non-Employee Director Stock Option and Retainer F
10.2 (1) Employee Stock Option Ple

10.3 (1) Employee Annual Incentive Pl

10.4 (1) Industrial Lease Agreement between Shelby Drivgp@a@tion and Priority Fulfillment Services, Ir
10.5 (1) Lease Contract between Transports Weerts and fyrkeulfillment Services Europe B.\
10.6 (2) Form of Change of Control Agreement between the @om and each of its executive offici

10.7 (3) Operating Agreement of Business Supplies Distritsuktoldings, LLC

10.8 (4) Ninth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and betwe8BRI ATRIUM. L.P., and Priority Fulfillment Servise Inc.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.9 (5) Agreement for Inventory Financing by and among Bess Supplies Distributors Holdings, LLC, Supplestributors, Inc.,
Priority Fulfillment Services, Inc., PFSweb, Inimyentory Financing Partners, LLC and IBM Creditr@aration

10.10 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty bybahdeen Priority Fulfilment Services, Inc. andMECredit Corporatior

10.11 (5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Credit Cotpmrdy PFSweb, Inc

10.12 (5) Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subordinatioeeftent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplies
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporati

10.13 (5)  Amended and Restated Platinum Plan Agreement (mithice Discounting) by and among Supplies Distidos, S.A.,
Business Supplies Distributors Europe B.V., PFS#ah, and IBM Belgium Financial Services S.

10.14 (5) Amended and Restated Collateralized Guaranty betweerity Fulfillment Services, Inc. and IBM Belgn Financial Services
S.A.

10.15(5) Amended and Restated Guaranty to IBM Belgium Firsi®ervices S.A. by PFSweb, Ir

10.16 (5) Subordinated Demand Note by and between SupplsiliRitors, Inc. and Priority Fulfillment Servicésc.

10.17 (5) Notes Payable Subordination Agreement between @sadfinancial Corporation (Southwest) and Pridritifillment Services
Inc.

10.18 (5)  Guarantee in favor of Congress Financial Corponat@outhwest) by Business Supplies Distributorgdithgjs, LLC, Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc. and PFSweb, |

10.19 (5) General Security Agreement by Priority Fulfilme&grvices, Inc. in favor of Congress Financial Coagion (Southwest

10.20 (5) Inducement Letter by Priority Fulfillment Servicés¢. and PFSweb, Inc. in favor of Congress Finan€orporation
(Southwest)

10.21 (6) Form of Executive Severance Agreement between timep@ny and each of its executive office

10.22 (7)  Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing by among Business Supplies Distributors HoldindsZ LSupplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Servicelc., PFSweb, Inc., Inventory Financing PartnetsCland IBM Credit
Corporatior

10.23 (7) Amendment to Amended and Restated Platinum Plareigent (with Invoice Discounting) by and among Siegp
Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBrgope B.V., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Finan@&arvices S.A

10.24 (7)  Amended and Restated Notes Payable Subordinatiogefttent by and between Priority Fulfillment Sersidac., Supplies
Distributors, Inc. and IBM Credit Corporati

10.25(7) Amendment to Factoring agreement dated March 232 P@tween Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortism@mrcial Finance
N.V.

10.26 (8) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Com&@rk — California (“Bank”) and Priority FulfillmerServices, Inc.
(“Priority”) and Priority Fulfillment Services of Canada, Ir*Priority Canad”)

10.27 (8) Unconditional Guaranty of PFSweb, Inc. to ComeBeak- California

10.28 (8) Security Agreement of PFSweb, Inc. to Comerica E- California

10.29 (8) Intellectual Property Security Agreement betwedorRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. and Comerica Be— California

10.30 (8)  Amendment 2 to Amended and Restated Platinum Pgaaeinent (with Invoice Discounting) by and among@ies

Distributors, S.A., Business Supplies DistributBry., PFSweb B.V., and IBM Belgium Financial SepscS.A.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Exhibits

10.31(8)  Amendment to Agreement for Inventory Financing by among Business Supplies Distributors HoldindsC LSupplies
Distributors, Inc., Priority Fulfillment Servicelc., PFSweb, Inc., and IBM Credit LL

10.32(9) Amendment to factoring agreement dated April 3@3Between Supplies Distributors S.A. and Fortim@mrcial Finance
N.V.

10.33 (9) Loan and Security Agreement by and between Congriessicial Corporation (Southwest), as Lender amgp8es Distributors
Inc., as Borrower dated March 29, 20

10.34 (9)  General Security Agreement — Business Suppliesibigors Holdings, LLC in favor of Congress FinaalgCorporation
(Southwest

10.35 (9) Stock Pledge Agreement between Supplies Distributac. and Congress Financial Corporation (Sousiy

10.36 (9) First Amendment to General Security Agreement bgrRy Fulfillment Services, Inc. in favor of Conggs Financial
Corporation (Southwes

10.37 (10) First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement nadef September 11, 2003 by and between Prioulfiilfment Services
Inc., Priority Fulfillment Services of Canada, lamd Comerica Banl

10.38 (11) Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of NovemI2803 between PFSweb, Inc. and the Purchasersdtmerein

10.39 (11) Form of One Year Warrant dated as of November @3268sued to each of the Purchasers pursuant ®ebwerities Purchase
Agreement

10.40 (11) Form of Four Year Warrant dated as of Novembei0®33ssued to each of the Purchasers pursuarg t8dburities Purchase
Agreement

10.41 (12) Industrial Lease Agreement between New York Lifsuiance Company and Daisytek, |

10.42 (12) First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement betwdew York Life Insurance Company, Daisytek, kmed Priority
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.43 (12) Second Amendment to Industrial Lease AgreementdmviProLogis North Carolina Limited Partnership Bridrity
Fulfillment Services, Inc

10.44 (12) Modification, Ratification and Extension of Leassetween Shelby Drive Corporation and Priority Futfiént Services, Inc

23.1(12) Consent of KPMG LLF

31.1(12) Certifications of Principal Executive Officer Puasu to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

31.2(12) Certifications of Principal Financial Officer Puemt to 18 U.S.C. Section 13!

32.1 (13) Certifications of Chief Executive Officer Pursuamtl8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuanettiéh 906 of the

Sarbane-Oxley Act of 200z

(1) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Regfisin Statement on Forn-1 (Commission File No. 3:-87657).

(2) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2(

(3) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q/A for the quarterly period ended September 301:

(4) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the transition period ended December 31, Z

(5) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2

(6) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

(7) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-K for the year ended December 31, 2!

(8) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2



(9) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2
(10) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. For-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, !

(11) Incorporated by reference from PFSweb, Inc. Repoftorm &K filed on November 10, 20C
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(12) Filed herewitt

(13) Furnished herewit

(b) Reports on Form 8-K :

Form &K furnished on November 10, 2003 reporting Itemr&8ults of Operations and Financial Conditioat tn November 10, 2003,
PFSweb, Inc. issued a press release announcifigaitesial results for the quarter and fiscal yeaded December 31, 2003.

Form &K filed on November 10, 2003 reporting Item 5, &tkvents that on November 7, 2003, PFSweb, lhe. Gompany”, entered into
a Securities Purchase Agreement with certain utgiital investors in a private placement transagtiorsuant to which the Company issued
and sold an aggregate of 1,581,944 shares ofritsnam stock, par value $.001 per share (the “Com8tonk”), at $2.16 per share,
resulting in gross proceeds of $3.4 million. Aftleducting expenses, the net proceeds are appr@hn$.2 million. In addition to the
Common Stock, the investors received one-year westa purchase an aggregate 525,692 shares of GoiStock at an exercise price of
$3.25 per share and four-year warrants to purchasggregate of 395,486 shares of Common Stoak exexcise price of $3.30 per share.
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SCHEDULE |

PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
BALANCE SHEETS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
(In thousands)

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalel $ — $ 22
Receivable from Priority Fulfillment Services, It 4,29¢ 21t
Investment in subsidiarie 24,12 26,23:
Total asset $ 28,417 $26,47(
I I
LIABILITIES:
Total liabilities $ — $ —
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY:
Preferred stoc — —
Common stocl 21 18
Additional paic-in capital 56,15¢ 52,09¢
Accumulated defici (29,309 (25,557
Accumulated other comprehensive inca 1,62¢ —
Treasury stoc| (85) (89)
Total shareholde’ equity 28,41% 26,47(
Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity $ 28,417 $ 26,47(
I I

The condensed financial statements should be reaghjunction with the consolidated financial sta¢mts and notes.
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PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY

(In thousands)

Year Ended

Year Ended

December 31

2002

SCHEDULE |

Nine Months
Ended
December 31
2001

December 31
2003

EQUITY IN NET INCOME OF

UNCONSOLIDATED

SUBSIDIARY $ —
EQUITY IN NET LOSS OF

CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES (3,746

NET LOSS $(3,746)

|

$ 1,168

(12,569

$(11,400

$ —

(565)

$(565)

The condensed financial statements should be reeghjunction with the consolidated financial sta¢sts and notes.
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SCHEDULE |
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF REGISTRANT
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS — PARENT COMPANY ONLY
(In thousands)
Year Ended Year Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net loss $(3,74¢) $(11,400) $(565)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby operating
activities:
Equity in net income of unconsolidated subsidia — (1,169) —
Equity in net loss of consolidated subsidia 3,74¢ 12,56: 56E
Net cash provided by operating activit — — —
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from issuance of common s 4,05¢ 124 15z
Increase in receivable from Priority Fulfillmentr8ees, Inc. (4,087) (129 (67)
Purchases of treasury stc — — (85)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi (22 — 1
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASI (22 — 1
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric 22 22 21
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $ — $ 22 $ 22
| | |

The condensed financial statements shoul@&e in conjunction with the consolidated finansiatements and notes.
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SCHEDULE I
PFSWEB, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and,
the Nine Month Period Ended December 31, 2001
(Amounts in thousands)
Additions
Balance at Chargesto Charges to Balance at
Beginning Cost and Other End of
of Period Expenses Accounts  Deductions Period
Nine Months Ended December 31, 20
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 27¢ 17 — (42 $ 254
Allowance for slow moving inventor $ — — — — $ —
Income tax valuation allowan $ 4,48: 12t 82z — $ 5,42¢
Year Ended December 31, 20!
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 254 38 152 (33 $ 411
Allowance for slow moving inventor $ — 10 13z — $ 142
Income tax valuation allowan $ 5,42¢ 4,22¢ 554 — $10,20:
Year Ended December 31, 20t
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 411 351 — (423 $ 33¢
Allowance for slow moving inventor $ 14z 1,98¢ — (812 $ 1,314
Income tax valuation allowan $10,207 1,197 — — $11,40¢
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢dl) of the Securities Act of 1934, the Registirza duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly aigkd.

By: /sl THOMAS J. MADDEN
Thomas J. Madder
Executive Vice President a
Chief Financial and Accounting Offic

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securt@of 1934, this report has been signed belowhieyfollowing persons on behalf of the
Registrant and in the capacities and on the datbsated.

Signature Title Date

/sl MARK C. LAYTON Chairman of the Board, President ¢ March 30, 200«
Chief Executive Officer (Princip:

Mark C. Layton Executive Officer,

/sl THOMAS J. MADDEN Executive Vice President and Ch March 30, 200«
Financial and Accounting Officer

Thomas J. Madde (Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s/ DR. NEIL JACOBS Director March 30, 200«

Dr. Neil Jacob:

/s/ TIMOTHY M. MURRAY Director March 30, 200«

Timothy M. Murray

/sl JAMES F. REILLY Director March 30, 200:
James F. Reill
/s/ DAVID |. BEATSON Director March 30, 200:

David |. Beatsor

81



EXHIBIT 10.41

INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

BETWEEN

NEW YORK LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

AS LANDLORD

AND

DAISYTEK, INC.

AS TENANT
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25 Estoppel Certificate

26 Landlord's Liability

27 Notices

28 Brokers

29 Assignment and Subleasing
30 Termination or Expiration
31 Intentionally Omitted

32 Late Payments

33 Rules and Regulations
34 Quiet Enjoyment

35 Miscellaneous

36 Special Stipulations

37 Lease Date

38 Authority

39 No Offer Until Executed

Exhibit "A" Demised Premises

Exhibit "B" Intentionally Omitted

Exhibit "C" Special Stipulations

Exhibit "D" Rules and Regulations

Exhibit "E" Certificate of Authority

Exhibit "F" Sign Exhibit

Exhibit "G" Connector Plans and Specifications



INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (the "Lease") is made as @&f thease Date" (as defined in Section 37 hereirgriy between NEW YORK
LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, a New York mutual insurancempany ("Landlord"), and DAISYTEK, INC., a Delamgecorporation
("Tenant") (the words "Landlord" and "Tenant" telide their respective legal representatives, ssws and permitted assigns where the
context requires or permits).

WITNESSETH:

1. Basic Lease Provisions. The following constitie basic provisions of this Lease:

(@) Demised Premises Address: 4550 Quality D rive,

Suite 103

Memphis, Tenne ssee 38118
(b) Demised Premises Square Footage: approxima tely

120,000 sg. ft.

(c)  Building Square Footage: approximately 220 ,100 sq.
ft.

(d)  Annual Base Rent:

Lease Year 1 $374,3 38.08
Lease Year 2 $374,3 38.08
Lease Year 3 $374,3 38.08
Lease Year 4 $374,3 38.08
Lease Year 5 $374,3 38.08

(e) Monthly Base Rent Installments:

Lease Year 1 $31,19 4.84
Lease Year 2 $31,19 4.84
Lease Year 3 $31,19 4.84
Lease Year 4 $31,19 4.84
Lease Year 5 $31,19 4.84

(f) Lease Commencement Date: April I, 1999

(g) Base Rent Commencement Date: April 1, 1999
(h) Expiration Date: March 31, 2004

() Term: 5 years

() Tenant's Operating Expense Percentage: 54.52%



(k)  Security Deposit: Not Applicable

0] Permitted Use: Office and partially automa ted storage
and distribution of non-toxic products

(m)  Address for notice:

Landlord: New York Life Insuranc e Company
51 Madison Avenue, Roo m 907
New York, New York 100 10
Attn: Dan McConnell

With a copy to:  IDI Services Group, In c.
3424 Peachtree Road, S uite 1500
Atlanta, Georgia 30326

Tenant: Daisytek, Inc.
500 North Central Expr essway
Plano, Texas 75074
Attn: Mark C. Layton, CEO

(n) Address for rental payments:
New York Life Insurance Company c/o IDI Serviceo@y, Inc. 3424 Peachtree Road, N

Suite 1500
Atlanta, Georgia 30326

(o) Broker(s): Commercial Tennessee 3175 Lennok Bhld., Suite 100 Memphis, Tennessee 38115 AttgatfVA. Aiken

2. Demised Premises. For and in considerationefeht hereinafter reserved and the mutual covertartinafter contained, Landlord does
hereby lease and demise unto Tenant, and Tenastdoeby hire, lease and accept, from Landlordpah the terms and conditions
hereinafter set forth the following premises, refdrto as the "Demised Premises", as outlined dribiXA attached hereto and incorporated
herein: approximately 120,000 square feet of spameroximately 6,000 square feet of which is ofipace, having an address as set forth in
Section 1(a), located within Building | (the "Buiihg)"), which contains a total of approximately 200 square feet and is located within
Southpark (the "Project”), located in Shelby Coufiignnessee.

3. Term. To have and to hold the Demised Premisea preliminary term (the "Preliminary Term") coranting on the Lease Date and
ending on the Lease Commencement Date as sefridBction 1(f), and a primary term (the "Primagrifi") commencing on the Lease
Commencement Date and terminating on the Expirddiate as set forth in Section 1(h), as the Leagarfiencement Date and the Expirat
Date may be revised pursuant to Section 17 (thini#n@ry Term, the Primary Term, and any and atkesions thereof, herein referred to as
the "Term"). The term "Lease Year" shall mean eawh (1) year period of the Term (or portion theriédfe last Lease Year of the Term is
less than one (1) full year)

-2-



beginning on the Lease Commencement Date, andaganiviersary thereof, and ending on the day immeligitrior to the next succeeding
anniversary of the Lease Commencement Date.

4. Base Rent. Tenant shall pay to Landlord at tizess set forth in

Section 1(n), as base rent for the Demised Prepisesmencing on the Base Rent Commencement Dateaantichuing throughout the Term
in lawful money of the United States, the annuabant set forth in Section 1(d) payable in equal thigninstallments as set forth in Section 1
(e) (the "Base Rent"), payable in advance, witlitmmhand and without abatement, reduction, set-offeduction, on the first day of each
calendar month during the Term. If the Base Remh@encement Date shall fall on a day other tharfitbieday of a calendar month, the
Base Rent shall be apportioned pro rata on a pen tasis (i) for the period between the Base Rentr@encement Date and the first day of
the following calendar month (which pro rata paytrsrall be due and payable on the Base Rent Conenwrtt Date), and (i) for the last
partial month of the Term, if applicable. No payrmleyn Tenant or receipt by Landlord of rent hereursfall be deemed to be other than on
account of the amount due, and no endorsemenai@nsént on any check or any letter accompanyingchagk or payment of rent shall be
deemed an accord and satisfaction, and Landlordamespt such check as payment without prejudicatallord's right to recover the
balance of such installment or payment of rentuwspe any other remedies available to Landlord.

5. Intentionally Omitted.
6. Operating Expenses and Additional Rent.

(a) Tenant agrees to pay as Additional Rent (aseefin

Section 6(b) below) its proportionate share of @pirg Expenses (as hereinafter defined). "Operdxmenses” shall be defined as all
reasonable expenses for operation, repair, repkceamd maintenance as necessary to keep the Buadid the common areas, driveways,
and parking areas associated therewith (collegtitke "Building Common Area") in good order, caiah and repair, including but not
limited to, utilities for the Building Common Areaxpenses associated with the driveways and paskias (including sealing and restriping,
and snow, trash and ice removal), security systéinegjetection and prevention systems, lightingjlfiées, landscaped areas, walkways,
painting and caulking, directional signage, cudrajnage strips, sewer lines, all charges asseggagdst or attributed to the Building pursu
to any applicable easements, covenants, restritamreements, declaration of protective coveramigvelopment standards, property
management fees, all real property taxes and dpessiassments imposed upon the Building, the Bigldlommon Area and the land on
which the Building and the Building Common Area aomstructed, all costs of insurance paid by LarNeith respect to the Building and
the Building Common Area and cost of improvemeatthe Building and the Building Common Area reqdiby any law, ordinance or
regulation applicable to the Building and the BuitfCommon Area generally (but specifically exchglany such improvements made
necessary solely as a result of the particulaiofigee Building or the Building Common Area by amet tenant of the Building other than
Tenant). Operating Expenses shall not include esgfor the costs of any maintenance and repaiireztjto be performed by Landlord at
own expense under Section (10)(b) or advertisirayketing or commission expenses. Further, Oper&kpenses shall not include the costs
for capital improvements unless such costs areiiaduor the purpose of causing a material decreasde Operating Expenses of the
Building or the Building Common Area or are madéwespect to improvements made to comply with Jamdinances or regulations as
described above. Operating Expenses shall be amxbtor in accordance with generally accepted aatiog principles. The proportionate
share of Operating Expenses to be paid by Tenatitlsha percentage of the Operating Expenses hgs®dthe proportion that the square
footage of the Demised Premises bears to thegqgtalre footage of the Building (such figure reféneas "Tenant's Operating Expense
Percentage" and set forth in Section 1(j)). Paoort promptly after the beginning of each calengsar during the Term, Landlord shall
estimate the total amount of Operating Expenség tpaid by Tenant during each such calendar yehiranant shall pay to Landlord one-
twelfth (1/12) of such sum on the first day of each
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calendar month during each such calendar yeamrthereof, during the Term. Within a reasonainietafter the end of each calendar year,
Landlord shall submit to Tenant a statement ofatteal amount of Operating Expenses for such cakeyehr, and the actual amount ower
Tenant, and within thirty (30) days after receipsoch statement, Tenant shall pay any deficiemtwéen the actual amount owed and the
estimates paid during such calendar year, or iretleet of overpayment, Landlord shall credit thevant of such overpayment toward the
next installment of Operating Expenses owed by fieaaremit such overpayment to Tenant if the Thaa expired or has been terminated
and no Event of Default exists hereunder. The alibgs in the immediately preceding sentence shallive the expiration or any earlier
termination of this Lease. If the Lease CommenceérDare shall fall on other than the first day of talendar year, and/or if the Expiration
Date shall fall on other than the last day of takeredar year, Tenant's proportionate share of fer&ing Expenses for such calendar year
shall be apportioned prorata.

(b) Any amounts required to be paid by Tenant hadleu (in addition to Base Rent) and any chargexpenses incurred by Landlord on
behalf of Tenant under the terms of this Leasd sleatonsidered "Additional Rent" payable in thmeamanner and upon the same terms and
conditions as the Base Rent reserved hereundeptexseet forth herein to the contrary. Any failarethe part of Tenant to pay such
Additional Rent when and as the same shall becareestall entitle Landlord to the remedies availabli for non-payment of Base Rent.
Tenant's obligations for payment of Additional Rehéll begin to accrue on the Base Rent CommendeDsa.

(c) If applicable in the jurisdiction where the Dised Premises are located, Tenant shall pay atidlile for all rental, sales, use and
inventory taxes or other similar taxes, if any tb@ amounts payable by Tenant hereunder leviethposed by any city, state, county or other
governmental body having authority, such paymemtsetin addition to all other payments requiretiéqgaid Landlord by Tenant under the
terms of this Lease. Such payment shall be madeshgnt directly to such governmental body if biltedrenant, or if billed to Landlord,

such payment shall be paid concurrently with thenpent of the Base Rent, Additional Rent, or sud¢teotharge upon which the tax is based,
all as set forth herein.

7. Use of Demised Premises.

(a) The Demised Premises shall be used for theiRedtse set forth in Section 1(I) and for no otherpose without Landlord's consent,
which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

(b) Tenant will permit no liens to attach or exaghinst the Demised Premises.

(c) The Demised Premises shall not be used foillegal purposes, and Tenant shall not allow, suffe permit any vibration, noise, odor,
light or other effect to occur within or around themised Premises that could constitute a nuisantespass for Landlord or any occupant
of the Building or an adjoining premises. Upon petby Landlord to Tenant that any of the aforepadadhibited uses are occurring, Tenant
agrees to promptly remove or control the same.

(d) Tenant shall not in any way violate any lawdinance or restrictive covenant affecting the DeiiBremises, and shall not in any manner
use the Demised Premises so as to cause cangebétiorevent the use of the fire and extended ra@esinsurance policy required hereun
Landlord makes no (and does hereby expressly diselay) covenant, representation or warranty ahed?ermitted Use being allowed by or
being in compliance with any applicable laws, rutEslinances or restrictive covenants now or hézeaffecting the Demised Premises, and
any zoning letters, copies of zoning ordinancestier information from any governmental agencytbeothird party provided to Tenant by
Landlord or any of Landlord's agents or employdedl e for informational purposes only, Tenantegrexpressly acknowledging and
agreeing that Tenant shall conduct and rely salalits own due diligence and investigation withpexs to the compliance of the Permitted
Use with all such applicable
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laws, rules, ordinances and restrictive covenamiisnat on any such information provided by Landlorény of its agents or employees.

(e) In the event insurance premiums pertainingpéoDemised Premises, the Building, or the Builddmnmon Area, whether paid by
Landlord or Tenant, are increased over the leastrdaus rate available due to the nature of thefidee Demised Premises by Tenant,
Tenant shall pay such additional amount as Additi&tent, provided Tenant is given reasonable pritice of such impending increase and
an opportunity to cease or modify such use.

8. Insurance.

(a) Tenant covenants and agrees that from andthéidrease Commencement Date or any earlier date which Tenant enters or occupies
the Demised Premises or any portion thereof, Tewdhtarry and maintain, at its sole cost and exgee the following types of insurance, in
the amounts specified and in the form hereinaftevided for:

(i) Liability insurance in the Commercial Generahhility form (or reasonable equivalent theretoyexdng the Demised Premises and
Tenant's use thereof against claims for bodilyrinpr death, property damage and product liabditgurring upon, in or about the Demised
Premises, such insurance to be written on an oseerbasis (not a claims made basis), to be in io@ulsingle limits amounts not less than
$1,000,000.00 and to have general aggregate lohitst less than $2,000,000.00 with "umbrella" cage with limits of not less than
$5,000,000.00 for each policy year. The insurameei@age required under this Section 8(a)(i) sirakddition, extend to any liability of
Tenant arising out of the indemnities providedifoBection 11 and, if necessary, the policy shatitain a contractual endorsement to that
effect.

(i) Insurance covering (A) all of the items inckdlin the leasehold improvements constructed ilD#maised Premises by or at the expen:
Landlord (collectively, the "Improvements"), incind but not limited to demising walls and the hegtiventilating and air conditioning
system and (B) Tenant's trade fixtures, mercharatisepersonal property from time to time in, oupon the Demised Premises, in an
amount not less than one hundred percent (100%heaffull replacement value (or such percentagevbd00% which assures full payment
by the insurer of any claim) from time to time dwgithe Term, providing protection against perilduded within the standard form of "all-
risks" fire and casualty insurance policy, togetéh insurance against sprinkler damage, vandasiachmalicious mischief. Any policy
proceeds from such insurance relating to the Imgmmeents shall be used solely for the repair, coastmi and restoration or replacement of
the Improvements damaged or destroyed unless #aisd_shall cease and terminate under the provisfddsction 20.

(b) All policies of the insurance provided for ie&ion 8(a) shall be issued in form reasonably gtedde to Landlord by insurance companies
with a rating of not less than "A," and financieesof not less than Class X, in the most currgailable "Best's Insurance Reports", and
licensed to do business in the state in which thiégdBg is located. Each and every such policy:

() shall name Landlord and Lender (as defined in
Section 24) as an additional insured. In additibe,coverage described in
Section 8(a)(ii)(A) relating to the Improvementablalso name Landlord as "loss payee";

(i) shall be delivered to Landlord, in the formanf insurance certificate acceptable to Landlorehvidence of such policy, prior to the Lease
Commencement Date and thereafter within thirty (80)s prior to the expiration of each such polayd, as often as any such policy shall
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expire or terminate. Renewal or additional polickall be procured and maintained by Tenant inrileaner and to like extent;

(iii) shall contain a provision that the insurellwive to Landlord and such other parties in iptgrat least fifteen (15) days notice in writini
advance of any cancellation, termination or lapsehe effective date of any reduction in the amsuf insurance; and

(iv) shall be written as a primary policy which dagot contribute to and is not in excess of coveralich Landlord may carry.

(c) In the event that Tenant shall fail to carrg amaintain the insurance coverages set forth s1Sleiction 8, Landlord may upon thirty
(30) days notice to Tenant (unless such coveragkempse in which event no such notice shall beessary) procure such policies of
insurance and Tenant shall promptly reimburse Lenddherefor.

(d) Landlord and Tenant hereby waive any rightheaay have against the other on account of anydodamage occasioned to Landlord or
Tenant, as the case may be, their respective gyopee Demised Premises, its contents or to thergtortions of the Building, arising from
any risk covered by all risks fire and extendederage insurance of the type and amount requiree tarried hereunder, provided that such
waiver does not invalidate such policies or prahibcovery thereunder. The parties hereto shalfessonable efforts to cause their respe:
insurance companies insuring the property of eitladlord or Tenant against any such loss, to waiyeright of subrogation that such
insurers may have against Landlord or Tenant, asdke may be.

9. Utilities. During the Term, Tenant shall pronypplay as billed to Tenant all rents and chargesviter and sewer services and all costs and
charges for gas, steam, electricity, fuel, liglwpr, telephone, heat and any other utility or iserused or consumed in or servicing the
Demised Premises. To the extent reasonably possilodé utilities shall be separately metered afliddbio Tenant. Any utilities which are r
separately metered shall be billed to Tenant bydlad at Landlord's actual cost. In the event Tésarse of any utility not metered is in
excess of the average use by other tenants, Lahsthall have the right to install a meter for sutlity, at Tenant's expense, and bill Tenant
for Tenant's actual use. If Tenant fails to pay atility bills or charges, Landlord may, at its mpt and upon reasonable natice to Tenant, pay
the same and in such event, the amount of suchgmtymogether with interest thereon at the InteRede as defined in Section 32 from the
date of such payment by Landlord, will be adde@d@oant's next due payment as Additional Rent.

10. Maintenance and Repairs.

(a) Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, taiaim good condition and repair the interior loé Demised Premises, including but not
limited to the heating, air conditioning and veatiibn systems, glass, windows and doors, sprinéleplumbing and sewage systems, fixtu
interior walls, floors (including floor slabs), degs, storefronts, plate glass, skylights, alkctieal facilities and equipment including, without
limitation, lighting fixtures, lamps, fans and aeyhaust equipment and systems, electrical motodsalh other appliances and equipment
(including, without limitation, dock levelers, doskelters, dock seals and dock lighting) of evenglland nature located in, upon or about the
Demised Premises, except as to such maintenanaejpaid as is the obligation of Landlord pursuant t

Section 10(b). During the Term, Tenant shall mamia full force and effect a service contract foe maintenance of the heating, ventilation
and air conditioning systems with an entity reabnacceptable to Landlord. Tenant shall delivetandlord (i) a copy of said service
contract prior to the Lease Commencement Date(igrilereafter, a copy of a renewal or substitgevice contract within thirty (30) days
prior to the expiration of the existing service tant. Tenant's obligation shall exclude any
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maintenance and repair required because of ther aegligence of Landlord, its employees, contnacty agents, which shall be the
responsibility of Landlord.

(b) Landlord shall, at its own cost and expenseéntagn in good condition and repair the roof, foatidn (beneath the floor slab) and
structural frame of the Building. Landlord's obliga shall exclude the cost of any maintenancepair required because of the act or
negligence of Tenant or Tenant's agents, contsatonployees and invitees (collectively, "Tenahffdiates"), the cost of which shall be the
responsibility of Tenant.

(c) Except to the extent the same is caused bgegkgent action or inaction of Landlord, its emy#es or agents, and is not covered by the
insurance required to be carried by Tenant pursieettie terms of this Lease, Landlord shall noligigle to Tenant or to any other person for
any damage occasioned by failure in any utilityteysor by the bursting or leaking of any vessedipe in or about the Demised Premises, or
for any damage occasioned by water coming intdtamised Premises unless caused by the negligeahaxtinaction of Landlord, costs of
which shall be the responsibility of Landlord.

11. Tenant's Personal Property; Indemnity. Excepitherwise set forth in this paragraph, all of dr@fs personal property in the Demised
Premises shall be and remain at Tenant's solelrésidlord, its agents, employees and contractbed| sot be liable for, and Tenant hereby
releases Landlord from, any and all liability fbetft thereof or any damage thereto occasioned pyeinof God or by any acts, omissions or
negligence of any persons. Landlord, its agentpl@yees and contractors, shall not be liable foriajury to the person or property of Ten
or other persons in or about the Demised Premigagnt expressly agreeing to indemnify and savelload, its agents, employees and
contractors, harmless, in all such cases, excepetextent caused by the negligence of Landltsdigents, employees and contractors.
Tenant further agrees to indemnify and reimbursedlad for any costs or expenses, including, witHaitation, attorneys' fees, that
Landlord reasonably may incur in investigating, diamg or litigating any such claim against Landldrga third person, unless such claim
arose from the negligence of Landlord, its agesttsployees or contractors. The provisions of this

Section 11 shall survive the expiration or eatiggmination of this Lease with respect to any daenagury or death occurring before such
expiration or termination. The foregoing shall neiease Landlord from liability relating to the actnegligence of Landlord, costs of which
shall be Landlord's responsibility.

12. Tenant's Fixtures. Tenant shall have the tigirstall in the Demised Premises trade fixtuespuired by Tenant or used by it in its
business, and if installed by Tenant, to removearsll such trade fixtures from time to time dgriand upon termination or expiration of t
Lease, provided no Event of Default, as definedi®e@2, then exists; provided, however, that Téstiall repair and restore any damage or
injury to the Demised Premises (to the conditiowhich the Demised Premises existed prior to sostallation) caused by the installation
and/or removal of any such trade fixtures.

13. Signs. No sign, advertisement or notice shaihscribed, painted, affixed, or displayed onwliredows or exterior walls of the Demised
Premises or on any public area of the Buildingegxdn such places, numbers, sizes, colors andssad are approved in advance in writing
by Landlord, and which conform to all applicablev$a ordinances, or covenants affecting the Denisethises. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Tenant shall have the right to affix ghgidentification sign to the exterior of the Dised Premises or to a free-standing
"monument sign" in a location reasonably approwetlandlord, provided Tenant and such sign othene@aply with the terms and
conditions of this Section 13. Any and all signstatled or constructed by or on behalf of Tenamspant hereto shall be installed, maintained
and removed by Tenant at Tenant's sole cost anehsgp[PARTIES AGREE TO ATTACH AND REFERENCE A MURULY

AGREEABLE SIGN EXHIBIT IF PROVIDED BY TENANT TO LANDLORD PRIOR TO LEASE EXECUTION.]
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14. Intentionally Omitted.

15. Governmental Regulations. Tenant shall promgilyply throughout the Term, at Tenant's sole andtexpense, with all present and
future laws, ordinances, orders, rules, regulatmmequirements of all federal, state and muniajoaernments and appropriate departments,
commissions, boards and officers thereof (colletyiv'Governmental Requirements") relating to (apaany part of the Demised Premises,
and (b) to the use or manner of use of the Denfsethises and the Building Common Area. Tenant sthsdl observe and comply with the
requirements of all policies of public liabilityiré and other policies of insurance at any timéoice with respect to the Demised Premises.
Without limiting the foregoing, if as a result afi@or more Governmental Requirements it is necgsam time to time during the Term, to
perform an alteration or modification of the Dendig&remises (a "Code Modification") which is madeeassary as a result of the specific use
being made by Tenant of the Demised Premises,sheim Code Modification shall be the sole and exetusesponsibility of Tenant in all
respects; any such Code Modification shall be ptomgerformed by Tenant at its expense in accordarith the applicable Governmental
Requirement and with Section 18 hereof. If as alted one or more Governmental Requirementsiitisessary from time to time during the
Term to perform a Code Modification which (i) woldé characterized as a capital expenditure underghy accepted accounting principles
and (ii) is not made necessary as a result offikeific use being made by Tenant of the DemisethRes, then (a) Landlord shall have the
obligation to perform the Code Modification atéspense, (b) the cost of such Code Modificationl ffleaamortized on a straight-line basis
over the useful life of the item in question, ass@nably determined by Landlord, and (c) Tenarnit bkeaobligated to pay (as Additional Rent,
payable in the same manner and upon the same éeninsonditions as the Base Rent reserved hereuiodene portion of such amortized
costs attributable to the remainder of the Termluiding any extensions thereof. Tenant shall préyrgeind to Landlord a copy of any written
notice received by Tenant requiring a Code Modiftra

16. Environmental Matters.
(a) For purposes of this Lease:

(i) "Contamination” as used herein means the psehor release of Hazardous Substances (as h#egidefined) into any environmental
media from, upon, within, below, into or on any toam of the Demised Premises, the Building, theldng Common Area or the Project sc
to require remediation, cleanup or investigatiodermany applicable Environmental Law (as hereimafégined).

(i "Environmental Laws" as used herein meandealeral, state, and local laws, regulations, ordeamits, ordinances or other requireme
which exist now or as may exist hereafter, concgrpirotection of human health, safety and the enwirent, all as may be amended from
time to time.

(iii) "Hazardous Substances" as used herein meanhazardous or toxic substance, material, cheppedlutant, contaminant or waste as
those terms are defined by any applicable Envireriadd.aws (including, without limitation, the Congdrensive Environmental Response,
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. 9601eq."CERCLA") and the Resource Conservation antbRery Act, 42 U.S.C. 6901 et
seq. ['RCRA"]) and any solid wastes, polychlorimhbephenyls, urea formaldehyde, asbestos, radigantaterials, radon, explosives,
petroleum products and oil.

(b) Landlord represents that, except as reveal@@mant in writing by Landlord, to Landlord's adtbhaowledge, Landlord has not treated,
stored or disposed of any Hazardous Substances upon
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or within the Demised Premises, nor, to Landload®ial knowledge, has any predecessor owner dd¢ngised Premises.

(c) Tenant covenants that all its activities, dma dctivities of Tenant's Affiliates (as definedSaction 10(b)), on the Demised Premises, the
Building, or the Project during the Term will benttucted in compliance with Environmental Laws. Trenaarrants that it is currently in
compliance with all applicable Environmental Lawsldhat there are no pending or threatened notitdsficiency, notices of violation,
orders, or judicial or administrative actions inxaly alleged violations by Tenant of any Environt@thaws arising out of its activities on or
within the Demised Premises. Tenant, at Tenantkscast and expense, shall be responsible formbhtaall permits or licenses or approvals
under Environmental Laws necessary for Tenant'sabip@ of its business on the Demised Premisesshalil make all notifications and
registrations required by any applicable Environtakbaws. Tenant, at Tenant's sole cost and expshadl at all times comply with the
terms and conditions of all such permits, licenaggrovals, notifications and registrations andaity other applicable Environmental La
Tenant warrants that it has obtained all such gericenses or approvals and made all such natifins and registrations required by any
applicable Environmental Laws necessary for Teaateration of its business on the Demised Premises

(d) Tenant shall not cause or permit any Hazar@usstances to be brought upon, kept or used ibartahe Demised Premises, the
Building, or the Project in violation of any Envinmental Laws without the prior written consent aihidlord, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld; provided, however, thatdtesent of Landlord shall not be required for the at the Demised Premises of cleaning
supplies, toner for photocopying machines and athmilar materials, in containers and quantitiessomably necessary for and consistent
normal and ordinary use by Tenant in the routineration or maintenance of Tenant's office equipnoeiin the routine janitorial service,
cleaning and maintenance for the Demised Prenfigepurposes of this Section 16, Landlord shaliéemed to have reasonably withheld
consent if Landlord determines that the presencich Hazardous Substance within the Demised Pesm@uld result in a risk of harm to
person or property or otherwise negatively affaettalue or marketability of the Building or theofexct.

(e) Tenant shall not cause or permit the releasepiHazardous Substances by Tenant or Tenantlg# into any environmental media
such as air, water or land, or into or on the DexhiBremises, the Building or the Project in any mearhat violates any Environmental Laws.
If such release shall occur, Tenant shall (i) aksteps reasonably necessary to contain andaantch release and any associated
Contamination, (ii) clean up or otherwise remedgtsielease and any associated Contamination textieat required by, and take any and all
other actions required under, applicable Environtaldraws and (iii) notify and keep Landlord reasblyanformed of such release and
response.

(f) Regardless of any consents granted by Landgdarduant to

Section 16(d) allowing Hazardous Substances uppD#mised Premises, Tenant shall under no circunmssavhatsoever cause or permit (i)
any activity on the Demised Premises which wouldseathe Demised Premises to become subject toatéuhs a hazardous waste
treatment, storage or disposal facility under RGiRAhe regulations promulgated thereunder, (ii)diseharge of Hazardous Substances into
the storm sewer system serving the Project ortfig)installation of any underground storage tankrmlerground piping on or under the
Demised Premises.

(g) Tenant shall and hereby does indemnify Landésrd hold Landlord harmless from and against agyadiireasonable and actual expense,
loss, and liability suffered by Landlord (excepthe extent that such expenses, losses, and fiebidirise out of Landlord's own negligence or
willful act), by reason of the storage, generati@fease, handling, treatment, transportation,adiah or arrangement for transportation or
disposal, of any Hazardous Substances (whethedteadeil, intentional, or negligent) by
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Tenant or Tenant's Affiliates or by reason of Telsdoreach of any of the provisions of this SecfiénSuch expenses, losses and liabilities
shall include, without limitation, (i) any and akpenses that Landlord may incur to comply with Bnyironmental Laws; (ii) any and all
costs that Landlord may incur in studying or renmiegyany Contamination at or arising from the DemiBeemises, the Building, or the
Project; (iii) any and all costs that Landlord magur in studying, removing, disposing or otherwaslelressing any Hazardous Substances;
(iv) any and all fines, penalties or other sandiaasessed upon Landlord; and (v) any and all Eaghprofessional fees and costs incurred by
Landlord in connection with the foregoing. The imdety contained herein shall survive the expiratorearlier termination of this Lease fc
period of two

(2) years after said termination or expirationto$ t_ease.

17. Construction of Demised Premises. Tenant heegpyessly acknowledges and agrees that it shatipicand shall be deemed to have

accepted, the Demised Premises AS IS, WHERE |ISaarsditable for the purposes for which the sarademsed hereby and, upon reques
Landlord, shall execute and deliver to Landloréttelr of acceptance in which Tenant (i) acceptiimised Premises AS IS, WHERE IS

(i) confirms that the Lease Commencement DateBtme Rent Commencement Date and the Expiratios i@atain as set forth in Sectior
or if revised pursuant to the terms hereof, settimth such dates as so revised.

18. Tenant Alterations and Additions.

(a) Tenant shall not make or permit to be madeadteyations, improvements, or additions to the BemiPremises (a "Tenant's Change"),
without first obtaining on each occasion Landlopii®r written consent (which consent Landlord agraot to unreasonably withhold) and
Lender's prior written consent (if such consemeguired). As part of its approval process, Lardlimay require that Tenant submit plans and
specifications to Landlord, for Landlord's approeatisapproval, which approval shall not be unoeably withheld. All Tenant's Changes
shall be performed in accordance with all legabiezments applicable thereto and in a good and mvaritike manner with first-class
materials. Tenant shall maintain insurance readgrsaltisfactory to Landlord during the constructfrall Tenant's Changes. If Landlord at
the time of giving its approval to any Tenant's @@ notifies Tenant in writing that approval is ditioned upon restoration, then Tenant
shall, at its sole cost and expense and upon thertation or expiration of this Lease, remove tame and restore the Demised Premises
condition prior to such Tenant's Change. No Terdtitange shall be structural in nature or impairstinuctural strength of the Building.
Tenant shall pay the full cost of any Tenant's @ea:xcept as otherwise provided herein and ini@ed® hereof, and except as agreed L
by the parties at the time a Tenant's Change imapg, all Tenant's Changes shall immediately ugmnpletion or installation thereof be and
become part of the Demised Premises and the pyopiekiandlord without payment therefor by Landl@mdd shall be surrendered to Landl
upon the expiration or earlier termination of thesase.

(b) To the extent permitted by law, all of Tenantsitracts and subcontracts for such Tenant's @sasttpll provide that no lien shall attac
or be claimed against the Demised Premises orraagest therein other than Tenant's leaseholdeisttén the Demised Premises, and that all
subcontracts let thereunder shall contain the ganmésion. Whether or not Tenant furnishes thedoireg, Tenant agrees to hold Landlord
harmless against all liens, claims and liabilibégvery kind, nature and description which mag&aout of or in any way be connected with
such work. Tenant shall not permit the Demised estto become subject to any mechanics', labarensaterialmen'’s lien on account of
labor, material or services furnished to Tenardlaimed to have been furnished to Tenant in commeetith work of any character perform
or claimed to have been performed for the DemigediBes by, or at the direction or sufferance afarg and if any such liens are filed
against the Demised Premises, Tenant shall prordbharge the same; provided, however, that Testalt have the right to contest, in
good faith and with reasonable diligence, the W3lidf any such lien or claimed lien if Tenant dlglve to Landlord, within fifteen days after
demand, such security as may be reasonably satisfao Landlord to assure payment thereof and to
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prevent any sale, foreclosure, or forfeiture of dland's interest in the Demised Premises by reaoon-payment thereof; provided further
that on final determination of the lien or clainr fien, Tenant shall immediately pay any judgmemtdered, with all proper costs and char
and shall have the lien released and any judgnatisfied. If Tenant fails to post such securitydoes not diligently contest such lien,
Landlord may, without investigation of the validi§ the lien claim, discharge such lien and Terséuatl reimburse Landlord upon demand

all costs and expenses incurred in connection witrewhich expenses shall include any attornegssf paralegals' fees and any and all costs
associated therewith, including litigation throwghtrial and appellate levels and any costs irtipgdond to effect a discharge or release of
the lien. Nothing contained in this Lease shaltbestrued as a consent on the part of Landlordligest the Demised Premises to liability
under any lien law now or hereafter existing of skege in which the Demised Premises are located.

19. Services by Landlord. Landlord shall be resfidador providing for maintenance of the Buildi@@mmon Area, and, except as required
by Section

10(b), hereof Landlord shall be responsible foottter services whatsoever. Tenant, by payment o&fiis share of the Operating Expenses,
shall pay Tenant's pro rata share of the expensesred by Landlord hereunder.

20. Fire and Other Casualty. In the event the DethiBremises are damaged by fire or other caslahgdlord agrees to promptly restore and
repair the Demised Premises at Landlord's expémsading the Improvements to be insured by Temantonly to the extent Landlord
receives insurance proceeds therefor, includingtbeeeds from the insurance required to be cabyebenant on the Improvements
(provided that Landlord shall be responsible for daductible under Landlord's insurance policis®twithstanding the foregoing, in the
event that the Demised Premises are (i) in theoredsle opinion of Landlord, so destroyed that tb@ynot be repaired or rebuilt within nin

(90) days after the date of such damage; or (8j)rdged by a casualty which is covered by Landéoirtsurance but Lender or other party
entitled to insurance proceeds fails to make suchgeds available to Landlord in an amount sufficfer restoration of the Demised
Premises reasonably acceptable to Tenant, therldrarghall give written notice to Tenant of suchedmination (the "Determination
Notice") within sixty (60) days of such casualtytier Landlord or Tenant may terminate and carfuslltease effective as of the date of s
casualty by giving written notice to the other gawithin thirty (30) days after Tenant's receiptioé Determination Notice. Upon the giving
of such termination notice, all obligations heresingith respect to periods from and after the eifecdate of termination shall thereupon
cease and terminate. If no such termination nagicgven, Landlord shall, to the extent of the &alale insurance proceeds, make such repair
or restoration of the Demised Premises to the aqapiate condition existing prior to such casualtsgrpptly and in such manner as not to
unreasonably interfere with Tenant's use and ogumypaf the Demised Premises (if Tenant is stillugmgng the Demised Premises). Base
Rent and Additional Rent shall proportionately abdiring the time that the Demised Premises ompantythereof are unusable by reason of
any such damage thereto.

21. Condemnation.

(a) If all of the Demised Premises is taken or @mded for a public or quasi-public use, or if atipor of the Demised Premises is taken or
condemned for a public or quasi-public use andé¢hgaining portion thereof is not usable by Tenarthe reasonable opinion of Landlord,
this Lease shall terminate as of the earlier oftiie title to the condemned real estate vestsirondemnor or the date on which the
Demised Premises are not usable by Tenant. Inesusfit, the Base Rent herein reserved and all AxfditiRent and other sums payable
hereunder shall be apportioned and paid in fulTegant to Landlord to that date, all Base Rent,idalthl Rent and other sums payable
hereunder prepaid for periods beyond that daté ksbakpaid by Landlord to Tenant on the date sipgortioned payment is made, and
neither party shall thereafter have any liabiligréunder, except that any obligation or liabilifyedher party under this Lease which has
accrued on or prior to such termination date shaWive.
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(b) If only part of the Demised Premises is takenandemned for a public or quasipublic use anslltkeiase does not terminate pursuant to
Section 21(a), Landlord shall, to the extent ofdlaerd it receives, restore the Demised Premisastmdition and to a size as nearly
comparable as reasonably possible to the conditioinsize thereof immediately prior to the takimy ¢éhere shall be an equitable adjustment
to the Base Rent and Additional Rent accordingnéovialue of the Demised Premises before and difeetaking.

(c) Landlord shall be entitled to receive the entiward in any proceeding with respect to any takiovided for in this Section 21, and
Tenant shall receive no part of such award. Nothieigin contained shall be deemed to prohibit Teftam making a separate claim, against
the condemnor, to the extent permitted by lawtliervalue of Tenant's leasehold estate, moveadde fixtures, machinery and moving
expenses, provided that the making of such claiatl st and does not adversely affect or diminisindlord's award.

22. Tenant's Default.
(a) The occurrence of any one or more of the falhgwevents shall constitute an "Event of DefauftTenant under this Lease:

(i) if Tenant fails to pay Base Rent or any Additi Rent hereunder as and when such rent becoreesndiusuch failure shall continue for
more than ten (10) days after Landlord gives wiittetice to Tenant of such failure;

(i) intentionally omitted;
(i) if the Demised Premises become deserted andbned for more than thirty (30) consecutive days;

(iv) if Tenant permits to be done anything whichates a lien upon the Demised Premises and failis¢harge or bond such lien, or post
security with Landlord acceptable to Landlord witlthirty (30) days after receipt by Tenant of venittnotice thereof;

(v) if Tenant fails to maintain in force all polés of insurance required by this Lease and sultiréashall continue for more than ten (10)
days after Landlord gives Tenant written noticeswdh failure;

(vi) if any petition is filed by or against Tenamider any present or future section or chaptehe@Bankruptcy Code, or under any similar law
or statute of the United States or any state tli€vatch, in the case of an involuntary proceedisgjot permanently discharged, dismissed,
stayed, or vacated, as the case may be, withinyn{@8) days of commencement), or if any orderédief shall be entered against Tenant in
any such proceedings;

(vii) intentionally omitted;

(viii) if a receiver, custodian, or trustee is apyped for the Demised Premises or for all or sulitsaily all of the assets of Tenant, which
appointment is not vacated within sixty (60) dayiofving the date of such appointment; or

(ix) if Tenant fails to perform or observe any atherm of this Lease and such failure shall corgtifar more than thirty (30) days after
Landlord gives Tenant written notice of such faluor, if such failure cannot be corrected withiolsthirty (30) day period, if Tenant does
not
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commence to correct such default within said thidf)) day period and thereafter diligently prosedbe correction of same to completion
within a reasonable time.

(b) Upon the occurrence of any one or more Evehidedault, Landlord may, at Landlord's option, vatlt any demand or notice whatsoever
(except as expressly required in this Section 22):

(i) Terminate this Lease by giving Tenant noticaesmination, in which event this Lease shall ex@ind terminate on the date specified in
such notice of termination and all rights of Tenamdler this Lease and in and to the Demised Prsralsal terminate. Tenant shall remain
liable for all obligations under this Lease arisingto the date of such termination, and Tenart sharender the Demised Premises to
Landlord on the date specified in such notice; or

(i) Terminate this Lease as provided in Sectiotb2@ hereof and recover from Tenant all damagasdlord may incur by reason of Tenant's
default, including, without limitation, an amounhigh, at the date of such termination, is calculats follows: (1) the value of the excess, if
any, of (A) the Base Rent, Additional Rent ando#itfier sums which would have been payable hereund€&enant for the period commenci
with the day following the date of such terminataomd ending with the Expiration Date had this Leastebeen terminated (the "Remaining
Term"), over (B) the aggregate fair market rentdue of the Demised Premises for the Remaining Ternich excess, if any shall be
discounted to present value at the "Treasury Yiakitiefined below for the Remaining Term); plust{i)costs of recovering possession of
the Demised Premises and all other expenses inchyréandlord due to Tenant's default, includinghaut limitation, reasonable attorney's
fees; plus (3) the unpaid Base Rent and Additi®@it earned as of the date of termination plusirteyest and late fees due hereunder, plus
other sums of money and damages owing on the dadéensination by Tenant to Landlord under this Lecas in connection with the Demised
Premises. The amount as calculated above shaddraetl immediately due and payable. The paymeheddmount calculated in
subparagraph (ii)(l) shall not be deemed a permltyshall merely constitute payment of liquidatednéges, it being understood and
acknowledged by Landlord and Tenant that actualadg® to Landlord are extremely difficult, if notgossible, to ascertain. "Treasury Yie
shall mean the rate of return in percent per anofiiireasury Constant Maturities for the lengthiofe specified as published in document
H.15(519) (presently published by the Board of Gowes of the U.S. Federal Reserve System titledéFa Reserve Statistical Release") for
the calendar week immediately preceding the calewdak in which the termination occurs. If the rate@eturn of Treasury Constant
Maturities for the calendar week in question is puiblished on or before the business day precatimgate of the Treasury Yield in question
is to become effective, then the Treasury Yieldldi@based upon the rate of return of Treasurystaort Maturities for the length of time
specified for the most recent calendar week forchvisiuch publication has occurred. If no rate afnrefor Treasury Constant Maturities is
published for the specific length of time specifitte Treasury Yield for such length of time slolthe weighted average of the rates of
return of Treasury Constant Maturities most needresponding to the length of the applicable gkspecified. If the publishing of the rate
of return of Treasury Constant Maturities is eviscdntinued, then the Treasury Yield shall be bagmmh the index which is published by the
Board of Governors of the U.S. Federal Reservectyat replacement thereof or, if no such replacanmelex is published, the index which,
in Landlord's reasonable determination, most nearfyesponds to the rate of return of Treasury @anidaturities. In determining the
aggregate fair market rental value pursuant to aaggaph (ii)(I)(B) above, the parties hereby aghe¢, at the time Landlord seeks to enforce
this remedy, all relevant factors should be consideincluding, but not limited to, (a) the lengthtime remaining in the Term, (b) the then
current market conditions in the general area irckvthe Building is located, (c) the likelihood @etting the Demised Premises for a period
of time equal to the remainder of the Term, (d)nbeeffective rental rates then being obtainethhglords for similar type space of similar
size in similar type buildings in the general areahich the Building is located, (e) the vacaneydls in the general area in which the
Building is located, (f) current levels of new ctrmstion that will be completed
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during the remainder of the Term and how this aoesibn will likely affect vacancy rates and rentates and (g) inflation; or
(iii) Intentionally Omitted

(iv) Without terminating this Lease, in its own nafout as agent for Tenant, enter into and uportakedpossession of the Demised Premises
or any part thereof. Any property remaining in Bemised Premises may be removed and stored inehaase or elsewhere at the cost of,
and for the account of, Tenant without Landlordhigeiieemed guilty of trespass or becoming liableafor loss or damage which may be
occasioned thereby unless caused by Landlord'sgeegk. Thereafter, Landlord may, but shall nobbkgated to, lease to a third party the
Demised Premises or any portion thereof as thetad@renant upon such terms and conditions as lomddhay deem necessary or desirable
in order to relet the Demised Premises. The renesioflany rentals received by Landlord from sudbttiag, after the payment of any
indebtedness due hereunder from Tenant to Landdmdithe payment of any costs and expenses ofrslatting, shall be held by Landlord
the extent of and for application in payment ofifetrent owed by Tenant, if any, as the same megrbe due and payable hereunder. If such
rentals received from such reletting shall at amgtor from time to time be less than sufficienptty to Landlord the entire sums then due
from Tenant hereunder, Tenant shall pay any sufibielecy to Landlord. Notwithstanding any such tétey without termination, Landlord
may at any time thereafter elect to terminate ltkisse for any such previous default provided saasenlot been cured; or

(v) Without terminating this Lease, and with orhwitit notice to Tenant, enter into and upon the BethPremises and, without being liable
for prosecution or any claim for damages therefaintain the Demised Premises and repair or reglagelamage thereto or do anything or
make any payment for which Tenant is responsibtedraer. Tenant shall reimburse Landlord immediaipbn demand for any expenses
which Landlord incurs in thus effecting Tenant'sngptiance under this Lease and Landlord shall ndidisée to Tenant for any damages with
respect thereto; or

(vi) Without liability to Tenant or any other parand without constituting a constructive or acmttion, suspend or discontinue furnishing
or rendering to Tenant any property, material, fabtlities or other service, wherever Landloraisigated to furnish or render the same so
long as an Event of Default exists under this Lpase

(vii) With or without terminating this Lease, allaiwve Demised Premises to remain unoccupied andata#nt from Tenant as it comes due;
or

(viii) Pursue such other remedies as are availatlaw or equity.

(c) If this Lease shall terminate as a result oivhile there exists an Event of Default hereunday, funds of Tenant held by Landlord may be
applied by Landlord to any damages payable by Teférether provided for herein or by law) as a hestisuch termination or default.

(d) Neither the commencement of any action or pedieg, nor the settlement thereof, nor entry ofjudnt thereon shall bar Landlord from
bringing subsequent actions or proceedings frore tortime, nor shall the failure to include in awtion or proceeding any sum or sums then
due be a bar to the maintenance of any subseqcigmnsor proceedings for the recovery of such susums so omitted.

(e) No agreement to accept a surrender of the Behitsemises and no act or omission by Landlordaodlord's agents during the Term s
constitute an acceptance or surrender of the Dehnlsemises unless made in writing and signed bylload. No re-entry or taking
possession of the Demised Premises by Landlord ahradtitute an election by Landlord to termindtis L_ease unless a written notice
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of such intention is given to Tenant. No provisadrthis Lease shall be deemed to have been waiyeither party unless such waiver is in
writing and signed by the party making such wait@ndlord's acceptance of Base Rent or AdditioreitRn full or in part following an
Event of Default hereunder shall not be constriged waiver of such Event of Default. No custom marcice which may grow up between
parties in connection with the terms of this Lesisall be construed to waive or lessen either pgaright to insist upon strict performance of
the terms of this Lease, without a written notiveréof to the other party.

(f) If an Event of Default shall occur, Tenant dhpay to Landlord, on demand, all expenses incubbsetlandlord as a result thereof, including
reasonable attorneys' fees, court costs and expaoctgally incurred.

23. Landlord's Right of Entry. Tenant agrees tarpetandlord and the authorized representativesamidliord and of Lender to enter upon
Demised Premises at all reasonable times for thgoges of inspecting the Demised Premises and Termampliance with this Lease, and
making any necessary repairs thereto; provided éxaept in the case of an emergency, Landlord gha Tenant reasonable prior notice of
Landlord's intended entry upon the Demised Premidething herein shall imply any duty upon the gartandlord to do any work required
of Tenant hereunder, and the performance theretfbglord shall not constitute a waiver of Tenadéult in failing to perform it.

Landlord shall not be liable for inconvenience, @yamce, disturbance or other damage to Tenantdspneof making such repairs or the
performance of such work in the Demised Premisemaccount of bringing materials, supplies andmgent into or through the Demised
Premises during the course thereof, and the obigabf Tenant under this Lease shall not therebgffected; provided, however, that
Landlord shall use reasonable efforts not to disturotherwise interfere with Tenant's operationthe Demised Premises in making such
repairs or performing such work. Landlord also haVe the right upon reasonable notice to eneeDidmised Premises at all reasonable
times to exhibit the Demised Premises to any prasgepurchaser or mortgagee thereof, or, duriregldist six (6) months of the Term, to any
prospective tenant thereof.

24. Lender's Rights.
(a) For purposes of this Lease:
() "Lender" as used herein means the current halfla Mortgage;

(i) "Mortgage" as used herein means any or alltgeges, deeds to secure debt, deeds of trust er iogtruments in the nature thereof which
may now or hereafter affect or encumber Landlditléésto the Demised Premises, and any amendmeradifications, extensions or renew
thereof.

(b) Except as hereinafter provided, this Leasealndghts of Tenant hereunder are and shall bgestiand subordinate to the lien and sec
title of any Mortgage. Tenant recognizes and ackedges the right of Lender to foreclose or exerthiggpower of sale against the Demised
Premises under any Mortgage. Tenant's subordinagogunder shall be conditioned upon enteringargabordination, nondisturbance and
attornment agreement with the Mortgagee, reasoredggptable to Tenant and consistent with thisgraph 24.

(c) Tenant shall, in confirmation of the subordioatset forth in Section 24(b) and notwithstanding fact that such subordination is self-
operative, and no further instrument or subordorashall be necessary, upon demand, at any tirtimes, execute, acknowledge, and del
to Landlord or to Lender any and all instrumentsanably acceptable to Tenant requested by eiftikem to evidence such subordination.
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(d) At any time during the Term, Lender may, byttern notice to Tenant, make this Lease superitradien of its Mortgage. If requested by
Lender, Tenant shall, upon demand, at any timemed, execute, acknowledge, and deliver to Lerater,and all instruments reasonably
acceptable to Tenant that may be necessary to thakeease superior to the lien of any Mortgage.

(e) If Lender (or Lender's nominee, or other pusehat foreclosure) shall hereafter succeed toighés of Landlord under this Lease,
whether through possession or foreclosure actiatetivery of a new lease, Tenant shall attorn t @Tognize such successor as Tenant's
landlord under this Lease without change in thegeand provisions of this Lease and shall promgatlscute and deliver any instrument that
may be necessary to evidence such attornment,deadvhat such successor shall not be bound byyipayment of Base Rent or Additional
Rent for more than one month in advance, excepigyraents in the nature of security for the perfaroeaby Tenant of its obligations under
this Lease, and then only if such prepayments baea deposited with and are under the control cf successor, (ii) any provision of any
amendment to the Lease to which Lender has noeoted, (iii) the defaults of any prior landlord endhis Lease, or (iv) any offset rights
arising out of the defaults of any prior landlomter this Lease. Upon such attornment, this Lelaak continue in full force and effect as a
direct lease between each successor landlord amahT,esubject to all of the terms, covenants amdiitions of this Lease.

(f) In the event there is a Mortgage at any timarduthe Term, Landlord shall use reasonable effrtcause the Lender to enter into a
subordination, nondisturbance and attornment aggaemith Tenant reasonably satisfactory to Tenadt@nsistent with this Section 24.

25. Estoppel Certificate. Landlord and Tenant agaeany time, and from time to time, within fifte€l5) days after written request of the
other, to execute, acknowledge and deliver a s&xtéim writing in recordable form to the requestpagty and/or its designee certifying that:
(i) this Lease is unmodified and in full force agffiect (or, if there have been modifications, ttme&t same is in full force and effect, as
modified), (ii) the dates to which Base Rent, Al Rent and other charges have been paidyfigther or not, to the best of its
knowledge, there exists any failure by the requggpiarty to perform any term, covenant or conditiontained in this Lease, and, if so,
specifying each such failure, (iv) (if such be tase) Tenant has unconditionally accepted the Dehisemises and is conducting its busi
therein, and (v) and as to such additional matienmay be requested by Landlord and approved bariigih being intended that any such
statement delivered pursuant hereto may be reped by the requesting party and by any purchasttl@to the Demised Premises or by .
mortgagee or any assignee thereof or any partgytsale-leaseback of the Demised Premises, oattdddrd under a ground lease affecting
the Demised Premises.

26. Landlord Liability. No owner of the Demised Riises, whether or not named herein, shall havditiahereunder after it ceases to hold
title to the Demised Premises. Neither Landlordaroy officer, director, shareholder, partner ongipal of Landlord, whether disclosed or
undisclosed, shall be under any personal liab#ity respect to any of the provisions of this Ledsdhe event Landlord is in breach or
default with respect to Landlord's obligations treswise under this Lease, Tenant shall look sdtetye equity of Landlord in the Building
for the satisfaction of Tenant's remedies. It igressly understood and agreed that Landlord'ditiabnder the terms, covenants, conditions,
warranties and obligations of this Lease shalldrement exceed the loss of Landlord's equity istarethe Building.

27. Notices. Any notice required or permitted tageen or served by either party to this Leaseldl@mbeemed given when made in writing,
and either (i) personally delivered, (ii) depositeith the United States Postal Service, postagpgie by registered or certified mail, return
receipt requested, or (iii) delivered by licensedraight delivery service providing proof of deliyeproperly addressed to the address set
forth in Section 1(m) (as the same may be changagiviing written notice of the aforesaid in accarda with this Section 27). If any notice
mailed is properly addressed with appropriate mestaut
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returned for any reason, such notice shall be ddembe effective notice and to be given on the ddimailing.

28. Brokers. Tenant represents and warrants tolaehthat, except for those parties set forth int®@ 1(0) (the "Brokers"), Tenant has not
engaged or had any conversations or negotiatiotisamyy broker, finder or other third party concamthe leasing of the Demised Premis¢
Tenant who would be entitled to any commissioneerhased on the execution of this Lease. Tenaebhéurther represents and warrants to
Landlord that Tenant is not receiving and is nditkedl to receive any rebate, payment or other megnation, either directly or indirectly, fro
the Brokers, and that it is not otherwise sharingrientitled to share in any commission or feel paithe Brokers by Landlord or any other
party in connection with the execution of this Lexasither directly or indirectly. Tenant herebyenthifies Landlord against and from any
claims for any brokerage commissions (except tipagable to the Brokers, all of which are payabld.agdlord pursuant to a separate
agreement) and all costs, expenses and liabilitieennection therewith, including, without limitan, reasonable attorneys' fees and
expenses, for any breach of the foregoing. Thegfuirey indemnification shall survive the terminatiofithis Lease for any reason.

29. Assignment and Subleasing.

(a) Tenant may not assign, mortgage, pledge, eneunrtotherwise transfer this Lease, or any intdreseunder, or sublet the Demised
Premises, in whole or in part, without on each simrafirst obtaining the prior express written camisof Landlord, which consent Landlord
shall not unreasonably withhold or delay. Permitaldtenants or assignees shall become liable W§itectandlord for all obligations of
Tenant hereunder, without, however, relieving Temdmany of its liability hereunder. No such assiggnt, subletting, occupancy or collection
shall be deemed the acceptance of the assigneat i@noccupant, as Tenant, or a release of Térantthe further performance by Tenan
Tenant's obligations under this Lease. Any assignmesublease consented to by Landlord shallel@vwe Tenant (or its assignee) from
obtaining Landlord's consent to any subsequengasgnt or sublease.

30. Termination or Expiration.

(a) No termination of this Lease prior to the nokrerading thereof, by lapse of time or otherwisalkaffect Landlord's right to collect rent 1
the period prior to termination thereof.

(b) Except as provided in Section 18 above, atttpération or earlier termination of the Term osthease, Tenant shall surrender the
Demised Premises and all improvements, alterafodsadditions thereto, and keys therefor to Lankllolean and neat, and in the same
condition as at the Lease Commencement Date, ergapdrmal wear and tear, condemnation and casa#igr than that required to be
insured against by Tenant hereunder.

(c) If Tenant remains in possession of the Demi&inises after expiration of the Term, with or withLandlord's acquiescence and without
any express agreement of the parties, Tenantlshalltenant-at-sufferance at 125% of the Base iRefitect at the end of the Term for sixty
(60) days, and thereafter at one hundred fifty @atr¢150%) of the Base Rent in effect at the enth@fTerm. Tenant shall also continue to
pay all other Additional Rent due hereunder, arddtshall be no renewal of this Lease by operatidaw. In addition to the foregoing,
Tenant shall be liable for all costs incurred bydlard in enforcing the provisions of this Section

30. No receipt of money by Landlord from Tenaneathe termination of this Lease or Tenant's raftgossession of the Demised Premises
shall reinstate, continue or extend the Term oraféa right of possession.

31. Intentionally Omitted.
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32. Late Payments. In the event any installmeméwf, inclusive of Base Rent, or Additional Renbtiter sums due hereunder, if any, is not
paid within ten (10) days after the date when dwmant shall pay interest on the amount past dtheedesser of (i) the maximum interest «
allowed by law or

(i) a rate of fifteen percent (15%) per annum (thderest Rate") to defray the additional experisearred by Landlord in processing such
payment.

33. Rules and Regulations. Tenant agrees to alitleelrules and regulations set forth on Exhibatiached hereto, as well as other rules and
regulations reasonably promulgated by Landlord ftione to time, so long as such rules and regulatame uniformly enforced against all
tenants of Landlord in the Project and reasonatdgptable to Tenant.

34. Quiet Enjoyment. So long as Tenant has not dttearan Event of Default hereunder, Landlord agithat Tenant shall have the right to
quietly use and enjoy the Demised Premises fol &ren.

35. Miscellaneous.

(a) The parties hereto hereby covenant and ageg¢é amdlord shall receive the Base Rent, AdditidRanht and all other sums payable by
Tenant hereinabove provided as net income fronb#raised Premises, without any abatement (excegdtaerth in Section 20 and Section
21), reduction, set-off, counterclaim, defenseextuttion whatsoever, except as set forth in Exi@kattached hereto.

(b) If any clause or provision of this Lease isedetined to be illegal, invalid or unenforceable engdresent or future laws effective during
Term, then and in that event, it is the intentibthe parties hereto that the remainder of thisseeshall not be affected thereby, and that in
lieu of such illegal, invalid or unenforceable @dawr provision there shall be substituted a clanggovision as similar in terms to such
illegal, invalid or unenforceable clause or prosisas may be possible and be legal, valid and eséiie.

(c) All rights, powers, and privileges conferredénender upon the parties hereto shall be cumuldbivenot restrictive to those given by law.
(d) TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE OF THIS LEASE.

(e) No failure of Landlord or Tenant to exercisg @ower given Landlord or Tenant hereunder or sisinupon strict compliance by Landlord
or Tenant with its obligations hereunder, and nst@m or practice of the parties at variance withtdrms hereof shall constitute a waiver of
Landlord's or Tenant's rights to demand exact c@ampé with the terms hereof.

(f) This Lease contains the entire agreement op#rées hereto as to the subject matter of theskend no representations, inducements,
promises or agreements, oral or otherwise, betweeparties not embodied herein shall be of angefand effect. The masculine (or neuter)
pronoun, singular number shall include the maseulieminine and neuter gender and the singulapamdl number.

(9) This contract shall create the relationshipaafilord and tenant between Landlord and Tenanéstate shall pass out of Landlord; Tenant
has a usufruct, not subject to levy and sale, an@ssignable by Tenant except as expressly détterein.

(h) Under no circumstances shall Tenant have titd to record this Lease or a memorandum thereof.
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(i) The captions of this Lease are for convenienrdy and are not a part of this Lease, and domahy way define, limit, describe or amplify
the terms or provisions of this Lease or the seppatent thereof.

(j) This Lease may be executed in multiple courggry each of which shall constitute an originat, &l of which taken together shall
constitute one and the same agreement.

(k) This Lease shall be interpreted under the lafathe State where the Demised Premises are lacated

() The parties acknowledge that this Lease ig¢iselt of negotiations between the parties, armbirstruing any ambiguity hereunder no
presumption shall be made in favor of either padty.inference shall be made from any item whichlheen stricken from this Lease other
than the deletion of such item.

36. Special Stipulations. The Special Stipulatighany, attached hereto as Exhibit C, are incaapeat herein and made a part hereof, and to
the extent of any conflict between the foregoingvisions and the Special Stipulations, the Spe&iglulations shall govern and control.

37. Lease Date. For purposes of this Lease, the'leease Date" shall mean the later date upon wihishLease is signed by Landlord and
Tenant.

38. Authority. If Tenant is not a natural persoen@nt shall cause its corporate secretary or gepa@rtaer, as applicable, to execute the
certificate attached hereto as Exhibit E. Tenaauihorized by all required corporate or partngrsittion to enter into this Lease and the
individual(s) signing this Lease on behalf of Tenare each authorized to bind Tenant to its terms.

39. No Offer Until Executed. The submission of théase to Tenant for examination or consideratimeschot constitute an offer to lease the
Demised Premises and this Lease shall becomeigéeittat all, only upon the execution and delivérereof by Landlord and Tenant.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have he@aet their hands under seals, the day and ysaafiove written.

Date: MAR 31, 1999 LANDL ORD:

NEW YORK LI FE | NSURANCE COMPANY, a
New York mutual insurance conpany

By: /s/ RON F. PETIT

Name: Ron F. Petit
Title: Assistant Vice President

[ CORPORATE SEAL]
Date: 3-26-99 TENANT:
DAl SYTEK, I NC., a Del aware corporation
By: /s/ HARVEY ACHATZ

Name: Harvey Achatz
Title: VP Adm n/ Secretary

Attest: /s/ LEE MARSHALL

Narme: Lee Marshall
Title: Exec. Asst.

[ CORPORATE SEAL]
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EXHIBIT 10.42
FIRST AMENDMENT TO INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENTthis "Amendment") is made as of the Amendment Dase
hereinafter defined) by and between NEW YORK LIRSSURANCE COMPANY, a New York mutual insurance comp4'Landlord"), anc
DAISYTEK, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Tenant)caPRIORITY FULFILLMENT SERVICES, INC., a Delawacerporation
("Assignee").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant entered into thataderindustrial Lease Agreement dated March 31, {#89"Lease") relating to the lec
of approximately 120,000 square feet of space wibhilding "I" (the "Building") of Southpark, locatl in Memphis, Shelby County,
Tennessee (the "Original Demised Premises"); and

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend tresé&do, among other things, expand the Original iBetiiPremises to include the
remaining 100,100 square feet of space within thiddBig (the "Expansion Space"; the Original Derdi®¥emises and the Expansion Space
being referred to hereinafter collectively as thethised Premises") subject to the terms and comditset forth herein; and

WHEREAS, without releasing the Tenant therefrors, Tenant wishes to assign the Lease (as hereindmugto the Assignee, and the
Assignee wishes to accept the Lease (as so amead@dissume the obligations of the Tenant thereunde

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of Ten &lw100 Dollars ($10.00), the mutual covenants aioretd herein and other good ¢
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieoicywhich are hereby acknowledged, the partiesthexgree as follows:

1. All capitalized terms used in this Amendmentlishave the meanings ascribed thereto in the Laatess otherwise set forth herein.

2. As of the later of (i) the date upon which Gailfas defined below) shall vacate the Expansiorc&pad (ii) February 8, 2000 (such later
date being herein referred to as the "Expansioe'pahe Expansion Space shall be added to and enpdét of the Demised Premises for all
purposes under the Lease.

3. Effective as of the Expansion Date, Section dftihe Lease shall be deleted in its entirety thedfollowing shall be inserted in lieu
thereof:

(b) Demised Premises Square Footage: approxim22€lyi 00 sq. ft.



4. Effective as of the Expansion Date, Section thefLease shall automatically be amended by del¢hierefrom the phrase "approximately
120,000 square feet of space, approximately 6,608rs feet of which is office space," and by iriagrin lieu thereof the phrase
"approximately 220,100 square feet of space, apmraely 11,069 square feet of which is office space

5. Effective as of the Expansion Date, Sectiondf(he Lease shall be deleted in its entirety edfollowing shall be inserted in lieu there
(Tenant's Operating Expense Percentage: 100%.

6. Base Rent shall be paid pursuant to the Leasadh the Expansion Date. Notwithstanding anytlimgection 1(d) of the Lease to the
contrary, from and after the Expansion Date, ttiefong Annual Base Rent shall be due with respet¢he Demised Premises, as expanded
pursuant to the terms hereof:

Expansion Date - March 31, 2000 $663,627.12

April 1, 2000-March 31, 2001 $663,627.12
April 1, 2001-March 31, 2002 $663,627.12
April 1, 2002-March 31, 2003 $663,627.12
April 1, 2003-March 31, 2004 $663,627.12

7. Notwithstanding anything in Section 1(e) of thease to the contrary, from and after the ExpanBiate, the following Monthly Base Rent
Installments shall be due with respect to the DethRremises, as expanded pursuant to the termsfhere

February 1, 2000 - March 31, 2000 $55,302 .26
April 1, 2000 - March 31, 2001 $55,302 .26
April 1, 2001 - March 31, 2002 $55,302 .26
April 1, 2002 - March 31, 2003 $55,302 .26
April 1, 2003 - March 31, 2004 $55,302 .26

If the Expansion Date shall fall on a day othenthz first day of a calendar month, the Base Riall be apportioned pro rata on a per diem
basis for the period between the Expansion Datdtanéirst day of the following calendar month, dodthe last partial month of the Term.

8. Tenant shall accept and shall be deemed to dznapted the Expansion Space AS IS, WHERE IS.
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9. Section 10 of Exhibit C to the Lease shall myla to the Expansion Space, but remains in fultéoand effect as to the Original Demised
Premises.

10. Section 12 of Exhibit C to the Lease is heréblgted in its entirety.

11. Tenant acknowledges that as of the date ofAitmendment, Go/Dan Industries ("Go/Dan") is theatgrcurrently occupying the Expans
Space pursuant to a lease between Landlord andaBditbBe "Go/Dan lease"). Upon execution of this Adraent by both Tenant and
Landlord, Landlord hereby agrees to terminate tb&>@n Lease effective on or before January 31, Z0@0"Go/Dan Termination Date").
Landlord further agrees to use reasonable godd é&dfibrts to cause Go/Dan to vacate the Expanspat&on or before the Go/Dan
Termination Date. To the extent that Go/Dan refusdails to vacate the Expansion Space on or bdfte Go/Dan Termination Date, such
refusal or failure to vacate shall not in any wéget the obligation of Tenant hereunder except the Expansion Date shall be postponed
day for each day that Go/Dan delays in vacatingetkgansion Space.

12. Except for Commercial Tennessee, Inc., whoesmts the Tenant, Landlord and Tenant each repraseé warrant to the other than
neither party has engaged or had any conversationsgotiations with any broker, finder or othdrdtparty concerning the matters set forth
in this Amendment who would be entitled to any cdesion or fee based on the execution of this Amesrdim_andlord and Tenant each
hereby indemnify the other against and from anynddor any brokerage commissions and all costseesges and liabilities in connection
therewith, including, without limitation, reasonalattorneys' fees and expenses, for any breadte dbtegoing. The foregoing
indemnification shall survive the termination oéthease for any reason.

13. Tenant shall have the right to remove the walth presently separates the Original Demised RBesrand the Expansion Space and the
Landlord consents thereto, provided that such reinghall be done in accordance with the applicpbdeisions of the Lease, including
without limitation Section 18 of the Lease, andli@djal requirements.

14. Tenant does hereby assign, convey, sell, aasid deliver to the Assignee, free and cleallditas, claims and encumbrances, all of the
Tenant's right, title and interest in, to and untierLease, as amended herein, and (ii) the Assidoes hereby agree to assume, discharg
perform all obligations and responsibilities of thenant arising under the Lease, as so amended anal after the date hereof with respect to
the remaining term thereof . The Assignee shadlibertly liable to the Landlord for all obligationd the Tenant under the Lease, as herein
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amended, from and after the date hereof with redpebe remaining term thereof; provided, howetleat the Tenant shall not be relieved of
any liability or obligation thereunder. The Landldrereby consents to the assignment describechhemndiagrees to recognize the Assigne
the "Tenant" under the Lease; provided, howevat,ghch consent and recognition shall not relibeelienant of any existing or future
liability or obligation under the Lease. From arigtathe date hereof, all obligations of the Tenamder the Lease, as herein amended, with
respect to the remaining term thereof shall bgdim and several obligations of the Tenant and&ksignee. This consent shall not be
deemed Landlord's consent to any future assignment.

15. Except as amended hereby, the Lease shalldbeearain in full force and effect and unchangedai®nded hereby, the Lease is hereby
ratified and confirmed by all parties hereto. Te #xtent the terms hereof are inconsistent withéhas of the Lease, the terms hereof shall
control.

16. This Amendment shall be governed by and coedtin accordance with the laws of the State of €saee.

17. For purposes of this Amendment, the term "Amegat Date" shall mean the date upon which this Adnemnt is signed by Landlord or
Tenant and Assignee, whichever is later.

18. The submission of this Amendment to TenantAsgignee for examination or consideration doescoastitute an offer to amend the
Lease, and this Amendment shall become effectile upon the execution and delivery thereof by Landlland Tenant and Assignee.

19. Tenant and Assignee shall each cause its @igpsecretary or general partner, as applicabkxdoute the certificate attached hereto as
Exhibit A and Exhibit A-1, respectively. Each ofdant and Assignee is authorized by all requirepa@te or partnership action to enter into
this Amendment and the individual(s) signing thiméndment on behalf of Tenant and Assignee are aattiorized to bind Tenant and
Assignee to its terms.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be executed and sealed as @rttendment Date.
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Date:

Title:

LANDLORD:

NEW YORK LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, a
New York mutual insurance company

By:

Name:

Title:

[Corporate Seal]
TENANT:

Date: DAISYTEK, IN
By:
Name:
Title:___
Attest:

Name:
Title

ASSIGNEE:

PRIORITY FUL
Delaware cor

By:
Name:

C., a Delaware corporation

[CORPORATE SEAL]

FILLMENT SERVICES, INC., a
poration




EXHIBIT A

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHORITY
CORPORATION

The undersigned, Secretary of each of DAISYTEK, INCDelaware corporation ("Tenant") and PRIORITYLFILLMENT SERVICES,
INC., a Delaware corporation ("Assignee"), herebitifies as follows to NEW YORK LIFE INSURANCE COMMNY, a New York mutual
insurance company ("Landlord"), in connection wviltat FIRST AMENDMENT TO INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT0 Tenant's lease
of premises in Building "I", at Southpark, Memph&helby County, Tennessee (the "Premises"):

1. Tenant and Assignee are each duly organizeilywaixisting and in good standing under the lafvthe State of Delaware, and duly
qualified to do business in the State of Tennessee.

2. That the following named persons, acting indiailtly, are each authorized and empowered to neégaiad execute, on behalf of each of
Tenant and Assignee, the amendment to, and assigrame assumption of, Tenant's lease of the Premaise that the signature opposite the
name of each individual is an authentic signature:

(name) (title) (signature)
(name) (title) (signature)
(name) (title) (signature)

3. That the foregoing authority was conferred uffenperson(s) named above by the Board of Directioesich of Tenant and Assignee
pursuant to proper corporate action taken pridghéodate hereof, which authority remains in futiceand effect.

Secretary

[CORPORATE SEAL]



EXHIBIT 10.43
SECOND AMENDMENT TO INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO INDUSTRIAL LEASE AGREEMENTthis "Amendment")

is made as of the Amendment Date (as hereinaffared by and among ProLogis North Carolina Limifeartnership, a Delaware limited
partnership (hereinafter referred to as "Landloedi)l Priority Fullfillment Services, Inc., a Delawaorporation (hereinafter referred to as
"Tenant").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, Landlord (or its predecessor-in-interasil Tenant (or its predecessor-in-interest) entetedhat certain Industrial Lease
Agreement dated March 31, 1999 relating to thededapproximately 120,000 square feet of spackinvihe Building (Building "1" of
Southpark), located in Memphis, Shelby County, E=see (the "Original Demised Premises"); and asfimddy that First Amendment To
Industrial Lease dated December 30, 1999 whereih &ase was assigned to the Tenant and the Origeralsed Premises was expanded to
include the remaining 100,100 square feet of spatten the Building (the "Expansion Space"; thed@mal Demised Premises and the
Expansion Space being referred to hereinafter cioliely as the "Demised Premises") totaling 220,4Q0are feet and subject to the terms
conditions set forth herein. The Lease dated M&dchHL999 and the First Amendment To Industrial eeagreement dated December 30,
1999 shall hereinafter collectively be referredsathe "Lease".

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to extend teriTof the Lease and to modify certain other teaint conditions as set forth below.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of Ten &la100 Dollars ($10.00), the mutual covenants aorid herein and other good ¢
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficieoicyhich are hereby acknowledged, the partiestbhexgree as follows:

1. All capitalized terms used in this Amendmentlishave the meanings ascribed thereto in the Laatess otherwise set forth herein.

2. The Term of the Lease shall be extended foriaghef five (5 ) years beginning January 1, 200 ('Extension Commencement Date")
such that the expiration date of the Lease Terri sed@December 31, 2008 ("Expiration Date") unlessninated earlier in accordance with
the Lease.



3. Beginning upon the Extension Commencement Detdase Rent shall be paid pursuant to the Leasegh the Expiration Date.
Notwithstanding anything in Section 1(d) of the §edo the contrary, from and after the Extensiom@encement Date, the followi
Annual Base Rent shall be due with respect to thmiBed Premises, as pursuant to the terms hereof:

Extension Commencement Date - December 31, 2008 $260.00

4. Notwithstanding anything in Section (e) of theake to the contrary, from and after the ExtenSiommencement Date, the following
Monthly Base Rent

Installments shall be due with respect to the DethRremises, as pursuant to the terms hereof:
Extension Commencement Date - December 31, 2008%688.33

5. Termination Option: Provided no Event of Defaliall then exist and no condition shall then ewisich with the passage of time or giving
of notice, or both, would constitute an Event ofdddt, Tenant shall have the right at any time obe&fore October 1, 2006 to send Landlord
irrevocable written notice (the "Termination Notigcthat Tenant has elected to terminate this Ledfsetive on April 30, 2007. If Tenant
elects to terminate this Lease pursuant to the idiabely preceding sentence, the effectivenessdf sermination shall be conditioned upon
Tenant paying to Landlord $190,000.00 contemporasigavith Tenant's delivery of the Termination Netito Landlord. Such amount is
consideration for Tenant's option to terminate simall not be applied to rent or any other obligatid Tenant. Landlord and Tenant shall be
relieved of all obligations accruing under this teafter the effective date of such terminationrtmitany obligations accruing under this
Lease prior to the effective date of such termorati

6. Renewal Options: See attached Addendum 1 catibfwo Renewal Options at Market".

7. Landlord shall furnish or perform, at its sotesstand expense, those certain improvements tbéh@ised Premises using building standard
materials as follows:

1. Provide a discretionary allowance in the amafii50,000 to be applied toward miscellaneous im@neents within the Demised Premises
with funds allocated on or before December 31, 20fhorted by an invoice requesting payment.

2. Provide and install seven (7) 35,000 Ib. medtsmit style levelers at doors # 1, 2, 3, 5, & 91. Repair damage to all dock
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doors, seals, and shelters including roll-up dadu@anel. Provide and install seven (7) new shelérdock doors receiving new pit leveler.
3. Relocate existing furnace control from aisle BQ11 to back building wall.
4. Inspect and/or service all existing roof mourgghaust fans.

5. Relocate up to 65 existing warehouse light figsuto the center of the aisle as designated ik-thabugh. All existing light fixtures to be
made operational.

6. Install a 12'x6' awning at employee entrance.

7. Construct a new 10'x10' office at employee entaNew office to have VCT flooring, acoustic oejl, and self-contained heatpump/ac
unit/ or provide self-contained modular unit.

8. Tape, float, and paint around all existing warete mandoors along south elevation.

9. Re-carpet existing carpeted areas within thstiexj east office area including replacing VCT redkroom; replace vent in east office
restroom; replace any damaged ceiling tile andncééavents in east and west office areas; instalhter for sinks in east office restrooms;
paint all interior office walls and door frameseatst and west office areas.

10. Install one (1) view window at existing clerkfice.

11. Provide bollard and chain at west drivewayirtotlaccess. Lock and key to be controlled by Teran in accordance with all legal
requirements.

12. Repair pitting and depressions around exidiinitgling clean outs/inspection covers at south dadkandlord's reasonable discretion.
13. Repair cracks in concrete drive-in ramp at lamts reasonable discretion.

8. Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph &xifiibit C of the Lease, captioned "Forklift ConteedEnclosure”, in the event Landlord
Landlord's discretion, elects to demolish and reenitne Connector, Tenant shall not be obligate@itolsurse Landlord for the cost of such
demolition.



9. Effective as of the Amendment Date, Section Ldhthe Lease shall be deleted in its entirety #nedfollowing shall be inserted in lieu
thereof:

(m)  Address for notice:

Landlord: ProLogis North Carolina Limi ted Partnership
14100 East 35th Place
Aurora, CO 80011

Tenant: Priority Fullfillment Servic es, Inc. (PFS web)
Attn: Scott Talley
4638 East Shelby Drive
Memphis, TN 38017

10. Effective as of the Amendment Date, Section)Iof the Lease shall be deleted in its entirety te following shall be inserted in lieu
thereof:

(n) Address for rental payments: ProLogis P.O. B88267 Atlanta, GA 30384-8267

11. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Leasad¢Beaph 13 of the First Amendment To IndustrialdeeAgreement), Tenant shall not be
responsible to restore the demising wall describesdid paragraph.

12. Except for Commercial Tennessee, Inc., whosentigsion shall be paid by Landlord in accordand wiseparate written agreement,
Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrattg tather than neither party has engaged or had@wersations or negotiations with :
broker, finder or other third party concerning thatters set forth in this Amendment who would bétlexd to any commission or fee base on
the execution of this Amendment. Landlord and Téeach hereby indemnifies the other against and &oy claims for any brokerage
commissions and all costs, expenses and liabilitieennection therewith, including, without lintitan, reasonable attorneys' fees and
expenses, for any breach of the foregoing.

13. With the exception of those terms and conditigpecifically modified and amended herein, theseess modified shall remain in full fol
and effect in accordance with all its terms andditions. In the event of any conflict between therts and provisions of this Second
Amendment To Industrial Lease and the terms andigioms of the Lease as modified, the terms andigians of this Second Amendment
To Industrial Lease shall supersede and control.

14. This Amendment shall be governed by and coedtii accordance with the laws of the State of Eesee.
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15. Any obligation or liability whatsoever of Progis, a Maryland real estate investment trust, wiiely arise at any time under the Lease or
this Second Amendment To Industrial Lease or arigation or liability which may be incurred by itupsuant to any other instrument,
transaction or undertaking contemplated herebyl| sbibe personally binding upon, nor shall regortthe enforcement thereof be had to the
property of, its trustees, directors, sharehold#fficers, employees, or agents regardless of venethich obligation or liability is in the nature
of contract, tort or otherwise.

16. For purposes of this Amendment, the term "Amasat Date" shall mean the date upon which this Adneent is signed by Landlord or
Tenant, whichever is later.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be executed and sealed as @rttendment Date.
LANDLORD:

Date:

ProLogis North Carolina Limited Partnership, a Dedae limited partnership By: ProLogis North Caralifl) Incorporated, a Maryland
corporation, its General Partner

By: NamarleShE. Sullivan Title: Senior Vice President

TENANT,;

Date:

Priority Fullfillment Services, Inc., a Delawarerporation

By: Name: Mark C. Layide:




EXHIBIT 10.44
MODIFICATION, RATIFICATION AND EXTENSION OF LEASE

THIS MODIFICATION, RATIFICATION AND EXTENSION OF LEASE ("MRE") is made as of the ___ day of
2003, by and between SHELBY DRIVE CORPORATION, arféla corporation (“Landlord") and PRIORITY FULFIMENT SERVICES
INC., a Delaware corporation ("Tenant").

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant did enter into thataie Industrial Lease Agreement ("ILA") dated Asgj31, 1999 regarding the leasing
by Landlord to Tenant of approximately 442,184 squaet comprising all of the building space lodat¢ 4650 Shelby Drive, Memphis,
Tennessee, also known as Southpark Building N"@nemises"); and

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant do desire to modiyify and extend the ILA as set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the undersigned do desire to mod#ijfy and extend the ILA as set forth belc

1. The commencement date of this MRE shall be Igriy®004 (the "Commencement Date"). Until the @mncement Date, the terms of
the ILA shall remain in full force and effect. Aftthe Commencement Date, the terms of the ILA dtmlnodified and extended as set forth
herein.

2. The new lease term shall be five (5) years (8e€Berm™) beginning on January 1, 2004 and endieceBiber 31, 2008.

3. The annual base rent beginning the Commencebwrtshall be $2.60 per square feet for an anrasd bent for the premises of One
Million One Hundred Forty-Nine Thousand Six Hundf&elventy-Eight and no/100ths Dollars ($1,149,678 08yable in monthly base rent
installments of Ninety-Five Thousand Eight Hund8d and 50/100ths Dollars ($95,806.50), payabladwance and due on the first day of
each month during the Lease Term beginning the Cameement Date.

4. Tenant shall have a one-time option to caneelLtase effective April 30, 2007 so long as Teastprovided Landlord written notice on
or before November 1, 2006 (the "Cancellation N&icTenant shall pay to Landlord simultaneouslihvtiie Cancellation Notice a
cancellation fee of Three Hundred Eighty Thousamti reo/100ths Dollars ($380,000.00), which shallnetéase Tenant from the obligatior
pay all sums due under the ILA until April 30, 2007

5. Landlord shall provide to Tenant an allowancempto Forty-Three Thousand Two Hundred Sifight and no/100ths Dollars ($43,268.
for the replacement of condenser coils in eighbf&he existing HVAC units.
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6. Landlord shall have the roof, which is currenthyder warranty, inspected by the manufacturerrapdir any existing leaks.

7. Landlord shall provide an allowance to Tenanifo Thirteen Thousand Eight Hundred Ninety aof@0ths Dollars ($13,890.00) for t
repair of existing cracks in the parking lot. Laovdl shall approve in advance the contractor anavitré to be performed.

8. Landlord agrees to paint the upper section ®ftbnt fascia panel to eliminate the discoloratiwound the PFS sign and logo.

9. Landlord shall provide an allowance of up to&0D0.00 for any additional improvements requirgd’bnant (the "Discretionary Tenant
Improvement Allowance"). Landlord shall require @ahto utilize the Discretionary Tenant Improvemahbwance on or before March 31,
2004. Up to 50% of any remaining Discretionary Trerienprovement Allowance after March 31, 2004 mayuled to offset rent.

10. Tenant shall have the right to extend the Ldase for two
(2) three-year options under the following termd aanditions:

a. Tenant shall give Landlord at least six (6) rhehivritten notice prior to the end of the thenrent lease term of Tenant's decision to
exercise such option to renew (the "Option Notice")

b. Tenant shall not be in default under the Leaslkeeatime of such Option Notice.

c. The first renewal option ("First Renewal Optipehall have a base rental rate equal to 95% atidne current market rate, but in no case
shall it be less than the rental rate during thitéain_ease Term.

d. The second renewal option ("Second Renewal @ftghall have a base rental rate equal to the ¢therent market rate, but in no case less
than the base rental rate during the First Ren&pabn.

11. Notices to Landlord shall be delivered to thiéofving address:
Shelby Drive Corporation Attention: Mr. Ed Daleyp¢/&B Realty Advisors, Inc. 8750 N. Central Expresy, Suite 800 Dallas, Texas 752

With copy to:

Weston Management Company
P.O. Box 17847
Memphis, Tennessee 38187-0847
Attn: Lease Administrator

12. Section 40 of the ILA is deleted in its entjret
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13. Section 14 of Exhibit C to the ILA is herebyemded by adding the following: "Upon terminationeapiration of this Lease, Tenant has
no obligation to remove the Starter fixtures or ioy@ments."

14. All other terms, conditions and provisionsité 1LA shall remain in full force and effect unleggecifically modified herein.
15. This Agreement shall be binding upon and itarine benefit of the parties hereto, their suamessand assigns.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exetthis Agreement (or have caused this Agreemebé texecuted by their respective
officers, duly authorized to do so, on the day gealr first above written.

LANDLORD:

SHELBY DRIVE CORPORATION,
a Florida corporation

By:

Title:

TENANT:
PRIORITY FULFILLMENT SERVICES, INC.,
a Delaware corporation

By:

Mark C. Layton

Title:
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ACKNOWLEDGMENTS FOR LANDLORD AND TENANT

STATE OF )
) ss.

COUNTY OF )
BEFORE ME, the undersigned Notary Public in anctfier State and County aforesaid, personally apdeare with
whom | am personally acquainted (or proved to méherbasis of satisfactory evidence) who, upon,aatknowledged himself to be
the of Priority Fulfillment Servicks;., the within named bargainor, a Delaware caion, and that he as
such executed the foregoing instmtifor the purposes therein contained, by sigtiieghame of the corporation by
himself as such
WITNESS my hand and Official Seal at office this day of , 2003.

Notary Public

My Commission Expires:

STATE OF TEXAS )
) ss.
COUNTY OF DALLAS )

BEFORE ME, a Notary Public in and for said Coumtgtrsonally appeared Edward J. Daley, known to nieetthe person who, as Vice
President, of Shelby Drive Corporation the corgoratvhich executed the foregoing instrument ircapacity as Landlord, signed the same,
and acknowledged to me that he did so sign satdum&nt in the name and upon behalf of said cotforas officer of said corporation, that

the same is his free act and deed as such officer
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and he was duly authorized thereunto by its boadirectors, and that the seal affixed to saidrursient is the corporate seal of said
corporation.

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, | have hereunto subscribed mayne, and affixed by official seal, this day of
, 200

Notary Public

My Commission Expires:
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EXHIBIT 23.1
INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ CONSENT

The Board of Directors
PFSweb, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in théstegfion statements (Nos. 333-75764, 333-75773;48820, 333-42186 and 333-46096)
on Form S-8 and (No. 333-110853) on Form S-3 ofviRHS Inc. of our report dated February 13, 2004epkfor note 3 as to which the date
is March 29, 2004, with respect to the consolidditaidnce sheets of PFSweb, Inc. and subsidiarieb@scember 31, 2003 and 2002, and
related consolidated statements of operationsebbdtters’ equity and comprehensive income, and ftasis for the years ended

December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the nine-monthgerided December 31, 2001 and the accompanyingciaiestatement schedules as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the years dbdeember 31, 2003 and 2002 and the nine-monthgerided December 31, 2001,
which report appears in the December 31, 2003, ameport on Form 10-K of PFSweb, Inc.

KPMG LLP

Dallas, Texas
March 29, 2004






EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Mark Layton, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Fo@¥Klof PFSweb, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material facinoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statégsjend other financial information included iistheport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opera&nd cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfte periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdahare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures t@signed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tégistrant, including its consolidated subsidisiris made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is being prepare

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldg&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’'s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registr¢ s internal control over financial reportir

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@iuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitatcmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contradiofinancial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regist’s ability to record, process, summarize, and refpmhcial information; an

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significdanin the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting

Date: March 30, 2004

By: /sl Mark C. Laytor

Chief Executive Office






EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

I, Tom Madden, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Fo@¥Klof PFSweb, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material facinoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the periods
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statégsjend other financial information included iistheport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opera&nd cash flows of the registrant as of, andtfte periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdahare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}5¢r the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresiused such disclosure controls and procedures t@signed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to tégistrant, including its consolidated subsidisiris made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihigh this report is being prepare

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sldg&ire controls and procedures and presentedsimetport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation;

c¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the regmtsanternal control over financial reporting thatcurred during the registrant’'s most

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth disguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registr¢ s internal control over financial reportir

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officerdahhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@iuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitatcmmmittee of registrant’s board of directors persons performing the equivalent function):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cortvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize, and refasancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: March 30, 2004

By: /s/ Thomas J. Madde

Chief Financial Officel






EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 132&% ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the SarbandeyOAct of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Setti850, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United
States Code), each of the undersigned officers=8rb, Inc. (the “Company”), does hereby certifytth

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for thelyended December 31, 2003 (the “Form 10-K”) of@oenpany fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applésalf the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 anditf@mation contained in the Form 10-K

fairly presents, in all material respects, thefiitial condition and results of operations of thempany as of, and for, the periods presented in
the Form 10-K.

March 30, 200 /sl Mark C. Laytor

Mark C. Layton
Chief Executive Office

March 30, 200: /sl Thomas J. Madde

Thomas J. Madden
Chief Financial Officel

The foregoing certification is being furnished asexhibit to the Form 10-K pursuant to Item 601882)(of Regulation 3 and Section 906 «
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a)bhdf Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, Udifstates Code) and, accordingly, is not
being filed as part of the Form 10-K for purposéSection 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 13®4whether made before or after the
date hereof, regardless of any general incorparddioguage in such filing.

A signed original of this written statement reqdit®y Section 906 has been provided to PFSwebahtwill be retained by PFSweb, Inc.
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Cosioni®r its staff upon request.



